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 Part I

 Item 1.    Business.

 Overview

        Carlisle Companies Incorporated ("Carlisle", the "Company", "we", "us" or "our") was incorporated in 1986 in Delaware as a holding
company for Carlisle Corporation, whose operations began in 1917, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Carlisle is a diversified manufacturing
company consisting of five segments which manufacture and distribute a broad range of products. Additional information is contained in Items 7
and 8.

        The Company's executive offices are located at 11605 North Community House Road, Suite 600, Charlotte, North Carolina. The
Company's main telephone number is (704) 501-1100. The Company's Internet website address is www.carlisle.com. Through this Internet
website (found in the "Investor Relations" link), the Company makes available, free of charge, its Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after these
reports are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Management Philosophy/Business Strategy

        The Company strives to be the market leader of highly-engineered products in the various niche markets it serves. The Company is
dedicated to achieving low-cost positions and providing service excellence based on, among other things, superior quality, on-time delivery, and
short cycle times.

        The presidents of the various operating companies are given considerable autonomy and have a significant level of independent
responsibility for their businesses and their performance. The Company believes that this structure encourages entrepreneurial action and
enhances responsive decision making thereby enabling each operation to better serve its customers and react quickly to its customers' needs.

        The Company's executive management role is to (i) provide general management oversight and counsel, (ii) manage the Company's
portfolio of businesses including identifying acquisition candidates and assisting in acquiring candidates identified by the operating companies,
as well as identifying businesses for divestiture in an effort to optimize the portfolio, (iii) allocate and manage capital, (iv) evaluate and motivate
operating management personnel, and (v) provide selected other services.

        The Company utilizes its Carlisle Operating System ("COS"), a manufacturing structure and strategy deployment system based on lean
enterprise and six sigma principles, to drive operational improvements. COS is a continuous improvement process that defines the way the
Company does business. Waste is eliminated and efficiencies improved enterprise wide, allowing the Company to increase overall profitability.
Improvements are not limited to production areas, as COS is also driving improvements in new product innovation, engineering, supply chain
management, warranty, and product rationalization. COS has created a culture of continuous improvement across all aspects of the Company's
business operations.

        The Company has a long-standing acquisition strategy. Traditionally, the Company has focused on acquiring new businesses that can be
added to existing operations, or "bolt-ons." In addition, the Company considers acquiring new businesses that can operate independently from
other Carlisle companies. Factors considered by the Company in making an acquisition include consolidation opportunities, technology,
customer dispersion, operating capabilities, and growth potential. The Company has also pursued the sale of operating divisions when it is
determined they no longer fit within the Company's long-term goals or strategy.

        For more details regarding the acquisition and divestiture of the Company's businesses during the past three years, see "Part II�Item 7.
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
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and Results of Operations�Acquisitions" and Notes 3 and 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.

        Information on the Company's revenues, earnings, and identifiable assets for continuing operations by industry segment for the last three
fiscal years is as follows:

Financial Information about Industry Segments

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Net Sales to Unaffiliated Customers
Carlisle Construction Materials $ 2,002.6 $ 1,935.4 $ 1,776.5
Carlisle Interconnect Technologies 784.6 669.1 577.7
Carlisle Fluid Technologies 203.2 � �
Carlisle Brake & Friction 310.2 355.3 350.0
Carlisle FoodService Products 242.6 244.2 238.8
        
Total $ 3,543.2 $ 3,204.0 $ 2,943.0
        
     
        
Earnings Before Interest and Income Taxes
Carlisle Construction Materials $ 351.1 $ 268.8 $ 264.0
Carlisle Interconnect Technologies 141.6 132.2 89.4
Carlisle Fluid Technologies 20.8 � �
Carlisle Brake & Friction 17.3 26.8 33.5
Carlisle FoodService Products 27.3 29.6 27.0
Corporate(1) (56.2) (49.1) (47.1)
        
Total $ 501.9 $ 408.3 $ 366.8
        
     
        
Identifiable Assets
Carlisle Construction Materials $ 899.2 $ 915.1 $ 886.9
Carlisle Interconnect Technologies 1,264.0 1,296.3 1,017.5
Carlisle Fluid Technologies 659.5 � �
Carlisle Brake & Friction 553.0 591.3 603.7
Carlisle FoodService Products 199.0 198.4 193.2
Corporate(2) 379.4 757.6 791.4
       
Total $ 3,954.1 $ 3,758.7 $ 3,492.7
        
     
        

(1)
Includes general corporate expenses

(2)
Consists primarily of cash and cash equivalents and other invested assets, and includes assets of discontinued operations not classified
as held for sale

Description of Businesses by Segment

Carlisle Construction Materials ("CCM" or the "Construction Materials segment")

        The Construction Materials segment manufactures and sells rubber ("EPDM"), thermoplastic polyolefin ("TPO"), and polyvinyl chloride
membrane ("PVC") roofing systems. In addition, CCM markets and sells accessories purchased from third party suppliers. CCM also
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manufactures and distributes energy-efficient rigid foam insulation panels for substantially all roofing applications. Roofing materials and
insulation are sold together in warranted systems or separately in non-warranted systems to the new construction, re-roofing and maintenance,
general construction, and industrial markets. Through its coatings and waterproofing operation, this segment manufactures and sells liquid and
spray-applied waterproofing membranes, vapor and air barriers, and HVAC duct sealants and
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hardware for the commercial and residential construction markets. The majority of CCM's products are sold through a network of authorized
sales representatives and distributors.

        CCM operates manufacturing facilities located throughout the United States, its primary market, and in Germany, the Netherlands, and
Romania. Insulation facilities are located in Montgomery, New York, Franklin Park, Illinois, Lake City, Florida, Terrell, Texas, Smithfield,
Pennsylvania, Tooele, Utah, and Puyallup, Washington. EPDM manufacturing operations are located in Carlisle, Pennsylvania, Greenville,
Illinois, Kampen, Netherlands, and in Hamburg and Waltershausen, Germany. TPO facilities are located in Senatobia, Mississippi, Tooele, Utah,
and Carlisle, Pennsylvania. Coatings and waterproofing manufacturing operations include four production facilities in North America. Block
molded expanded polystyrene, or EPS, operations include nine production and fabrication facilities across the United States. CCM completed
construction of a PVC manufacturing plant in Greenville, Illinois, in 2013 and began production in the first quarter of 2014.

        Raw materials for this segment include EPDM polymer, TPO polymer, carbon black, processing oils, solvents, asphalt, methylene
diphenyldiisocyanate, polyol, polyester fabric, black facer paper, oriented strand board, clay, and various packaging materials. Critical raw
materials generally have at least two vendor sources to better assure adequate supply. For raw materials that are single sourced, the vendor
typically has multiple processing facilities.

        Sales and earnings for CCM tend to be somewhat higher in the second and third quarters due to increased construction activity during those
periods.

        The working capital practices for this segment include:

(i)
Standard accounts receivable payment terms of 45 days to 90 days.

(ii)
Standard accounts payable payment terms of 30 days to 60 days.

(iii)
Inventories are maintained in sufficient quantities to meet forecasted demand.

        CCM serves a large and diverse customer base; however, in 2015 two distributor customers represented approximately 34% of this
segment's net sales, one of which, Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc., represented 10% of the Company's consolidated net sales. The loss of either of
these customers could have a material adverse effect on this segment's and the Company's results of operations and operating cash flows in the
affected reporting period, however, we consider it unlikely that such an event would have a material adverse effect on our financial position.

        This segment faces competition from numerous competitors that produce roofing, insulation, and waterproofing products for commercial
and residential applications. The level of competition within this market varies by product line. As one of four major manufacturers in the niche
single-ply industry, CCM competes through pricing, innovative products, long-term warranties, and customer service. CCM offers
separately-priced extended warranty contracts on its installed roofing systems, ranging from five years to thirty years and, subject to certain
exclusions, covering leaks in the roofing system attributable to a problem with the particular product or the installation of the product. In order to
qualify for the warranty, the building owner must have the roofing system installed by an independent authorized roofing contractor trained by
CCM to install its roofing systems.

Carlisle Interconnect Technologies ("CIT" or the "Interconnect Technologies segment")

        The Interconnect Technologies segment designs and manufactures high-performance wire, cable, connectors, contacts, and cable
assemblies for the transfer of power and data primarily for the aerospace, medical, defense electronics, test and measurement equipment, and
select industrial markets. This segment operates manufacturing facilities in the United States, Switzerland, China, Mexico, and the United
Kingdom, with the United States, Europe, and China being the primary target markets for sales. Sales are made by direct sales personnel and
independent sales representatives.
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        Raw materials for this segment include gold, copper conductors that are plated with tin, nickel, or silver, polyimide tapes,
polytetrafluoroethylene ("PTFE") tapes, PTFE fine powder resin, thermoplastic resins, stainless steel, beryllium copper rod, machined metals,
plastic parts, and various marking and identification materials. Key raw materials are typically sourced worldwide and have at least two vendor
sources to better assure adequate supply.

        Sales and earnings of the Interconnect Technologies segment are generally not seasonal in nature.

        The working capital practices for this segment include:

(i)
Standard accounts receivable payment terms of 30 days to 60 days.

(ii)
Standard accounts payable payment terms of 30 days to 60 days.

(iii)
Inventories are maintained in sufficient quantities to meet forecasted demand. The majority of CIT's sales are from
made-to-order products, resulting in inventories purchased on demand.

        CIT serves a large and diverse customer base; however, in 2015 one customer represented 22% of this segment's net sales, but did not
represent 10% of the Company's consolidated net sales. The loss of this customer could have a material adverse effect on this segment's net sales
and cash flows.

        The Interconnect Technologies segment faces competition from numerous competitors within each of the markets that it serves. While
product specifications, certifications, and life cycles vary by market, the Interconnect Technologies segment primarily positions itself to gain
design specification for customer platforms or products with long life cycles and high barriers to entry such as in the aerospace and medical
markets which generally have high standards for product certification as deemed by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and Food and
Drug Administration (FDA), respectively. The Interconnect Technologies segment competes primarily on the basis of its product performance
and its ability to meet its customers' highly specific design, engineering, and delivery needs on a timely basis. Relative to many of its
competitors that are large multi-national corporations, the Interconnect Technologies segment retains the ability to remain agile and respond
quickly to customer needs and market opportunities. Pricing is a secondary buying criterion for most customers.

Carlisle Fluid Technologies ("CFT" or the "Fluid Technologies segment")

        On April 1, 2015, the Company acquired 100% of the Finishing Brands business from Graco Inc. ("Graco"). The Company has reported the
results of the acquired business as a new reporting segment named Carlisle Fluid Technologies. The Fluid Technologies segment designs,
manufactures, and sells highly-engineered liquid finishing equipment and system components primarily in the automotive, automotive
refinishing, aerospace, agriculture, construction, marine, and rail industries. The business operates manufacturing and assembly facilities in the
United States, Mexico, Brazil, the United Kingdom, Germany, China, and Japan, with nearly 60% of its sales outside the United States. The
Fluid Technologies segment manufactures and sells products which are sold under the brand names of Binks®, DeVilbiss®, Ransburg®, and
BGK®. The majority of sales into these industries are made through a worldwide network of distributors, national accounts, integrators, and
some direct to end-user sales. These business relationships are managed primarily through direct sales personnel worldwide.

        Key raw materials for this segment include carbon and various grades of stainless steel, brass, aluminum, copper, machined metals, carbide,
machined plastic parts, and polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE). Key raw materials are typically sourced worldwide and have at least two vendor
sources to better assure adequate supply.

        Sales and earnings of the Fluid Technologies segment are generally not seasonal in nature.
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        The working capital practices for this segment include:

(i)
Standard accounts receivable payment terms of 30 days to 90 days.

(ii)
Standard accounts payable payment terms of 30 days to 60 days.

(iii)
Inventories are maintained in sufficient quantities to meet forecasted demand.

        CFT serves a large and diverse customer base. The loss of any single customer would not have a material adverse effect on this segment's
net sales and cash flows.

        The Fluid Technologies segment competes against both regional and international manufacturers. Major competitive factors include
innovative designs, the ability to provide customers with lower cost of ownership than its competitors, dependable performance, and high quality
at a competitive price. Fluid Technologies' ability to spray, mix, or deliver a wide range of coatings, applied uniformly in exact increments, is
critical to the overall appearance and functionality of the finished product. The segment's installed base of global customers is supported by a
worldwide distribution network with the ability to deliver critical spare parts and other services. Brands which are well recognized and respected
internationally, combined with a diverse base of customers, applications, and industries served, positions the Fluid Technologies segment to
continue designing patented, innovative equipment and solutions for customers across the globe.

Carlisle Brake & Friction ("CBF" or the "Brake & Friction segment")

        The Brake & Friction segment consists of off-highway braking systems and friction products for off-highway, on-highway, aircraft, and
other industrial applications. CBF also includes the performance racing group which markets and sells high-performance motorsport braking
products. The Brake & Friction segment manufactures and sells products which are sold under several brand names, such as Hawk®,
Wellman®, and Velvetouch®. CBF's products are sold by direct sales personnel to Original Equipment Manufacturers ("OEMs"), mass
merchandisers, and various wholesale and industrial distributors around the world, including North America, Europe, Asia, South America, and
Africa. Key markets served include construction, agriculture, mining, aircraft, heavy truck, and performance racing. Manufacturing facilities are
located in the United States, the United Kingdom, Italy, China, Japan, and India, where we have established a light manufacturing presence.

        The brake manufacturing operations require the use of various metal products such as castings, pistons, springs, and bearings. With respect
to friction products, the raw materials used are fiberglass, phenolic resin, metallic chips, copper and iron powders, steel, custom-fabricated
cellulose sheet, and various other organic materials. Raw materials are sourced worldwide to better assure adequate supply, and critical raw
materials generally have at least two vendor sources.

        Earnings tend to be higher in the first half of the year due to product mix.

        The working capital practices for this segment include:

(i)
Standard accounts receivable payment terms of 30 days to 60 days.

(ii)
Standard accounts payable payment terms of 30 days to 90 days.

(iii)
Inventories are maintained in sufficient quantities to meet forecasted demand.

        CBF serves a large and diverse customer base; however, in 2015 one customer represented approximately 18% of this segment's net sales,
but did not represent 10% of the Company's consolidated net sales. The loss of this customer could have a material adverse effect on this
segment's net sales and cash flows.

        This segment competes globally against regional and international manufacturers. Few competitors participate in all served markets. A
majority participate in only a few of CBF's served markets on a
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regional or global basis. Markets served are competitive and the major competitive factors include product performance, quality, product
availability, and price. The relative importance of these competitive factors varies by market segment and channel.

Carlisle FoodService Products ("CFSP" or the "FoodService Products segment")

        The FoodService Products segment is a leading manufacturer, distributor, and seller of commercial foodservice and janitorial products with
three main focus markets. CFSP is a leading provider of (i) tabletop dining supplies, table coverings, and display serving ware, (ii) food
preparation, storage & handling and transport supplies and tools, and (iii) cleaning & sanitation tools and waste handling to restaurants, hotels,
hospitals, nursing homes, business & industry work sites, education, and government facilities. CFSP's Dinex brand business is a leading
provider of healthcare meal delivery systems for in-room and mobile dining for acute care hospital patients and senior assisted living residents.
CFSP's Sanitary Maintenance Products group is the leading provider of Sparta brand cleaning brushes, floor care supplies, and waste handling
for janitorial professionals managing commercial building, industrial, and institutional facilities cleaning and maintenance.

        CFSP operates manufacturing facilities in the United States and Mexico. Sales are primarily in North America. CFSP's product line is
distributed from three primary distribution centers located in Charlotte, North Carolina, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, and Batavia, Illinois, to
wholesalers, distributors, and dealers. These distributor and dealer customers, in turn, sell to restaurant, hotel, and onsite foodservice operators
and sanitary maintenance professionals. Distributors and dealer business relationships are managed through both direct sales personnel and
subcontracted manufacturer representatives.

        Raw materials used by the FoodService Products segment include polymer resins, stainless steel, and aluminum. Key raw materials are
sourced nationally from recognized suppliers of these materials.

        Sales in the FoodService Products segment tend to be marginally stronger in the second and third quarters.

        The working capital practices for this segment include:

(i)
Standard accounts receivable payment terms of 30 days to 60 days.

(ii)
Standard accounts payable payment terms of 30 days to 90 days.

(iii)
Inventories are maintained in sufficient quantities to meet forecasted demand.

        The FoodService Products segment serves a large and diverse customer base; however, in 2015 three distributor customers together
represented 28% of this segment's net sales, none of which represented 10% of the Company's consolidated net sales. The loss of one of these
customers could have a material adverse effect on this segment's net sales and cash flows.

        The FoodService Products segment is engaged in markets that are generally highly competitive, and competes equally on price, service, and
product performance.

Principal Products

        The Company's products are discussed above and in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.

Intellectual Property

        The Company owns or holds the right to use a variety of patents, trademarks, licenses, inventions, trade secrets, and other intellectual
property rights. The Company has adopted a variety of measures
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and programs to ensure the continued validity and enforceability of its various intellectual property rights.

Backlog

        Backlog of orders generally is not a significant factor in most of the Company's businesses, as most of the Company's products have
relatively short order-to-delivery periods. Backlog of orders was $389.6 million at December 31, 2015 and $376.3 million at December 31,
2014; however, not all of these orders are firm in nature.

Government Contracts

        At December 31, 2015, the Company had no material contracts that were subject to renegotiation of profits or termination at the election of
the U.S. government.

Research and Development

        Research and development activities include the development of new product lines, the modification of existing product lines to comply
with regulatory changes, and the research of cost efficiencies through raw material substitution and process improvements. The Company's
research and development expenses were $42.8 million in 2015 compared to $33.8 million in 2014 and $29.3 million in 2013.

Environmental Matters

        See "Part II�Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�Environmental" and Note 11 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for information regarding environmental matters.

Employees

        The Company had approximately 12,000 employees, none of whom were covered by a collective bargaining agreement, at December 31,
2015. The Company believes the state of its relationship with its employees is generally good.

International

        For foreign net sales and an allocation of the Company's assets, see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.

NYSE Affirmation

        On May 13, 2015, David A. Roberts, the Company's Chief Executive Officer, submitted to the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE")
the Annual CEO Certification and certified therein that he was not aware of any violation by the Company of the NYSE's Corporate Governance
listing standards.
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 Item 1A.    Risk Factors.

        The Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows can be affected by a number of factors including but not
limited to those set forth below, those set forth in our "Forward Looking Statements" disclosure in Item 7, and those set forth elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, any one of which could cause the Company's actual results to vary materially from recent results or from
anticipated future results.

         Several of the market segments that the Company serves are cyclical and sensitive to domestic and global economic conditions.

        Several of the market segments in which the Company sells its products are, to varying degrees, cyclical, and may experience periodic
downturns in demand. For example, the Brake & Friction segment is susceptible to downturns in the construction, agriculture, and mining
industries, the Interconnect Technologies segment is susceptible to downturns in the commercial airline industry, and the Construction Materials
segment is susceptible to downturns in the commercial construction industry. In addition, both the Interconnect Technologies segment and the
Brake & Friction segment may be negatively impacted by reductions in military spending.

        Current uncertainty regarding global economic conditions may have an adverse effect on the businesses, results of operations, and financial
condition of the Company and its customers, distributors, and suppliers. Among the economic factors which may affect performance are:
manufacturing activity, commercial and residential construction, difficulties entering new markets, and general economic conditions such as
inflation, deflation, interest rates, and credit availability. These effects may, among other things, negatively impact the level of purchases, capital
expenditures, and creditworthiness of the Company's customers, distributors, and suppliers, and therefore, the Company's results of operations,
margins, and orders. The Company cannot predict if, when, or how much worldwide economic conditions will improve. These conditions are
highly unpredictable and beyond the Company's control. If these conditions deteriorate, however, the Company's business, financial condition,
results of operations, and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

         The Company's growth is partially dependent on the acquisition and successful integration of other businesses.

        The Company has a long standing acquisition program and expects to continue acquiring businesses. Typically, the Company considers
acquiring bolt-ons. Acquisitions of this type involve numerous risks, which may include potential difficulties in integrating the business into
existing operations; a failure to realize expected growth, synergies, and efficiencies; increasing dependency on the markets served by certain
businesses; increased debt to finance the acquisitions or the inability to obtain adequate financing on reasonable terms.

        The Company also considers the acquisition of businesses which may operate independent of existing operations, and could increase the
possibility of diverting management's attention from its existing operations.

        On April 1, 2015, the Company acquired 100% of the Finishing Brands business from Graco Inc. ("Graco"). The Company has reported the
results of the acquired business as a new reporting segment named Carlisle Fluid Technologies. The successful integration of the business is
dependent upon the realization of efficiencies and synergies. If these integration initiatives do not occur, there may be a negative effect on the
Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

        If the Company is unable to successfully integrate any acquired business or realize growth, synergies, and efficiencies that were expected
when determining a purchase price, goodwill and other intangible assets acquired may be considered impaired, resulting in an adverse impact on
the
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Company's results of operations. See "Part II�Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations�Critical Accounting Policies" for a discussion of factors considered in the subsequent valuation of the Company's acquired goodwill
and intangible assets.

         The Company has significant concentrations in the commercial construction market.

        For the year ended December 31, 2015, approximately 56% of the Company's revenues, and 63% of its EBIT (excluding Corporate
expenses) were generated by the Construction Materials segment. Construction spending is affected by economic conditions, changes in interest
rates, demographic and population shifts, and changes in construction spending by federal, state, and local governments. A decline in the
commercial construction market, could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
Additionally, adverse weather conditions such as heavy or sustained rainfall, cold weather, and snow can limit construction activity and reduce
demand for roofing materials. Weather conditions can also be a positive factor, as demand for roofing materials may rise after harsh weather
conditions due to the need for replacement materials.

        The Construction Materials segment competes through pricing, among other factors. Increased competition in this segment has and could
continue to place negative pressure on operating results in future periods.

         The Company is subject to risks arising from international economic, political, legal, and business factors.

        The Company has increased, and anticipates that it will continue to increase, its presence in global markets. Approximately 25% of the
Company's revenues in 2015 were generated outside the United States. The Company expects that this percentage will grow as the Company
continues to expand its international sales efforts. In addition, to compete globally, all of the Company's segments operate business outside the
United States.

        The Company's reliance on non-U.S. revenues and non-U.S. manufacturing bases exposes its business, financial condition, operating
results, and cashflows to a number of risks, including price and currency controls; government embargoes or foreign trade restrictions;
extraterritorial effects of U.S. laws such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; expropriation of assets; war, civil uprisings, acts of terror, and
riots; political instability; nationalization of private enterprises; hyperinflationary conditions; the necessity of obtaining governmental approval
for new and continuing products and operations, currency conversion, or repatriation of assets; legal systems of decrees, laws, taxes, regulations,
interpretations, and court decisions that are not always fully developed and that may be retroactively or arbitrarily applied; cost and availability
of international shipping channels; and customer loyalty to local companies.

         The loss of, or a significant decline in business with, one or more of the Company's key customers could adversely affect the
Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

        The Company operates in several specialty niche markets in which a large portion of the segment's revenues are attributable to a few large
customers. See "Item 1. Business�Overview�Description of Businesses by Segment" for discussion of customer concentrations by segment. A
significant reduction in purchases by one or more of these customers could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows of one or more of the Company's segments.

        Some of the Company's key customers enjoy significant purchasing power that may be used to exert pricing pressure on the Company.
Additionally, as many of the Company's businesses are part of a long supply chain to the ultimate consumer, the Company's business, financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows could be adversely affected if one or more key customers elects to in-source the production of a
product or products that the Company currently provides.
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         Raw Material costs are a significant component of the Company's cost structure and are subject to volatility.

        The Company utilizes petroleum-based products, steel, and other commodities in its manufacturing processes. Raw materials, including
inbound freight, accounted for approximately 60% of the Company's cost of goods sold in 2015. Significant increases in the price of these
materials may not be recovered through selling price increases and could adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition, results of
operations, and cash flows. The Company also relies on global sources of raw materials, which could be adversely impacted by unfavorable
shipping or trade arrangements and global economic conditions.

         If the Company or its business partners are unable to adequately protect the Company's information assets from cyber-based attacks or
other security incidents, the Company's operations could be disrupted.

        The Company is increasingly dependent on information technology, including the internet, for the storage, processing, and transmission of
its electronic, business-related, information assets. The Company leverages its internal information technology infrastructures, and those of its
business partners, to enable, sustain, and support its global business interests. In the event that the Company or its business partners are unable to
prevent, detect, and remediate cyber-based attacks or other security incidents in a timely manner, the Company's operations could be disrupted
or the Company may incur financial or reputational losses arising from the theft, alteration, misuse, unauthorized disclosure, or destruction of its
information assets.

         The Company may be impacted by new regulations related to conflict minerals.

        In August 2012, as mandated by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, the SEC adopted new
disclosure regulations for public companies that manufacture products that contain certain minerals and their derivatives known as conflict
minerals, if these minerals are necessary to the functionality or production of the company's products. While the regulations do not require that a
company discontinue the use of conflict minerals, the Company nevertheless may be impacted by the regulations. If one or more of the
Company's key customers declares that it will become "conflict-free" the Company may be forced to re-evaluate the sourcing of certain of its
raw materials or risk the loss of business with the customer. This could have the effect of limiting the pool of suppliers from which the Company
sources its raw materials and the Company may be unable to obtain conflict-free raw materials at competitive prices, which could have a
material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. Additionally, given the complex
nature of the Company's supply chain and, in some cases, an extensive chain of custody for materials that the Company uses in its production
processes, the Company may incur significant costs to comply with the disclosure requirements, including costs related to determining the
source of any of the relevant minerals used in its products.

         Currency fluctuation could have a material impact on the Company's reported results of business operations.

        The Company's global net sales and other activities are translated into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes. The strengthening or weakening
of the U.S. dollar could result in unfavorable translation effects as the results of transactions in foreign countries are translated into U.S. dollars.
In addition, sales and purchases in currencies other than the U.S. dollar expose the Company to fluctuations in foreign currencies relative to the
U.S. dollar. Increased strength of the U.S. dollar will decrease the Company's reported revenues or margins in respect of sales conducted in
foreign currencies to the extent the Company is unable or determines not to increase local currency prices. Likewise, decreased strength of the
U.S. dollar could have a material adverse effect on the cost of materials and products purchased overseas. Many of the Company's sales that are
exported by its U.S. subsidiaries to foreign
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countries are denominated in U.S. dollars, reducing currency exposure. However, increased strength of the U.S. dollar may decrease the
competitiveness of our U.S. subsidiaries' products that are sold in U.S. dollars within foreign locations.

         Increases in the cost of providing pension benefits and healthcare benefits could adversely affect the Company's business, financial
condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

        Pension expense associated with the Company's defined benefit retirement plans may fluctuate significantly depending on future market
performance of plan assets and changes in actuarial assumptions.

        Net income may be negatively impacted by a decrease in the rate of return on plan assets. Income or expense for the plans is calculated
using actuarial valuations. Unfavorable changes in key economic indicators can change the assumptions. The most significant assumptions used
are the discount rate and the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. The key economic factors that affect the expense would also likely
affect the amount of cash contributions to the core pension and post-employment plans.

        To help mitigate the fluctuation in future cash contributions to the core pension plan, the Company implemented a liability driven
investment approach. This approach seeks to invest primarily in fixed income investments to match the changes in the plan liabilities that occur
as a result of changes in the discount rate. Risk tolerance is established through careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status, and
corporate financial condition. The established target allocation is 88% fixed income securities and 12% equity securities. Fixed income
investments are diversified across core fixed income, long duration, and high yield bonds. Equity investments are diversified across U.S. and
international stocks. Investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through investment portfolio reviews, annual liability
measures, and asset/liability studies.

        Additionally, the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows may be impacted by future increases in
healthcare cost trends.

         Dispositions, failure to successfully complete dispositions, or restructuring activities could negatively affect the Company.

        From time to time, the Company, as part of its commitment to concentrate on its core business, may dispose of all or a portion of certain
businesses. Such dispositions involve a number of risks and present financial, managerial, and operational challenges, including diversion of
management attention from the Company's core businesses, increased expense associated with the dispositions, potential disputes with the
customers or suppliers of the disposed businesses, potential disputes with the acquirers of the disposed businesses, and a potential dilutive effect
on the Company's earnings per share. If dispositions are not completed in a timely manner there may be a negative effect on the Company's cash
flows and/or the Company's ability to execute its strategy. See Note 4 in Item 8 for discussion of Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

        Additionally, from time to time, the Company may undertake consolidation projects in an effort to reduce costs and streamline its
operations. Such restructuring activities may divert management attention from the Company's core businesses, increase expenses on a
short-term basis, and lead to potential disputes with the customers or suppliers of the affected businesses. If restructuring activities are not
completed in a timely manner or if anticipated cost savings, synergies, and efficiencies are not realized there may be a negative effect on the
Company's business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
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         The Company's operations are subject to regulatory risks.

        Certain products manufactured by our businesses operating in the aerospace and medical markets are subject to extensive regulation by the
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA), respectively. It can be costly and time-consuming to obtain
and maintain regulatory approvals as well as maintain certifications to supply our products to OEM aerospace customers and to obtain regulatory
approvals to market medical devices. Product approvals subject to regulations might not be granted for new devices on a timely basis, if at all.
Proposed new regulations or changes to regulations could result in the need to incur significant additional costs to comply. Continued
government scrutiny, including reviews of the FDA medical device pre-market authorization and post-market surveillance processes, may
impact the requirements for our medical device interconnect components. Failure to effectively respond to changes to applicable laws and
regulations or comply with existing and future laws and regulations may have a negative effect on the Company's business, financial condition,
results of operations, and cash flows.

 Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments.

        None.

 Item 2.    Properties.

        The number, location, and size of the Company's principal properties as of December 31, 2015 are shown on the following chart, by
segment.

Location Square Footage
(in millions)North

America
No. of

FacilitiesSegment Europe Asia Other Owned Leased
Carlisle Construction Materials 21 6 � � 27 4.3 0.6
Carlisle Interconnect Technologies 8 2 3 � 13 0.5 0.9
Carlisle Fluid Technologies 6 3 2 2 13 0.6 0.1
Carlisle Brake and Friction 4 2 4 � 10 0.8 0.5
Carlisle FoodService Products 8 � � � 8 0.2 0.8
             
Totals 47 13 9 2 71 6.4 2.9
             
         
                

        In addition to the manufacturing plants and warehousing facilities listed above, we lease our corporate offices in Charlotte, NC and in
Shanghai, China. We consider these principal properties, as well as the related machinery and equipment, to be well maintained and suitable and
adequate for their intended purpose.

 Item 3.    Legal Proceedings.

        Information pertaining to legal proceedings can be found in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual
Report, and is incorporated by reference herein.

 Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures.

        Not applicable.
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 Part II

 Item 5.    Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

        The Company's common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange. At December 31, 2015, there were 1,356 shareholders of
record.

        Quarterly cash dividends paid and the high and low prices of the Company's stock on the New York Stock Exchange in 2015 and 2014
were as follows:

2015 First Second Third Fourth
Dividends per share $ 0.25 $ 0.25 $ 0.30 $ 0.30

Stock Price
High $ 95.10 $ 102.26 $ 104.60 $ 92.70
Low $ 86.79 $ 91.87 $ 86.91 $ 84.11

2014 First Second Third Fourth
Dividends per share $ 0.22 $ 0.22 $ 0.25 $ 0.25

Stock Price
High $ 80.57 $ 88.19 $ 88.36 $ 92.06
Low $ 71.51 $ 75.28 $ 78.93 $ 74.69
        The following table summarizes the Company's purchases of its common stock for the quarter ended December 31, 2015:

Period

(a)
Total Number

of Shares
Purchased

(b)
Average Price

Paid Per
Share

(c)
Total Number

of Shares
Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced

Plans or
Programs

(d)
Maximum Number

(or Approximate
Dollar Value) of
Shares that May

Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans or

Programs(1)
October 2015 210,464 $ 88.01 210,464 2,212,631
November 2015 352,782 $ 86.27 352,782 1,859,849
December 2015 342,103 $ 88.83 342,103 1,517,746
        
Total 905,349 905,349
        
      
        

(1)
Represents the number of shares that can be repurchased under the Company's stock repurchase program. The stock repurchase
program was originally approved on November 3, 1999, and was reactivated on August 17, 2004. At the time of the adoption, the
Company had the authority to purchase 741,890 split-adjusted shares of common stock. The Board of Directors authorized the
repurchase of an additional 2,500,000 shares of the Company's common stock on August 1, 2007, and the repurchase of an additional
1,400,000 shares of the Company's common stock on February 12, 2008.

(2)
The Company may also reacquire shares outside of the repurchase program from time to time in connection with the forfeiture of
shares in satisfaction of tax withholding obligations from the vesting of share-based compensation. There were no shares reacquired in
transactions outside the repurchase program during the three months ended December 31, 2015.
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 Item 6.    Selected Financial Data.

Five-Year Summary

(in millions except shares,
shareholders of record, and per share data) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
Summary of Operations

Net sales $ 3,543.2 $ 3,204.0 $ 2,943.0 $ 2,851.2 $ 2,492.4
Gross margin $ 1,006.7 $ 819.5 $ 745.6 $ 767.0 $ 584.1
Selling & administrative expenses $ 461.9 $ 379.0 $ 353.7 $ 356.6 $ 298.8
Research & development expenses $ 42.8 $ 33.8 $ 29.3 $ 26.1 $ 21.7
Other (income) expense, net $ 0.1 $ (1.6) $ (4.2) $ 12.4 $ (2.4)
Earnings before interest and income taxes $ 501.9 $ 408.3 $ 366.8 $ 371.9 $ 266.0
Interest expense, net $ 34.0 $ 32.2 $ 33.8 $ 25.5 $ 21.0
Income from continuing operations, net of tax $ 319.6 $ 251.7 $ 235.2 $ 228.7 $ 172.0
Basic earnings per share $ 4.89 $ 3.89 $ 3.69 $ 3.64 $ 2.77
Diluted earnings per share $ 4.82 $ 3.83 $ 3.61 $ 3.57 $ 2.73
Income (loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax $ 0.1 $ (0.4) $ (25.5) $ 41.5 $ 8.3
Basic (loss) earnings per share $ � $ � $ (0.40) $ 0.66 $ 0.14
Diluted (loss) earnings per share          $ � $ (0.01) $ (0.39) $ 0.65 $ 0.13
Net income $ 319.7 $ 251.3 $ 209.7 $ 270.2 $ 180.3
Basic earnings per share $ 4.89 $ 3.89 $ 3.29 $ 4.30 $ 2.91
Diluted earnings per share $ 4.82 $ 3.82 $ 3.22 $ 4.22 $ 2.86

Financial Position

Net working capital(1) $ 713.6 $ 1,219.3 $ 1,158.6 $ 734.7 $ 617.2
Property, plant and equipment, net (held & used) $ 585.8 $ 547.3 $ 497.2 $ 465.2 $ 379.3
Total assets $ 3,954.1 $ 3,758.7 $ 3,493.0 $ 3,457.3 $ 3,137.9
Long-term debt $ 598.7 $ 749.8 $ 751.0 $ 752.3 $ 604.2
% of total capitalization(2) 20.3 25.4 27.4 29.6 28.7
Shareholders' equity $ 2,347.4 $ 2,205.0 $ 1,986.1 $ 1,788.1 $ 1,500.1

Other Data

Average shares outstanding�basic(in thousands) 64,844 64,170 63,471 62,513 61,457
Average shares outstanding�diluted(in thousands) 65,804 65,304 64,806 63,610 62,495
Dividends paid $ 72.3 $ 61.2 $ 53.7 $ 48.0 $ 43.5
Per share $ 1.10 $ 0.94 $ 0.84 $ 0.76 $ 0.70
Capital expenditures $ 72.1 $ 118.8 $ 110.8 $ 140.4 $ 79.6
Depreciation & amortization $ 129.3 $ 104.0 $ 113.9 $ 104.9 $ 88.0
Shareholders of record 1,356 1,407 1,498 1,591 1,669

(1)
Net working capital is defined as total current assets less total current liabilities.

(2)
Percent of total capitalization is defined as long-term debt divided by long-term debt plus shareholders' equity.
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 Item 7.    Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Executive Overview

        We are a multi-national company that designs, manufactures and sells a wide range of products throughout North America, Western
Europe, and the Asia Pacific region via the following segments:

�
Carlisle Construction Materials ("CCM" or the "Construction Materials segment");

�
Carlisle Interconnect Technologies ("CIT" or the "Interconnect Technologies segment");

�
Carlisle Fluid Technologies ("CFT" or the "Fluid Technologies segment");

�
Carlisle Brake & Friction ("CBF" or the "Brake & Friction segment"); and

�
Carlisle FoodService Products ("CFSP" or the "FoodService Products segment").

        We are focused on achieving profitable growth in these segments both organically, through new product development, product line
extensions, and entering new markets, and through acquisitions of businesses that complement our existing technologies, products, and market
channels. We have approximately 12,000 employees. We focus on obtaining profitable growth through:

�
Year-over-year improvement in sales, earnings before interest and income taxes ("EBIT") margins, net earnings and return
on invested capital ("ROIC"),

�
Reduction of working capital (defined as receivables, inventories, net of accounts payable) as a percentage of net sales,

�
Globalization, and

�
Maintenance of a strong and flexible balance sheet.

        Resources are allocated among the operating companies based on management's assessment of their ability to obtain leadership positions
and competitive advantages in the markets they serve.

        A key philosophy in how we drive profitable growth organically is the Carlisle Operating System ("COS"). COS is a manufacturing
structure and strategy deployment system based on lean enterprise and six sigma principles and is a continuous improvement process that defines
the way we do business. Waste is eliminated and efficiencies improved enterprise wide. Improvements are not limited to production areas, as
COS also drives improvements in new product innovation, engineering, supply chain management, warranty, and product rationalization. COS
has created a culture of continuous improvement across all aspects of the Company's business operations.

        Another key strategy in driving profitable growth is through acquisitions. We typically acquire businesses that are complementary to our
existing segments and can be integrated into them. However, from time to time we may acquire new businesses that can operate independently
from other segments. Factors we consider in making an acquisition include the ability of the acquired businesses to drive profitable growth in the
future by increasing our EBIT margins, operating cash flows, and net earnings. We have also pursued the sale of businesses when it is
determined they no longer fit within the Company's long-term goals or strategy.

        In connection with our growth and acquisition strategy, on April 1, 2015, the Company acquired the Finishing Brands business from
Graco Inc. ("Graco") for total cash consideration of $598.9 million. The Company added a reportable segment, Fluid Technologies, to reflect the
acquisition of Finishing Brands. Fluid Technologies is a global manufacturer and supplier of finishing equipment and systems serving diverse
end markets for paints and coatings, including original equipment ("OE") automotive, automotive refinishing, aerospace, agriculture,
construction, marine, rail, and other industrial applications. From the period beginning April 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015, Fluid
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Technologies has contributed net sales of $203.2 million and EBIT of $20.8 million to the Company's 2015 results.
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        For a more in-depth discussion of the results discussed in this "Executive Overview", please refer to the discussion on "Financial Reporting
Segments" presented later in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations".

        For the year ended December 31, 2015, net sales increased 11% to $3.54 billion, compared to $3.20 billion in the prior year, primarily
reflecting sales from the acquired Finishing Brands and LHi businesses of 8.8%. Our organic net sales growth (defined as net sales excluding
sales from acquired businesses within the last twelve months, as well as the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates) of 3.6% primarily
reflected increased sales volumes at Construction Materials and Interconnect Technologies, partially offset by lower sales volume at Brake and
Friction and lower selling price. Foreign currency fluctuations had a negative impact to net sales of 1.8%.

        For the year ended December 31, 2015, EBIT rose 23% to $501.9 million, primarily driven by lower raw material costs, particularly at
Construction Materials related to materials that are tied to crude oil as well as related lower energy costs, lower labor and material usage costs
from COS, lower per unit costs resulting from higher capacity utilization driven by higher net sales volume, and the aforementioned
acquisitions. These positive impacts were partially offset by lower selling price. Carlisle's overall EBIT margin in 2015 rose 150 basis points to
14.2%, primarily reflecting lower raw material costs and lower labor and material usage costs from the Carlisle Operating System. Included in
EBIT in 2015 was $10.7 million in non-recurring costs related to the acquisition of Finishing Brands. By comparison, included in EBIT in 2014
was $9.0 million in plant startup costs at Construction Materials and $3.5 million in costs related to the acquisition of LHi.

        For the year ended December 31, 2015, income from continuing operations, net of tax, of $319.6 million, or $4.82 per diluted share, grew
27% in 2015 from income of $251.7 million, or $3.83 per diluted share, in 2014. The increase was due to higher EBIT driven by the
aforementioned factors. For more information regarding the change in income from continuing operations from 2014 to 2015, refer to the
discussion below on "2015 Compared to 2014".

        For the year ended December 31, 2014, net sales increased 8.9% to $3.20 billion from net sales of $2.94 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2013. Organic net sales in 2014 grew 7.9% primarily reflecting 11% organic net sales growth at Interconnect Technologies, on
strong demand for aerospace applications, and organic net sales growth of 8.9% at Construction Materials, on strong demand for commercial
roofing. Overall net sales at Brake & Friction and Foodservice Products grew modestly during 2014. The acquisition of LHi, that occurred on
October 1, 2014, contributed $26.1 million, or 0.9%, to net sales in 2014.

        For the year ended December 31, 2014, EBIT grew 11% and EBIT margin increased 20 basis points to 12.7% reflecting lower per unit
costs resulting from higher capacity utilization driven by higher net sales volume as well as lower labor and material usage costs from COS.
These EBIT margin improvements were partially offset by lower selling price, and, at Construction Materials, higher plant startup and product
line closing costs versus the prior year and higher freight expense.

        For the year ended December 31, 2014, income from continuing operations, net of tax increased 7.0% to $251.7 million, or $3.83 per
diluted share, from income of $235.2 million, or $3.61 per diluted share, for the year ended December 31, 2013. Included in income from
continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 was a tax benefit of $11.8 million from the release of a deferred tax liability from
an election in a foreign jurisdiction that resulted in an increase in the tax basis of an international operation. For more information regarding the
change in income from continuing operations from 2013 to 2014, refer to the discussion below on "2014 Compared to 2013".

        In 2016, we expect total net sales growth to be in the mid-single digit percentage range. Net sales growth is expected to be primarily driven
by growth at Interconnect Technologies, on higher demand for aerospace and medical connector applications, and growth at Fluid Technologies,
reflecting new
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products and sales penetration initiatives. Growth in 2016 at Construction Materials is expected to reflect moderate growth in the commercial
roofing market. While raw material costs are currently at lower levels than prior periods, and may decline further, the Company faces pricing
pressure in a number of its markets that could impact selling price.

2015 Compared to 2014

Net Sales

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change
Acquisition

Effect
Volume
Effect

Price
Effect

Exchange
Rate

Effect
Net sales $ 3,543.2 $ 3,204.0 10.6% 8.8% 5.0% (1.4)% (1.8)%

        Net sales in 2015 grew 11% over the prior year primarily reflecting acquisition growth of 8.8% and organic net sales growth of 3.6%. The
acquisition of the Finishing Brands business, reported in the Fluid Technologies segment, contributed $203.2 million, and the acquisition of LHi,
reported in the Interconnect Technologies segment, contributed $79.0 million. Organic net sales growth of 3.6% in 2015 reflected 5.0% higher
net sales volume, primarily at Construction Materials, partially offset by 1.4% lower selling price also from Construction Materials and within
Interconnect Technologies. The negative 1.8% impact from fluctuations in foreign exchange was primarily attributable to the weaker Euro and
Canadian Dollar versus the U.S. Dollar impacting the Construction Materials segment and the weaker Euro and British pound versus the U.S.
Dollar impacting the Brake & Friction segment.

Net Sales by Geographic Area

Country
(in millions) 2015 2014
United States $ 2,659.4 75%$ 2,441.7 76%
International:
Europe 384.4 357.4
Asia 225.5 136.0
Canada 114.9 117.1
Mexico and Latin America 81.6 82.0
Middle East and Africa 55.7 48.7
Other 21.7 21.1
        
Total International 883.8 25% 762.3 24%
        
Net sales $ 3,543.2 $ 3,204.0
        
      
        
        We have a long-term goal of achieving 30% of total net sales from outside the United States. Total net sales to customers located outside
the United States increased from $762.3 million in 2014, or 23.8% of net sales, to $883.8 million in 2015, or 24.9% of net sales. The increase in
global sales was primarily driven by contribution from the acquisition of the Finishing Brands business reported in the Fluid Technologies
segment of $118.7 million. The increase in net sales to customers outside the United States also reflected higher sales volumes at Interconnect
Technologies and contribution from the LHi acquisition. These increases were partially offset by the negative impact of foreign exchange
fluctuations primarily at Construction Materials and Brake & Friction and lower net sales volume at Brake & Friction and Foodservice Products.

        The 66% increase in net sales into Asia in 2015 was primarily attributable to the aforementioned acquisitions. Approximately 30% of Fluid
Technologies' net sales were to customers in Asia in 2015.
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Gross Margin

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change
Gross profit $ 1,006.7 $ 819.5 22.8%
Gross margin 28.4% 25.6%
        In 2015, the increase in gross margin (gross profit expressed as a percentage of net sales) of 280 basis points was primarily driven by lower
raw material costs at Construction Materials, lower labor and material usage costs from the Carlisle Operating System and lower per unit costs
related to higher capacity utilization driven by higher sales volume. These positive impacts were partially offset by the aforementioned lower
selling prices. Included in cost of goods sold in 2015 was $8.6 million in additional cost of goods sold from the acquisition of Finishing Brands
reported in the Fluid Technologies segment resulting from recording acquired inventory at fair value. Included in gross profit and gross margin
in 2014 was $1.6 million in cost of goods sold related to recording acquired inventory at estimated fair value for the LHi acquisition in the
Interconnect Technologies segment, $9.0 million in plant startup and product line closing costs at Construction Materials related to startup of its
PVC manufacturing operations and new TPO manufacturing facility, and $0.9 million in expense to discontinue production of Construction
Materials' Insulfoam product line at its Smithfield, PA facility.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change
Selling and administrative expenses $ 461.9 $ 379.0 21.9%
As a percentage of net sales 13.0% 11.8%
        Selling and administrative expenses increased 22% versus the prior year primarily due to $67.0 million of expense from the acquired
Finishing Brands and LHi businesses, higher selling costs primarily at Construction Materials on higher net sales volume, higher expense from
increased staffing and performance-based incentive compensation costs at Construction Materials, and increased Corporate expenses. These
increased expenses were partially offset by lower selling and administrative expense costs at Brake & Friction due to lower net sales volume and
cost reduction efforts. During 2015, the Company incurred $2.1 million in transaction costs related to the Finishing Brands acquisition, of which
$0.7 million was allocated to the Fluid Technologies segment and the remaining $1.4 million allocated to Corporate. By comparison, in 2014,
the Company incurred $1.9 million in transaction expenses for the acquisition of LHi in the Interconnect Technologies segment.

        Selling and administrative expense as a percentage of Net sales increased 120 basis points to 13.0% as a result of the Fluid Technologies
segment having a higher ratio of selling and administrative expense to net sales versus the other segments, in part due to the amortized cost of
acquired intangible assets.

Research and Development Expenses

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change
Research and development expenses $ 42.8 $ 33.8 26.6%
As a percentage of net sales 1.2% 1.1%
        The increase in Research and development expenses in 2015 versus the prior year reflected $4.3 of expense from acquired operations as
well as increased activities related to new product development primarily in the Interconnect Technologies and Construction Materials segments.
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Other (Income) Expense, Net

(in millions) 2015 2014
Other (income) expense, net $ 0.1 $ (1.6)
        The change in Other (income) expense, net from 2014 to 2015 primarily reflected the non-recurrence of gains in 2014 consisting of final
settlement proceeds of $0.9 million at Interconnect Technologies, related to the Thermax acquisition, and a $1.1 million gain at FoodService
Products on the sale of its property in the Netherlands.

EBIT (Earnings Before Interest and Taxes)

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change
EBIT $ 501.9 $ 408.3 22.9%
EBIT Margin 14.2% 12.7%
        The growth in EBIT of 23% in 2015 versus the prior year was primarily attributable to the aforementioned lower raw material costs
primarily at Construction Materials, lower per unit cost resulting from higher capacity utilization, lower labor and material usage costs from the
Carlisle Operating System, and contribution from acquisitions.

Interest Expense, Net

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change
Interest expense $ 34.7 $ 33.7
Interest income (0.7) (1.5)
       
Interest expense, net $ 34.0 $ 32.2 5.6%
       
     
       
        The increase in net Interest expense, net in 2015 versus the prior year primarily reflected a reduction in interest capitalized into property,
plant and equipment in 2015 versus 2014, due to lower capital projects in 2015, and lower interest income as a result of lower cash on hand in
2015 versus 2014. During 2015, the Company used $598.9 million of its cash on hand to acquire Finishing Brands. The Company's cash balance
declined from $730.8 million as of December 31, 2014, to $410.7 million as of December 31, 2015.

Income Taxes

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change
Income tax expense $ 148.3 $ 124.4 19.2%
Effective tax rate 31.7% 33.1%
        The 2015 effective income tax rate of 31.7% differs from the statutory rate primarily due to foreign earnings taxed at rates lower than the
U.S. federal tax rate, the deduction for U.S. manufacturing activities, and the recognition of certain state tax attributes. The recognition of the
state tax attributes, which is the primary driver of the decrease in the year over year tax rate, occurred as a result of a change in judgment due to
new facts regarding the expected deferred tax asset realization from state tax loss and credit carryforwards for which the Company previously
held a valuation allowance. We estimate our effective tax rate for 2016 will be approximately 33%.
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Income from Continuing Operations

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change
Income from continuing operations $ 319.6 $ 251.7 27.0%

EPS
Basic $ 4.89 $ 3.89
Diluted 4.82 3.83
        Income from continuing operations increased 27% in 2015 versus the prior year primarily due to higher EBIT as well as a lower effective
tax rate in 2015 versus 2014.

Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations

(in millions) 2015 2014
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ 0.1 $ (2.1)
Tax benefit � (1.7)
      

$ 0.1 $ (0.4)
      
    
      
EPS
Basic $ � $ �
Diluted � (0.01)
        Loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily reflected a net after-tax loss on the sale of the
Transportation Products business arising from the final working capital adjustment.

Net Income

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change
Net income $ 319.7 $ 251.3 27.2%

EPS
Basic $ 4.89 $ 3.89
Diluted 4.82 3.82
        The increase in net income during the year ended December 31, 2015 versus the prior year was primarily attributable to higher income from
continuing operations.

2014 Compared to 2013

Net Sales

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change
Acquisition

Effect
Volume
Effect

Price
Effect

Exchange
Rate

Effect
Net Sales $ 3,204.0 $ 2,943.0 8.9% 0.9% 9.1% (1.2)% 0.1%

        Net sales in 2014 grew 8.9% over the prior year primarily reflecting organic net sales growth of 7.9% and acquisition growth of 0.9%.
Organic net sales growth of 7.9% in 2014 reflected 9.1% higher net sales volume, partially offset by 1.2% lower selling price from Construction
Materials and Interconnect Technologies. Overall organic net sales growth in 2014 was driven by 11% organic sales growth at Interconnect
Technologies on strong aerospace demand and 8.9% net sales growth at Construction Materials driven by growth in commercial construction
and commercial re-roofing. Brake & Friction and Foodservice Products both achieved modest increases in net sales volume in
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2014. The acquisition of LHi on October 1, 2014 reported in the Interconnect Technologies segment contributed $26.1 million to total net sales
in 2014. Refer to the discussion below on "Acquisitions".

Net Sales by Geographic Area

Country
(in millions) 2014 2013
United States $ 2,441.7 76%$ 2,260.8 77%
International:
Europe 357.4 330.4
Asia 136.0 126.3
Canada 117.1 90.1
Mexico and Latin America 82.0 69.7
Middle East and Africa 48.7 47.4
Other 21.1 18.3
        
Total International 762.3 24% 682.2 23%
        
Net sales $ 3,204.0 $ 2,943.0
        
      
        
        Total net sales to customers located outside the United States increased from $682.2 million in 2013, or 23.2% of net sales, to
$762.3 million in 2014, or 23.8% of net sales. The 12% increase in net sales from outside the United States from 2013 to 2014 primarily
reflected higher net sales by Construction Materials into Canada, Europe and Asia and by Interconnect Technologies into Asia, Europe and
Mexico.

Gross Margin

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change
Gross profit $ 819.5 $ 745.6 9.9%
Gross margin 25.6% 25.3%
        Gross margin in 2014 increased 30 basis points due to lower per unit costs related to higher capacity utilization driven by higher sales
volume and lower labor and material usage costs from the Carlisle Operating System. These positive impacts were partially offset by lower
selling price at Construction Materials, Interconnect Technologies and Brake & Friction, and higher costs at Construction Materials for plant
startup, product line closing, freight expense and product warranty. Included in gross profit and gross margin in 2014 was $9.0 million in plant
startup and product line closing costs at Construction Materials related to startup of its PVC manufacturing operations and new TPO
manufacturing facility and $0.9 million in expense to discontinue production of its Insulfoam product line at its Smithfield, PA facility. These
expenses in 2014 compared to $7.3 million in plant startup costs at Construction Materials in the same prior year period. Also included in gross
profit and gross margin in 2014 were $0.8 million in restructuring costs related to the closure of our Akron plant in the Brake & Friction
segment, as compared to restructuring costs of $0.9 million in the prior year.

        During 2014, we incurred $1.6 million in additional cost of goods sold from the acquisition of LHi reported in the Interconnect
Technologies segment resulting from the fair valuation of acquired inventory. By comparison, during 2013, we incurred $1.1 million in
additional cost of goods sold from the acquisition of Thermax reported in the Interconnect Technologies segment.
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Selling and Administrative Expenses

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change
Selling & Administrative $ 379.0 $ 353.7 7.2%
As a percentage of net sales 11.8% 12.0%
        Selling and administrative expenses increased 7.2% versus the prior year primarily reflecting higher selling and commission costs tied to
higher sales, higher acquisition costs, increased performance based incentive compensation expense and investments in information security.
Included in selling and administrative expenses in 2014 was $3.5 million of expenses from the LHi operations acquired in the Interconnect
Technologies segment. During 2014, Interconnect Technologies incurred $1.9 million in transaction expenses connected to the acquisition of
LHi.

Research and Development Expenses

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change
Research and Development $ 33.8 $ 29.3 15.3%
As a percentage of net sales 1.1% 1.0%
        The increase in Research and development expenses during 2014 reflected increased product development costs primarily in the Brake &
Friction segment.

Other (Income) Expense, Net

(in millions) 2014 2013
Other (income) expense, net $ (1.6) $ (4.2)
        Other income in 2014 primarily reflected a $1.1 million gain on the sale of property in the Foodservice Products segment for sale of its
property in the Netherlands, a $0.4 million gain in the Brake & Friction segment on the sale of its plant in Akron, OH, and a $0.9 million gain
from final settlement of the Thermax acquisition by Interconnect Technologies recognized in the first quarter of 2014. These gains were partially
offset by losses on the disposal of fixed assets and foreign exchange losses.

        Other income in 2013 primarily reflected fair value adjustments related to commodity swap agreements in the Interconnect Technologies
segment and contingent consideration for the PDT acquisition in the Construction Materials segment as well as a gain on the sale of property in
the Construction Materials and Foodservice Products segments. During the third quarter of 2013, the Construction Materials recorded a
$1.3 million gain related to the settlement of contingent consideration related to its 2011 acquisition of PDT based upon an earn-out settlement
agreement with the former owners, which was paid in the fourth quarter of 2013. In addition, during the third quarter of 2013, Foodservices
Products sold its distribution facility in Reno, NV and recognized a pre-tax gain of $1.0 million on the sale. During the third and fourth quarter
of 2013, Construction Materials sold property and fixed assets in Kingston, NY and Kent, WA and recognized a gain of $1.0 million on the sale.

EBIT (Earnings Before Interest and Taxes)

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change
EBIT $ 408.3 $ 366.8 11.3%

EBIT Margin 12.7% 12.5%
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        EBIT grew 11% in 2014 reflecting lower per unit costs from higher capacity utilization driven by sales volume and lower labor and
material usage from the Carlisle Operating System, partially offset by lower selling price, the aforementioned higher operating costs at
Construction Materials and higher costs in 2014 related to acquisitions and employee severance in 2014 versus 2013.

Interest Expense

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change
Interest expense $ 33.7 $ 34.3
Interest income (1.5) (0.5)
       
Interest Expense, net $ 32.2 $ 33.8 (4.7)%
       
     
       
        The reduction in net interest expense in 2014 versus the prior year primarily reflected an increase in capitalized interest and increased
interest income for higher average cash on hand in 2014 versus 2013.

Income Taxes

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change
Income tax expense $ 124.4 $ 97.8 27.2%
Effective tax rate 33.1% 29.4%
        The 29.4% effective rate for 2013 reflected a tax benefit of $11.8 million related to a tax election made in a foreign jurisdiction that resulted
in the release of deferred tax liabilities.

Income from Continuing Operations

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change
Income from continuing operations, net of tax $ 251.7 $ 235.2 7.0%

EPS
Basic $ 3.89 $ 3.69
Diluted 3.83 3.61
        Income from continuing operations increased 7.0% in 2014 versus the prior year primarily due to higher EBIT and lower net interest
expense, partially offset by a higher effective tax rate in 2014 versus 2013.

Loss from Discontinued Operations

(in millions) 2014 2013
Loss from discontinued operations $ (2.1) $ (60.5)
Tax benefit (1.7) (35.0)
     

$ (0.4) $ (25.5)
     
    
      
EPS
Basic $ � $ (0.40)
Diluted (0.01) (0.39)
        Loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 primarily reflected a net after-tax loss on the sale of the
Transportation Products business arising from the final working capital adjustment.
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        Loss from Discontinued Operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily reflected the results of the Transportation Products
business, which was sold on December 31, 2013 to American Industrial Partners ("AIP"). During 2013, the Transportation Products business
had net sales of $767.9 million. Included in loss from discontinued operations during 2013 was a pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of
$100.0 million due to a decline in the reporting unit's estimated fair value relative to its carrying value. In addition, the Company recorded a
pre-tax loss of $12.3 million on the sale of the Transportation Products business, which included charges of $8.4 million for curtailment and
settlement charges related to the transfer of all former Transportation Products business employees and certain of the pension and other post
employment obligations to AIP as part of the sale. The after-tax loss from discontinued operations for the full year 2013 reflected the
aforementioned losses from operations due to the goodwill impairment charge, offset by operating earnings of the Transportation Products
business and a net after-tax gain on the sale of the Transportation Products business of $6.2 million.

Net Income

(in millions) 2014 2013 Change
Net income $ 251.3 $ 209.7 19.8%

EPS
Basic $ 3.89 $ 3.29
Diluted 3.82 3.22
        The increase in Net income during 2014 versus the prior year primarily reflected the increase in Income from Continuing Operations in
2014 versus 2013 and decrease in Loss from Discontinued Operations in 2014 versus 2013.

Acquisitions and Disposals

        The Company funded the aforementioned acquisition of Finishing Brands on April 1, 2015 with cash on hand. The preliminary amount of
goodwill recorded related to the acquisition is $175.2 million as of December 31, 2015, reported in the Fluid Technologies segment.

        The goodwill recognized in the acquisition of Finishing Brands is attributable to the experienced workforce of Finishing Brands, the
expected operational improvements through implementation of COS, opportunities for geographic and product line expansions in addition to
supply chain efficiencies, and the significant strategic value of the business to Carlisle.

        On October 1, 2014, the Company completed the acquisition of LHi for $194.0 million, utilizing cash on hand. LHi's manufacturing
operations are located in Shenzhen, China. LHi provides world-class medical device manufacturers with interconnect components used for
patient monitoring, electrosurgery, diagnostic imaging and surgical instrumentation. Results of LHi's operations are reported within the
Interconnect Technologies segment. The acquisition of LHi complements Interconnect Technologies' existing medical cabling product offerings,
adds global presence, and provides further end market diversification within the Interconnect Technologies segment. The final amount of
goodwill recorded related to the acquisition of LHi was $112.8 million.
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Financial Reporting Segments

Carlisle Construction Materials ("CCM" or the "Construction Materials segment")

(in millions) 2015 2014
Change

$
Change

% 2014 2013 Change $
Change

%
Net sales $ 2,002.6 $ 1,935.4 $ 67.2 3.5% $ 1,935.4 $ 1,776.5 $ 158.9 8.9%
EBIT $ 351.1 $ 268.8 $ 82.3 30.6% $ 268.8 $ 264.0 $ 4.8 1.8%
EBIT Margin 17.5% 13.9% 13.9% 14.9%

2015 Compared to 2014

        CCM's 3.5% net sales growth in 2015 primarily reflected higher sales volumes of 6.5%, partially offset by a 2.0% negative impact from
foreign exchange fluctuations primarily from the stronger U.S. dollar versus the Euro and the Canadian dollar, and 1.0% lower selling prices.
CCM's net sales volume growth was primarily driven by increased activity in both commercial construction and re-roofing. CCM's net sales into
Europe declined 13%, of which 16% related to the negative impact of foreign exchange, partially offset by 3% organic net sales growth. CCM's
net sales into Canada, declined 9%, of which 13% related to the negative impact of foreign exchange, partially offset by 4% organic net sales
growth.

        CCM's EBIT grew 31% and EBIT margins expanded 360 basis points to 17.5% in 2015 due primarily to lower raw material costs, with
additional contribution from lower per unit cost from higher capacity utilization, lower labor and material usage costs from COS, and the
non-recurrence of $9.0 million in startup expense in 2014 at its new PVC and TPO production facilities. CCM's raw material costs were lower in
2015 versus 2014 primarily due to lower input costs driven by the decline in crude oil and other energy commodity pricing. These positive
impacts were partially offset by unfavorable changes in mix, lower selling price, and the negative impact of foreign exchange fluctuations
related to the U.S. Dollar versus the Canadian Dollar and versus the Euro.

        CCM's net sales and EBIT are generally higher in the second and third quarters of the year due to increased construction activity during
these periods. CCM's commercial roofing business is comprised of approximately 70% of net sales from re-roofing, which derives demand from
a large base of installed roofs requiring replacement in a given year, and 30% from roofing for new commercial construction.

        Growth in demand for CCM's commercial roofing applications is driven in part by growth in commercial construction in the United States
and increased enforcement of building codes related to energy efficiency driving demand for commercial insulation products. Conditions for the
commercial construction market remain favorable due to lower energy prices and increasing availability of credit. The commercial roofing
outlook in Europe is expected to remain relatively flat. Growth in demand in the commercial construction market can be negatively impacted by
changes in fiscal policy and increases in interest rates. The availability of labor to fulfill installations may also be a near term constraint on
growth in the commercial roofing market. A reduction in the economic outlook for the U.S. tied to slowing conditions in overseas markets could
also negatively impact growth in the commercial construction market.

        CCM's ability to maintain current selling price and volume levels is subject to significant competition, in particular from competitors that
have recently added manufacturing capacity of commercial roofing and commercial insulation products and as a result of lower raw material
costs. Raw material input costs are expected to decline moderately from current levels due to lower crude oil and related commodity pricing,
however selling price pressure may negatively impact CCM's ability to maintain current EBIT margin levels or obtain incremental EBIT margin
from lower raw material costs.
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2014 Compared to 2013

        CCM's net sales growth of 8.9% in 2014 versus 2013 reflected higher sales volume, partially offset by lower selling price. CCM's sales
volume growth in 2014 was primarily driven by increased demand from growth in the new commercial construction and re-roofing markets. For
the full year 2014, CCM's net sales of its commercial roofing membrane and commercial polyiso insulation applications overall grew by 10%.
With respect to international sales, CCM's net sales outside of the U.S. grew 17% during 2014 primarily reflecting increased net sales into
Canada, where net sales grew by 33%. CCM's net sales into Europe grew by 12% for the full year, reflecting strong double digit organic sales
growth in the first half of 2014 followed by slightly lower sales growth in the second half of 2014 due to weakening economic conditions in
Europe and weakening of the Euro versus the U.S. dollar.

        CCM's EBIT margin declined 100 basis points versus the prior year primarily due to lower selling price, higher plant startup and product
line closing costs versus the prior year and higher freight costs. These negative impacts were partially offset by lower per unit costs resulting
from higher capacity utilization, and reduction in material usage and labor costs driven by the Carlisle Operating System. During 2014, CCM
incurred product line closing costs of $0.9 million related to discontinuing production of its Insulfoam product line at its Smithfield, PA, facility.
In addition, CCM incurred $9.0 million of plant startup expense at its new PVC facility and new TPO manufacturing facility in 2014. By
comparison, CCM incurred $7.3 million of plant startup expense in 2013. Included in CCM's EBIT in 2013 were gains that did not recur in 2014
consisting of a $1.3 million gain related to the settlement of contingent consideration related to its 2011 acquisition of PDT, a net pre-tax gain of
$1.0 million on the sale of property and fixed assets in Kingston, NY, and Kent, WA, and a gain of $1.9 million on the sale of solar roofing
inventory that had previously been determined to be obsolete.

Carlisle Interconnect Technologies ("CIT" or the "Interconnect Technologies segment")

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change $
Change

% 2014 2013 Change $
Change

%
Net sales $ 784.6 $ 669.1 $ 115.5 17.3% $ 669.1 $ 577.7 $ 91.4 15.8%
EBIT $ 141.6 $ 132.2 $ 9.4 7.1% $ 132.2 $ 89.4 $ 42.8 47.9%
EBIT Margin 18.0% 19.8% 19.8% 15.5%

2015 Compared to 2014

        CIT's net sales growth of 17% in 2015 primarily reflected acquisition growth of 11.8%, from the acquisition of the LHi medical cabling
business, and higher sales volumes of 8.5%, primarily on higher demand for its in-flight entertainment and connectivity (IFEC) applications sold
into the commercial aerospace markets and slightly higher volumes on higher demand for connectivity applications sold into the defense and test
and measurement markets. The increase in net sales from acquisitions and higher sales volumes were partially offset by 2.8% lower selling price.

        CIT's EBIT increased 7.1% in 2015 on higher net sales volume, lower labor and material usage costs from COS, and $7.8 million in EBIT
contribution from the acquisition of LHi, partially offset by lower contractual selling price. CIT's EBIT margin declined 180 basis points versus
the prior year primarily due to selling price reductions and the dilutive impact of the LHi acquisition on margin. These negative impacts were
partially offset by lower per unit costs resulting from higher capacity utilization, lower labor and material usage costs from COS and lower raw
material costs. Included in CIT's EBIT in 2014 was $3.5 million in costs related to the acquisition of LHi, including higher cost of goods sold
related to recording acquired inventory at estimated fair value as of the acquisition date. Partially offsetting these costs in 2014 was a gain of
$0.9 million recognized upon the final settlement of the acquisition of Thermax from Belden.

        During 2014, CIT began construction on a new 216,000 sq. ft. manufacturing facility in Nogales, Mexico, to meet growing demand for its
aerospace applications and to support growth in its medical
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applications. The total cost of CIT's new facility was $23.4 million. Shipments began in the first quarter 2015 and the project was completed in
the second quarter of 2015. In the third quarter of 2015, CIT announced a $13 million project to expand its production facilities in Dongguan,
China into a new 260,000 sq. ft. facility to meet expected demand in both the medical technology and aerospace markets. This project is
expected to be completed in 2017. CIT expects to incur startup costs of approximately $1.5 million in 2016 on this project and another
$1.5 million in startup costs in 2017. Also in the fourth quarter 2015, CIT announced a $13 million project to expand its existing aerospace
facility in Franklin, WI to increase manufacturing capacity by 30,000 sq. ft. to meet expected demand for its recently launched SatCom antenna
adaptor plate used as part of satellite-based IFEC applications. The Franklin, WI expansion is expected to be completed in 2016. CIT expects to
incur startup costs of approximately $3.0 million related to this project, primarily in the first half of 2016.

        The longer term outlook in the commercial aerospace market remains favorable with a strong delivery cycle for new commercial aircraft
expected over the next several years. The outlook for the market for IFEC applications also remains positive on increasing demand for on board
connectivity applications used in both installed aircraft seating and through personal mobile devices using wireless connectivity (Wi-Fi) access.
One of CIT's customers, for which it supplies IFEC interconnect components, comprises approximately 22% of CIT's net sales. CIT has
connectivity applications for use with grounded Wi-Fi providers, and, with its newly developed SatCom antenna adaptor plate product, for use
by satellite Wi-Fi providers. Satellite based connectivity has higher bandwidth and can be accessed in flight over water.

        As a result of the LHi acquisition, combined with CIT's base medical business, net sales into the medical market comprise approximately
15% of CIT's total net sales. CIT is actively pursuing new products, customers, and complementary technologies to support its expansion into
the growing healthcare technology market. The medical technology markets in which CIT competes is experiencing vendor consolidation trends
among larger medical OEM's, to whom CIT offers improved product verification capabilities and value-added vertical integration through its
multiple product offerings.

2014 Compared to 2013

        CIT's 16% net sales growth in 2014 primarily reflected organic sales growth of 11% and net sales from acquisitions of 4.5%. CIT's 11%
organic sales growth primarily reflected higher sales volume driven by strong aerospace demand slightly offset by lower selling price from
contractual price reductions that were in part tied to lower raw material commodity prices. CIT's net sales to the aerospace market in 2014 were
up 14% primarily on higher demand for IFEC applications and increased sales for the Boeing 787 program. CIT net sales into the test and
measurement market increased by 20% in 2014. CIT's net sales to the military market were relatively level to the prior year, reflecting lower
demand in the first half of 2014 offset by sales volume growth in the second half of 2014 from new program development. Partially offsetting
this was a 7% decline in net sales to the industrial market. The acquisition of LHi on October 1, 2014 contributed $26.1 million in net sales to
CIT in 2014, all comprising sales to the medical market.

        CIT's EBIT margin increased significantly by 430 basis points in 2014 versus the prior year due to lower per unit costs resulting from
higher capacity utilization driven by higher sales volume, and reduction in material usage and labor costs driven by the Carlisle Operating
System. Included in CIT's EBIT was $1.9 million in transaction expenses for the acquisition of LHi and $1.6 million in cost of goods sold
related to recording acquired inventory at estimated fair value as of the acquisition date. Partially offsetting these costs in 2014 was a gain of
$0.9 million recognized upon the final settlement of the acquisition of Thermax from Belden. By comparison, included in CIT's EBIT in 2013
was $1.1 million in acquisition costs primarily due to additional costs of goods sold resulting from recording the acquired Thermax inventory at
estimated fair value as of the acquisition date.
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Carlisle Fluid Technologies ("CFT")

(in millions) 2015 2014 Change $ Change %
Net sales $ 203.2 $ � $ 203.2 �%
EBIT $ 20.8 $ � $ 20.8 �%
EBIT Margin 10.2% �%
        On April 1, 2015, the Company completed the acquisition of the Finishing Brands business from Graco Inc. Beginning in the second
quarter 2015, the Company added a reportable segment, CFT, to reflect the acquisition of Finishing Brands.

        Through the nine month period from April 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015, CFT's EBIT and EBIT margin includes acquisition related
costs for Finishing Brands of $8.6 million additional costs of goods sold related to recording acquired inventory at fair value and $0.7 million
allocated transaction costs. These acquisition related costs were incurred in the second quarter of 2015. CFT's EBIT in 2015 also included
amortization expense of $13.2 million, or 6.5% of CFT's net sales, resulting from recording the acquired intangible assets at fair value.

        Approximately 20% to 25% of CFT's annual net sales are for the development and assembly of large fluid handling or other application
systems projects. Timing of these system sales can result in sales that are higher in certain quarters versus other quarters within the same
calendar year. In addition, timing of system sales can cause significant year over year sales variances.

        In 2016, CFT is establishing global headquarters in Phoenix, Arizona to streamline administrative functions and coordinate its global
strategy. CFT may experience additional costs related to integration and headquarter relocation activities. CFT intends to hire additional sales,
marketing and administrative staff in 2016 to support its organizational and sales growth strategy.

        Approximately 60% of CFT's net sales are outside the United States, a significant amount of which represent net sales into Asia and
Europe. CFT's ability to increase net sales could be impacted by slowing growth in Asia and challenging economic conditions in Europe. A
significant portion of CFT's operating earnings are generated by its subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, Japan and China, operating in British
pounds, Japanese Yen and Chinese Renminbi, respectively. The results of these subsidiaries' operations are translated and reported within our
consolidated results in U.S. dollars. Consistent declines in the currencies for these countries versus the U.S. dollar could negatively impact CFT's
U.S. dollar reported results for both net sales and EBIT. Overall, CFT's results are subject to foreign exchange fluctuations of the U.S. Dollar
versus the British Pound, Japanese Yen, Chinese Renminbi, Euro, Mexican Peso, Brazilian Real and Australian Dollar.

Carlisle Brake & Friction ("CBF" or the "Brake & Friction segment")

(in millions) 2015 2014
Change

$
Change

% 2014 2013
Change

$
Change

%
Net sales $ 310.2 $ 355.3 $ (45.1) (12.7)%$ 355.3 $ 350.0 $ 5.3 1.5%
EBIT $ 17.3 $ 26.8 $ (9.5) (35.4)%$ 26.8 $ 33.5 $ (6.7) (20.0)%
EBIT Margin 5.6% 7.5% 7.5% 9.6%

2015 Compared to 2014

        CBF's net sales declined 13% in 2015 reflecting a 7.6% decline from lower net sales volume and a 5.1% negative impact from foreign
exchange fluctuations from the stronger U.S. Dollar versus the Euro, British pound and Yen in 2015 versus the prior year. CBF's primary
markets of construction, mining, and agriculture were negatively impacted by slower global conditions and depressed conditions in the
commodities markets. CBF's net sales of its off-highway braking applications into the
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construction market declined by 16%. CBF's net sales into the mining and agriculture markets declined by 14% and 20%, respectively.

        CBF's EBIT declined 35% and its EBIT margin declined 190 basis points to 5.6% in 2015, primarily reflecting lower net sales volume,
higher per unit costs resulting from lower capacity utilization, and the negative impact of foreign exchange fluctuations of approximately
$3.0 million. Also included in CBF's EBIT in 2015 was $1.7 million in severance costs, $3.4 million in asset impairment charges, and
$0.5 million in closing costs for its Akron facility. By comparison, in 2014 CBF incurred $1.2 million in severance costs from staff reduction
actions taken to align its cost structure with current demand levels and $4.3 million in inventory impairments.

        Consistent with forecasts by large OEM's, demand for CBF's off-highway applications for heavy industrial equipment in construction and
mining is expected to remain soft and may decline further due to slowing growth in China and lower demand for commodities. CBF faces
competitive pricing pressure in the current demand environment and from competitors that manufacture and sell products in Euros. CBF has
taken cost reduction measures to align with net sales demand.

        A significant portion of CBF's operating earnings are generated by its subsidiaries in Italy and the United Kingdom selling and operating in
Euros and British pounds, respectively. The results of these subsidiaries' operations are translated and reported within our consolidated results in
U.S. dollars. Consistent declines in the Euro or the British pound versus the U.S. dollar could negatively impact CBF's U.S. dollar reported
results for both net sales and EBIT.

        As of December 31, 2015, the carrying value of the CBF reporting unit's goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets was
$226.6 million and $117.2 million, respectively. The most recent annual goodwill impairment test was performed for all reporting units as of
October 1, 2015. During this testing, we estimated that CBF's fair value, utilizing the method discussed above, exceeded its carrying value by
approximately 15%. Further, based on our estimates of fair value for specific indefinite-lived intangible assets utilized by the CBF reporting
unit, we concluded that no impairment exists at December 31, 2015.

        For additional information in regards to our policy with respect to testing goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment,
refer to "Critical Accounting Policies".

        As noted above, the Company believes that the facts and circumstances as of December 31, 2015 indicate that no impairment exists with
respect to CBF's goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets. If the estimates of recovery in CBF's end markets do not materialize as
expected and/or the U.S. Dollar continues to strengthen and therefore results are lower than anticipated, an impairment loss may be recorded.

        While the Company believes its conclusions regarding the estimates of fair value of the CBF reporting unit and its indefinite-lived
intangible assets are appropriate, the estimates of fair value of the CBF reporting unit and its indefinite-lived intangible assets are subject to
uncertainty and by nature include judgments and estimates regarding various factors including the rate and extent of recovery in the markets that
CBF serves, the realization of future sales price increases, fluctuations in exchange rates, fluctuation in price and availability of key raw
materials, future operating efficiencies, and discount rates.

2014 Compared to 2013

        CBF's 1.5% net sales increase in 2014 reflected 1.0% organic sales growth and a 0.5% positive impact on net sales from fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates primarily reflecting the increase in the British pound and Euro versus the U.S. dollar that occurred in the first half of
2014. The positive impact from foreign exchange fluctuations on CBF's net sales reversed significantly in the latter part of 2014 when both the
Euro and British Pound declined versus the U.S. dollar. CBF's 1.0% organic sales
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growth in 2014 reflected approximately 2% higher net sales volume offset by 1% lower selling price. CBF's net sales to the construction market
grew by 11% in 2014 reflecting recovering market conditions as well as new customer initiatives. Offsetting this growth was 7% lower net sales
to the agriculture market, which declined due to lower crop prices and lower farm income reducing equipment demand. Net sales to the mining
market in 2014 declined by 11% versus the prior year. Demand in the agriculture and mining markets were relatively stable through the first half
of 2014; however, declined more significantly in the second half of 2014 reflecting significant weakening in the agriculture and commodities
markets and slowing global economic conditions.

        CBF's EBIT margin decreased 210 basis points in 2014 versus the prior year primarily due to the impact of lower selling price that occurred
in the first half of 2014, partially offset by lower per unit costs resulting from higher capacity utilization driven by higher sales volume. During
2014, CBF incurred $1.2 million in severance costs from staff reduction actions taken to align its cost structure with current demand levels. Also
in 2014, CBF incurred $4.3 million in charges to inventory, compared to $1.8 million in charges to inventory in 2013. Partially offsetting these
costs was a gain of $0.4 million on the sale of its facility in Akron, OH, during the fourth quarter of 2014.

        On October 11, 2013, to further streamline operations and reduce manufacturing costs, CBF announced plans to close its manufacturing
facility in Akron, OH, relocate manufacturing previously conducted at this facility to other CBF facilities, and sell the facility's remaining assets.
The project was completed in the first half of 2015 with total costs of $2.2 million, including employee termination, accelerated depreciation,
impairment of long-lived assets and equipment relocation costs. The Company incurred exit and disposal costs of $0.9 million in 2013,
$0.8 million in 2014 and $0.5 million in 2015.

Carlisle FoodService Products ("CFSP" or the "FoodService Products segment")

(in millions) 2015 2014
Change

$
Change

% 2014 2013
Change

$
Change

%
Net sales $ 242.6 $ 244.2 $ (1.6) (0.7)%$ 244.2 $ 238.8 $ 5.4 2.3%
EBIT $ 27.3 $ 29.6 $ (2.3) (7.8)%$ 29.6 $ 27.0 $ 2.6 9.6%
EBIT Margin 11.3% 12.1% 12.1% 11.3%

2015 Compared to 2014

        CFSP's net sales in 2015 declined 0.7% primarily due to lower net selling price that was partially offset by higher net sales volume. Net
sales to the foodservice market were unchanged as compared to 2014 reflecting higher demand in the domestic foodservice market, offset by
changes in customer mix and lower international demand in Europe and Asia. Net sales to the janitorial/sanitation market grew by 5% reflecting
increased sales to retail supercenters. Net sales to the healthcare market declined by 5% primarily due to the non-recurrence of a large order with
a customer in 2014 for rethermalization equipment.

        CFSP's EBIT declined 7.8% and EBIT margin declined 80 basis points primarily due to lower selling price connected with selling
incentives and higher cost of capitalized inventory recognized in cost of goods sold. These negative impacts were partially offset by lower raw
material costs. Included in CFSP's results for 2014 was a gain of $1.1 million on the sale of property in The Netherlands.

        CFSP's primary markets of foodservice, healthcare and janitorial/sanitation are expected to grow in line with low-single digit growth
estimates for United States Growth Domestic Product.

2014 Compared to 2013

        CFSP's 2.3% net sales increase in 2014 primarily reflected higher sales volume and increased selling price realization. CFSP's net sales to
the foodservice market increased by 1%. Net sales to the

31

Edgar Filing: CARLISLE COMPANIES INC - Form 10-K

34



healthcare market increased by 4% primarily driven by a large rethermalization equipment order with a customer. Net sales to the
janitorial/sanitation market increased by 3%.

        CFSP's EBIT in 2014 grew 9.6% to $29.6 million, reflecting continued progress on its performance improvement efforts that began in
2012. CFSP's EBIT margin grew 80 basis points primarily due to lower freight expense from initiatives to improve scheduling and shipment
logistics and higher selling price realization. Included in CFSP's EBIT in 2014 was a $1.1 million gain from the sale of property in The
Netherlands during the second quarter 2014. By comparison, included in CFSP's EBIT in 2013 was a $1.0 million gain on the sale of property in
Reno, NV.

Corporate

(in millions) 2015 2014
Change

$
Change

% 2014 2013
Change

$
Change

%
Corporate expenses $ 56.2 $ 49.1 $ 7.1 14.5% $ 49.1 $ 47.1 $ 2.0 4.2%
As a percentage of net
sales 1.6% 1.5% 1.5% 1.6%

        Corporate expenses are largely comprised of compensation, benefits, and travel expense for the corporate office staff, business development
costs, and certain compliance costs not allocated to the segments. Corporate expense also includes certain gains and losses related to employee
benefit obligations that are not allocated to the segments such as pension and post-employment benefit obligation settlements and curtailment
charges as well as gains and losses associated with workers' compensation obligations.

        For the year ended December 31, 2015, Corporate expenses increased 14% from the prior year primarily due to higher staffing costs,
performance-based incentive compensation expense and sponsorship of companywide management programs. In addition, the company incurred
$1.4 million in transaction costs for the acquisition of the Finishing Brands business in the second quarter of 2015, which was reported in
Corporate expenses.

        For the year ended December 31, 2014, Corporate expenses increased 4.2% from the prior year period due to higher investments in
information security, performance based incentive compensation expense, and increased business development expense.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

        We maintain liquidity sources primarily consisting of cash and cash equivalents and our unused committed $600 million credit facility. As
of December 31, 2015, we had $410.7 million of cash on hand, of which $122.0 million was located in wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company outside the United States. Cash held by subsidiaries outside the United States is held in U.S. Dollars or in the currency of the country
in which it is located. It is our intention to use cash held outside the United States to fund the operating activities of our foreign subsidiaries, to
make further investments in our foreign operations, and to invest in additional growth opportunities for the Company through acquisitions. Cash
outside the United States is generally held in deposit accounts with banking institutions that are parties to our credit facility. The majority of
these accounts are at bank subsidiaries that are owned by U.S. corporate banks. Repatriation of cash held by foreign subsidiaries may require the
accrual and payment of taxes in the United States; however, consistent with our unremitted earnings, we consider such related cash to be
permanently reinvested in our foreign operations and our current plans do not demonstrate a need, nor do we plan, to repatriate such cash to fund
U.S. operations and financing activities. We plan to continue to invest in our international business and potential acquisitions to achieve our
stated goal of 30% of net sales outside of the United States.

        In addition, cash held by subsidiaries in China is subject to local laws and regulations that require government approval for conversion of
such cash to and from U.S. Dollars as well as for transfer of such cash to entities that are outside of China. As of December 31, 2015, we had
cash and cash equivalents of $21.4 million located in wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company within China.
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Sources and Uses of Cash

Twelve Months
Ended

December 31,
(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 529.2 $ 295.9 $ 414.7
Net cash used in investing activities (670.8) (297.8) 270.1
Net cash used in financing activities (173.0) (20.2) (41.5)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash (5.5) (1.6) (1.3)
        
Change in cash and cash equivalents $ (320.1) $ (23.7) $ 642.0
        
     
       
2015 Compared to 2014

        The Company had net cash provided by operating activities of $529.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to cash
provided of $295.9 million in the prior year. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities was attributable to increased cash income,
resulting from lower raw material costs, cash taxes paid, cash from acquired businesses and a difference of $145.0 million between cash
provided by working capital of $94.6 million in 2015 and cash used of $50.4 million in 2014. In 2015, cash provided by changes in inventory of
$23.0 million compared to cash used of $27.7 million in 2014. Cash provided by changes in accrued expenses of $79.9 million in 2015
compared to cash provided of $14.5 million in 2014, and includes differences in usage of cash for tax payments in 2015 versus 2014.

        We use the ratio of our average working capital balances (defined as the average of the quarter end balances, excluding current year
acquisitions, of trade receivables plus net inventory, less trade payables) as a percentage of annualized sales (defined as year-to-date net sales,
excluding current year acquisitions, calculated on an annualized basis) to evaluate our effectiveness in managing our cash requirements in
relation to changes in sales activity. The Company has a long term strategy is to reduce the ratio of working capital as a percentage of net sales
in order to generate strong cash flow from our businesses and improve overall liquidity as our business activities grow. However in 2015,
average working capital as a percentage of annualized sales increased 40 basis points to 18.2%, as compared to a percentage of 17.8% for 2014,
primarily as a result of higher average working capital as a percentage of net sales in the first half of 2015 on higher commercial roofing demand
at Construction Materials.

        Cash used in investing activities was $670.8 million in 2015 compared to $297.8 million in 2014. In 2015, cash used in investing activities
included $598.9 million, net of $12.2 million cash acquired, used to acquire Finishing Brands and $72.1 million in capital expenditures. In 2014,
cash used in investing activities included $118.8 million in capital expenditures and $194.0 million, net of $6.7 million cash acquired, used to
acquire LHi Technologies. Also in 2014, we received $9.7 million as part of the final working capital settlement from the sale of the
Transportation Products business.

        Capital expenditures of $72.1 million in 2015 declined by $46.7 million from expenditures of $118.8 million in 2014. The decline was
primarily attributable to lower capital expenditures at Construction Materials in 2015 due to completion of its new TPO and PVC production
facilities in 2014. During 2015, the Interconnect Technologies segment spent $34.5 million in capital expenditures, including $7.0 million for the
completion of its new manufacturing facility in Nogales, Mexico, as well as other projects tied to product or capacity expansion.

        Cash used in financing activities was $173.0 million in 2015 compared to $20.2 million in 2014. During 2015, cash used in financing
activities primarily reflected $137.2 in share repurchases, $72.3 million in dividends paid and $2.9 million in debt repayments, partially offset by
net cash inflows related to the exercise of employee stock options of $39.4 million in 2015. The Company started its
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systematic share repurchase program in 2015 and repurchased 1,496,411 shares. Also in 2015, we increased our dividends to shareholders by
17%, representing the 39th consecutive year of dividend increases.

2014 Compared to 2013

        Net cash provided by operating activities, which includes continuing and discontinued operations, was $295.9 million in the year ended
December 31, 2014, compared to $414.7 million in 2013. The decrease was primarily due to funds used for working capital in 2014 versus cash
provided by working capital in 2013 and the disposition of the Transportation Products business on December 31, 2013. We used cash for
working capital in 2014 due to higher organic sales growth and production activity from higher demand in the fourth quarter of 2014 compared
to the prior year. In addition, cash provided by working capital in 2013 benefited from inventory reduction efforts at the divested Carlisle
Transportation Product segment.

        Cash used for working capital and other assets and liabilities of $50.4 million in 2014 compared to cash provided by working capital of
$48.0 million in 2013, reflecting lower net cash flow related to working capital of $98.4 million in 2014 versus 2013. Cash used for working
capital in 2014 primarily consisted of a $27.7 million increase in inventories, an $18.1 million increase in accounts receivable and a
$13.6 million reduction in accounts payable and long term liabilities, partially offset by a $14.5 million increase in accrued expenses. Cash
provided by working capital in 2013 primarily consisted of a $35.6 million reduction in inventories and an $8.4 million decrease in accounts
receivable, partially offset by a $8.0 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses. For the full year 2014, average working capital
as a percentage of annualized sales declined by 90 basis points to 17.8%, as compared to a percentage of 18.7% for 2013.

        Cash used in investing activities was $297.8 million in 2014 compared to $270.1 million provided by investing activities in 2013. In 2014,
cash used in investing activities included $118.8 million in capital expenditures and $194.0 million, net of $6.7 million cash acquired, used to
acquire LHi Technologies. Also in 2014, we received $9.7 million as part of the final working capital settlement from the sale of the
Transportation Products business. In 2013, cash provided by investing activities related to $369.0 million in proceeds on the sale of the
Transportation Products business, net of cash on hand at the time of sale, and $11.9 million in proceeds on the sale of equipment, partially offset
by $110.8 million in capital expenditures.

        Capital expenditures of $118.8 million in 2014 compared to $110.8 million in 2013. The Construction Materials segment represented 43%
of total capital expenditures in 2014 as a result of projects to construct a new TPO plant in Carlisle, PA, and complete construction on a new
PVC plant in Greenville, IL. CCM's total capital expenditures were $51.4 million in 2014. During 2014, the Interconnect Technologies segment
spent $32.2 million in capital expenditures primarily for the construction of a new manufacturing facility in Nogales, Mexico.

        Cash used in financing activities was $20.2 million in 2014 compared to $41.5 million in 2013. During 2014, cash used in financing
activities related to $61.2 million in dividends paid and $1.5 million in repayments on industrial and revenue bonds, partially offset by net cash
inflows related to the exercise of employee stock options.
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Debt Instruments, Guarantees and Covenants

        The following table quantifies certain contractual cash obligations and commercial commitments at December 31, 2015:

(in millions) Total 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Thereafter
Short-term credit lines and
long-term debt $ 750.1 $ 150.1 $ � $ � $ � $ 250.0 $ 350.0
Interest on long-term debt(1) 165.0 35.1 25.9 25.9 25.9 25.9 26.3
Noncancelable operating leases 75.5 18.3 14.5 13.0 10.9 7.1 11.7
Estimated workers' compensation
claims 19.4 5.1 3.6 2.6 1.9 1.4 4.8
Estimated post-retirement benefit
payments 279.6 14.9 15.3 14.7 13.9 13.6 207.2
               
Total commitments $ 1,289.6 $ 223.5 $ 59.3 $ 56.2 $ 52.6 $ 298.0 $ 600.0
           
        
            

(1)
Future expected interest payments are calculated based on the stated rate for fixed rate debt and the effective interest rate at
December 31, 2015 for variable rate debt.

        The above table does not include $159.7 million of long-term deferred revenue and $202.7 million of other long-term liabilities, of which
$32.4 million relates to unrecognized income tax benefits. Excluded Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of deferred income tax
liabilities and deferred compensation. Due to factors such as the timing of book-tax difference reversals and retirement of employees, it is not
reasonably possible to estimate when these will become due.

        The amount of $19.4 million in obligations for workers compensation claims reflected an estimate for discounted claims reported to the
company and incurred but not yet reported. The Company's estimate is based upon actuarial assumptions and loss development factors and the
Company's historical loss experience. See Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

        The amount of $279.6 million in post-retirement benefit payments primarily reflected undiscounted estimated employee obligations under
the Company's qualified defined benefit pension plans, as well as obligations for the Company's non-qualified executive supplemental and
director plans and other post-retirement welfare plans. The amount of estimated obligations is based upon plan provisions, increases to
compensation levels, actuarial assumptions and health care cost trends. Of the $279.6 million in estimated obligations, approximately
$240.4 million reflect projected benefit obligations under the Company's qualified defined benefit plans. The Company maintains a trust in
which plan assets of the trust, based upon their fair value measurement as of December 31, 2015, and expected return on assets are expected to
fully fund the Company's projected benefit obligations for its qualified defined benefit plans. See Note 1, Note 13, and Note 16 in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

        Although we have entered into purchase agreements for certain key raw materials, there were no such contracts with a term exceeding one
year in place at December 31, 2015.

        Our $600 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility (the "Facility") allows for borrowings of between one month and six month
maturity at an interest rate spread of 1.125 percentage points over Libor, based upon our current investment grade credit rating. The Facility has
an annual facility fee of 0.125 percentage points of the overall facility, or $750,000. We use the facility for general working capital purposes and
to provide additional liquidity to pursue growth opportunities including acquisitions. The Facility expires on December 12, 2018. At
December 31, 2015, we had $600 million available under the Facility. The Facility provides for grid-based interest pricing based on the credit
rating of our senior unsecured bank debt or other unsecured senior debt and our utilization of the facility. Our senior unsecured debt is rated
BBB by Standard & Poor's and Baa2 by Moody's. The facility requires us to meet various restrictive covenants and limitations including certain
leverage
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ratios, interest coverage ratios, and limits on outstanding debt balances held by certain subsidiaries. We had no borrowings on our facility during
the year ended December 31, 2015.

        On November 20, 2012, we completed a public offering of $350.0 million of notes with a stated interest rate of 3.75% due November 15,
2022 (the "2022 Notes"). The 2022 Notes were issued at a discount of approximately $1.1 million, resulting in proceeds of approximately
$348.9 million. Interest on the 2022 Notes is paid each May 15 and November 15, which commenced on May 15, 2013. The proceeds were
utilized to re-pay borrowings under our $600 million revolving credit facility and fund the acquisition of Thermax on December 17, 2012.

        On December 9, 2010, we completed a public offering of $250.0 million of notes with a stated interest rate of 5.125% due December 15,
2020 (the "2020 Notes"). The 2020 Notes were issued at a discount of approximately $1.1 million, resulting in proceeds of approximately
$248.9 million. Interest on the 2020 Notes is paid each June 15 and December 15, which commenced on June 15, 2011. The proceeds were
utilized to re-pay borrowings under our revolving credit facility that were used to partially finance the acquisition of Hawk.

        We have outstanding senior notes for principal amount of $150.0 million that mature on August 15, 2016 (the "2016 Notes"). Interest on
the 2016 Notes is paid each February 15 and August 15, which commenced on February 15, 2007.

        At December 31, 2015, the fair value of our $350 million 3.75% notes due 2022, $250 million 5.125% notes due 2020 and $150 million
6.125% notes due 2016, using Level 2 inputs, is approximately $349.3 million, $268.6 million and $152.9 million, respectively. Fair value is
estimated based on current yield rates plus our estimated credit spread available for financings with similar terms and maturities.

        We also maintain a $45.0 million uncommitted line of credit, of which $45.0 million was available for borrowing as of December 31, 2015.
We had no borrowings under the uncommitted line of credit during 2015.

        As of December 31, 2015, we had outstanding letters of credit amounting to $30.2 million. Letters of credit are issued primarily to provide
security under insurance arrangements and certain borrowings and are issued under a continuing credit agreement with J.P. Morgan Chase Bank,
N.A.

        Under our various debt and credit facilities, we are required to meet various restrictive covenants and limitations, including certain leverage
ratios, interest coverage ratios, and limits on outstanding debt balances held by certain subsidiaries. We were in compliance with all covenants
and limitations in 2015 and 2014.

        We view our debt to capital ratio (defined as short-term debt plus long-term debt divided by the sum of total Shareholders' equity,
long-term debt and short-term debt) as an important indicator of our ability to utilize debt in financing acquisitions and capital investments. As
of December 31, 2015, our debt to capital ratio was 24%.

Cash Management

        Our priorities for the use of cash are to invest in growth and performance improvement opportunities for our existing businesses and
maintain assets through capital expenditures, pursue strategic acquisitions that meet shareholder return criteria, pay dividends to shareholders,
and return value to shareholders through share repurchases.

        Capital expenditures in 2016 are expected to be between $100 million and $125 million. The amount of expenditures is higher than capital
expenditures in 2015 due to planned expenditures for the Fluid Technologies segment as well as investments by Interconnect Technologies to
expand its manufacturing capacity in Dongguan, China and Franklin, WI. Planned capital expenditures for 2016 include business sustaining
projects, cost reduction efforts, and new product expansion.
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        No minimum contributions to our pension plans are required in 2016. However, during 2016 we expect to pay approximately $1.0 million
in participant benefits under the executive supplemental and director plans. In light of our plans' funded status, we do not expect to make any
discretionary contributions to our other pension plans in 2016. We did not make any contributions to the pension plans during 2015.

        We intend to pay dividends to our shareholders and have increased our dividend rate annually for the past 39 years.

        We repurchased 1,496,411 shares in 2015 as part of our plan to return capital to shareholders, utilizing $137.2 million of our cash on hand.
As of December 31, 2015, we had authority to repurchase an additional 1,517,746 shares. Shares may be repurchased at management's direction.
Purchases may occur from time-to-time in the open market and no maximum purchase price has been set. The Company plans to continue to
repurchase shares in 2016 on a systematic basis and may seek authorization from the Board of Directors to purchase additional shares in 2016.
The decision to repurchase shares will depend on price, availability, and other corporate developments.

        We believe that our cash on hand, operating cash flows, credit facilities, lines of credit, access to bank financing and capital markets, and
leasing programs provide adequate liquidity and capital resources to fund ongoing operations, repay our $150 million 2016 notes due August 15,
2016, expand existing lines of business, and make strategic acquisitions. In addition, we believe that our liquidity and capital resources from
U.S. operations are adequate to fund our U.S. operations and corporate activities without a need to repatriate funds held by subsidiaries outside
the United States. However, the ability to maintain existing credit facilities and access the capital markets can be impacted by economic
conditions outside our control, specifically credit market tightness or sustained market downturns. Our cost to borrow and capital market access
can be impacted by debt ratings assigned by independent rating agencies, based on certain credit measures such as interest coverage, funds from
operations and various leverage ratios.

Environmental

        We are subject to increasingly stringent environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to air emissions, wastewater
discharges, chemical and hazardous waste management and disposal. Some of these environmental laws hold owners or operators of land,
businesses, or offsite disposal facilities liable for their own and for previous owners' or operators' releases of hazardous or toxic substances or
wastes. Other environmental laws and regulations require the obtainment and compliance with environmental permits. To date, costs of
complying with environmental, health and safety requirements have not been material and we do not currently have any significant accruals
related to potential future costs of environmental remediation at December 31, 2015 and 2014, nor do we have any asset retirement obligations
recorded at those dates. However, the nature of our operations and our long history of industrial activities at certain of our current or former
facilities, as well as those acquired, could potentially result in material environmental liabilities or asset retirement obligations.

        While we must comply with existing and pending climate change legislation, regulation, international treaties or accords, current laws and
regulations do not have a material impact on our business, capital expenditures, or financial position. Future events, including those relating to
climate change or greenhouse gas regulation, could require us to incur expenses related to the modification or curtailment of operations,
installation of pollution control equipment, or investigation and cleanup of contaminated sites.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

        Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 in Item 8. Certain of our accounting policies require the application
of significant judgment by management in selecting the appropriate assumptions for calculating financial estimates. By their nature, these
judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. These judgments are based on our historical experience, terms of existing contracts,
our observation of trends in the industry, information provided by our customers, and information available from other outside sources, as
appropriate. We consider certain accounting policies related to revenue recognition, inventory cost and valuation, deferred revenue and extended
product warranty, valuation of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, valuation of long-lived assets and pensions and other
post-retirement plans to be critical policies due to the estimation processes involved.

        Revenue Recognition.    We recognize revenue when all of the criteria under current U.S. GAAP are met. Those include:

�
pervasive evidence of an arrangement exists,

�
delivery has occurred,

�
the customer takes ownership and assumes risk of loss,

�
collection is probable at the time of sale, and

�
the sales price is fixed or determinable.

        The first four criteria are generally a matter of fact based on the terms and conditions of sale along with estimates of delivery times for
those sales with delivery terms, and an assessment of customer credit risk at the time of sale. The most critical judgments involved in revenue
recognition are primarily those related to concluding that the sales price is determinable. We offer various early payment discounts, rebates, and
other incentives to our customers primarily for competitive reasons. We estimate the impact of these items at the time of sale based on historical
experience of the ultimate price collected for similar transactions with similar customers, industries, and geographic markets, adjusted based on
any known events or conditions that would suggest a different outcome. We believe that we have sufficient history and other information
available to produce a reliable estimate and conclude that the price is determinable at the time of sale. We reflect the impact of these various
discounts and incentives as a reduction of revenue at the time of sale and subsequently adjust the initial estimate as new information becomes
available.

        Inventories.    Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market with cost determined primarily on an average cost basis. Cost of
inventories includes direct as well as certain indirect costs associated with the acquisition and production process. These costs include raw
materials, direct and indirect labor, and manufacturing overhead. Manufacturing overhead includes materials, depreciation and amortization
related to property, plant, and equipment and other intangible assets used directly and indirectly in the acquisition and production of inventory,
and costs related to our distribution network such as inbound freight charges, purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs, warehousing
costs, internal transfer costs, and other such costs associated with preparing our products for sale.

        Under U.S. GAAP, market is defined as current replacement cost, subject to a floor and a ceiling. The floor is net realizable value less an
approximately normal profit margin and the ceiling is net realizable value. Net realizable value is defined as estimated selling price less costs of
completion and disposal. The estimates that are subject to uncertainty include estimates of selling prices, costs of completion and disposal, and
the levels of excess and obsolete inventory. The Company regularly reviews inventory quantities on hand for indicators that cost may exceed
market. These indicators include excess and obsolete inventory and trends in raw material costs or selling prices. The Company utilizes
historical write-off information as well as forecasted selling prices to determine if market is
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below cost. At year end, if any reserves are recorded they are not reversed and market is established as the inventory's new cost basis. In general,
the Company performs the test described above at a product level.

        Deferred Revenue and Extended Product Warranty.    We offer extended warranty contracts on sales of certain products; the most
significant being those offered on our installed roofing systems within the Construction Materials segment. The lives of these warranties range
from five to thirty years. All revenue from the sale of these contracts is deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the
contracts. Current costs of services performed under these contracts are expensed as incurred. We also record an additional loss and a
corresponding reserve if the total expected costs of providing services under the contract at a product line level exceed unearned revenues equal
to such excess. We estimate total expected warranty costs using quantitative measures based on historical claims experience and management
judgment.

        Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets.    Indefinite-lived intangible assets are recognized and recorded at their acquisition-date
fair values. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are tested annually, or more often if impairment indicators are
present, for impairment via a one-step process by comparing the fair value of the intangible asset with its carrying value. If the intangible asset's
carrying value exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge is recorded in current earnings for the difference. We estimate the fair value of our
indefinite-lived intangible assets based on the income approach utilizing the discounted cash flow method. We periodically re-assess
indefinite-lived intangible assets as to whether their useful lives can be determined and if so, we begin amortizing any applicable intangible
asset.

        Goodwill is not amortized but is tested annually, or more often if impairment indicators are present, for impairment at a reporting unit level.
We have determined that our operating segments are our reporting units. We have allocated goodwill to our reporting units as follows:

(in millions)
December 31,

2015
December 31,

2014
Carlisle Construction Materials $ 118.7 $ 123.3
Carlisle Interconnect Technologies 555.4 554.3
Carlisle Fluid Technologies 173.4 �
Carlisle Brake & Friction 226.6 226.6
Carlisle FoodService Products 60.3 60.3
      
Total $ 1,134.4 $ 964.5
      
    
      
        For the 2015 impairment test, four reporting units were tested for impairment using ASC 350's quantitative approach: Carlisle Construction
Materials, Carlisle Interconnect Technologies, Carlisle Brake & Friction, and Carlisle FoodService Products. We estimate that all of our
indefinite-lived intangible assets' fair values exceeded their carrying values at these reporting units. We estimated the fair value of our reporting
units primarily based on the income approach utilizing the discounted cash flow method. We also utilized fair value estimates derived from the
market approach utilizing the public company market multiple method to validate the results of the discounted cash flow method, which required
us to make assumptions about the applicability of those multiples to our reporting units. The discounted cash flow method required us to
estimate future cash flows and discount those amounts to present value. The key assumptions that drove fair value included:

�
Industry weighted-average cost of capital ("WACC"): We utilized a WACC relative to each reporting unit's industry as the
discount rate for estimated future cash flows. The WACC is intended to represent a rate of return that would be expected by
a market place participant.
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�
EBIT margins: We utilized historical and expected EBIT margins, which varied based on the projections of each reporting
unit being evaluated.

        Fair value exceeded carrying value for the above reporting units at December, 31, 2015. While we believe these assumptions are
appropriate, they are subject to uncertainty and by nature include judgments and estimates regarding various factors including the realization of
sales price increases, fluctuation in price and availability in key raw materials, and operating efficiencies.

        The Carlisle Fluid Technologies reporting unit was tested for impairment using ASC 350's qualitative approach due to the fact that the
business that comprises the CFT reporting unit was acquired April 1, 2015 and based on our comparison of estimates of future performance at
December 31, 2015 versus our estimates at the time of the acquisition we concluded that there were no significant changes and therefore no
indicators of impairment at December 31, 2015. Our estimates of future performance considered factors such as sales growth, expected raw
materials pricing, and the business environment of the industries CFT serves. We will continue to evaluate the CFT reporting unit for indicators
of impairment on an interim basis and expect to perform a quantitative analysis at the next annual impairment test.

        As discussed in Item 2 of the Company's September 30, 2015 Quarterly Report on 10-Q under Financial Reporting Segments, we
performed an interim goodwill impairment test for the Carlisle Brake & Friction reporting unit as of September 30, 2015 and concluded that its
fair value exceeded its carrying value. During the annual impairment testing performed as of October 1, 2015, we estimated that CBF's fair
value, utilizing the method discussed above, similarly continued to exceed its carrying value by approximately 15%. Further, based on our
estimates of fair value for specific indefinite-lived intangible assets utilized by the CBF reporting unit we concluded that no impairment exists at
December 31, 2015. We have and will continue to monitor EBIT margins versus forecasted performance for this reporting unit given the
economic conditions in its industry as to whether there are any indicators of impairment. Consequently, if our current estimates of recovery in
CBF's end markets do not materialize as expected and/or the U.S. Dollar continues to strengthen, and therefore results continue to be lower than
anticipated, or if interest rates and other factors affecting the industry WACC adversely change, an impairment loss may be recorded.

        See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for more information regarding goodwill.

        Valuation of Long-Lived Assets.    Long-lived assets or asset groups, including amortizable intangible assets, are tested for impairment
whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset or asset group may not be recoverable. For purposes of testing
for impairment, we group our long-lived assets classified as held and used at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely
independent of the cash flows from other assets and liabilities. Our asset groupings vary based on the related business in which the long-lived
asset is employed and the interrelationship between those long-lived assets in producing net cash flows; for example, multiple manufacturing
facilities may work in concert with one another or may work on a stand-alone basis to produce net cash flows. We utilize our long-lived assets in
multiple industries and economic environments and our asset grouping reflects these various factors

        We monitor the operating and cash flow results of our long-lived assets or asset groups classified as held and used to identify whether
events and circumstances indicate the remaining useful lives of those assets should be adjusted, or if the carrying value of those assets or asset
groups may not be recoverable. In the event indicators of impairment are identified, undiscounted estimated future cash flows are compared to
the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset group. If the undiscounted estimated future cash flows are less than the carrying amount, we
determine the fair value of the asset or asset group and record an impairment charge in current earnings to the extent carrying value exceeds fair
value. Fair values may be determined based on estimated discounted cash flows, by prices
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for like or similar assets in similar markets, or a combination of both. There are currently no long-lived assets or asset groups classified as held
and used for which the related undiscounted cash flows do not substantially exceed their carrying amounts.

        Long-lived assets or asset groups that are part of a disposal group that meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale are not assessed for
impairment but rather if fair value, less cost to sell, of the disposal group is less than its carrying value a loss on sale is recorded against the
disposal group.

        Pensions.    We maintain defined benefit retirement plans for certain employees. The annual net periodic expense and benefit obligations
related to these plans are determined on an actuarial basis. This determination requires assumptions to be made concerning general economic
conditions (particularly interest rates), expected return on plan assets, increases to compensation levels, and health care cost trends. These
assumptions are reviewed periodically by management in consultation with our independent actuary and investment manager. Changes in the
assumptions to reflect actual experience can result in a change in the net periodic expense and accrued benefit obligations. Beginning in 2016,
we will move from utilizing a weighted-average discount rate, which was derived from the yield curve used to measure the benefit obligation at
the beginning of the period, to a spot yield rate curve to estimate the pension benefit obligation and net periodic benefit costs. The change in
estimate provides a more accurate measurement of service and interest costs by applying the spot rate that could be used to settle each projected
cash flow individually. This change in estimate is not expected to have a material effect on net periodic benefit costs for 2016.

        The defined benefit pension plans' assets consist primarily of fixed-income and equity mutual funds, which are considered Level 1 assets
under the fair value hierarchy as their fair value is derived from market-observable data. We use the market related valuation method to
determine the value of plan assets, which recognizes the change of the fair value of the plan assets over five years. If actual experience differs
from these long-term assumptions, the difference is recorded as an unrecognized actuarial gain (loss) and then amortized into earnings over a
period of time based on the average future service period, which may cause the expense related to providing these benefits to increase or
decrease. The weighted-average expected rate of return on plan assets was 6.20% for the 2015 valuation. While we believe 6.20% is a
reasonable expectation based on the plan assets' mix of fixed income and equity investments, significant differences in actual experience or
significant changes in the assumptions used may materially affect the pension obligations and future expense. The effects of a 0.25% increase or
decrease in the expected rate of return would cause our estimated 2015 pension expense to be approximately $0.4 million lower or $0.4 million
higher, respectively. The assumed weighted-average discount rate was 4.15% for the 2015 valuation. The effects of a 0.25% increase or decrease
in the assumed discount rate would cause our projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2015 to be approximately $3.8 million lower or
$3.7 million higher, respectively. We used a weighted-average assumed rate of compensation increase of 4.29% for the 2015 valuation. This rate
is not expected to change in the foreseeable future and is based on our actual rate of compensation increase over the past several years, adjusted
to reflect management's expectations regarding future labor costs.

        We also have a limited number of unfunded post-retirement benefit programs that provide certain retirees with life insurance, medical and
prescription drug coverage. The annual net periodic expense and benefit obligations of these programs are also determined on an actuarial basis
and are subject to assumptions on the discount rate and increases in compensation levels. The discount rate used for the 2015 valuation was
3.99%. The effects of a 1% increase or decrease in either the discount rate or the assumed health care cost trend rates would not be material.
Similar to the defined benefit retirement plans, these plans' assumptions are reviewed periodically by management in consultation with our
independent actuary. Changes in the assumptions can result in a change in the net periodic expense and accrued benefit obligations.
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        Income Taxes.    We record income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, which includes an estimate of taxes payable or
refundable for the current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our
financial statements or tax returns.

        Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. We periodically assess the realizability of deferred tax assets and
the adequacy of deferred tax liabilities.

        Realization of deferred tax assets involves estimates regarding (1) the timing and amount of the reversal of taxable temporary differences,
(2) expected future taxable income, and (3) the impact of tax planning strategies. We believe that it is more likely than not that we may not
realize the benefit of certain deferred tax assets and, accordingly, have established a valuation allowance against them. In assessing the need for
a valuation allowance, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including past operating results, projections of future taxable
income and the feasibility of and potential changes to ongoing tax planning strategies. Although realization is not assured for the remaining
deferred tax assets, we believe it is more likely than not that the remaining deferred tax assets will be realized. However, deferred tax assets
could be reduced in the near term if our estimates of taxable income during the carryforward period are significantly reduced or tax planning
strategies are no longer viable.

        The amount of income tax that we pay annually is dependent on various factors, including the timing of certain deductions and ongoing
audits by federal, state and foreign tax authorities, which may result in proposed adjustments. We perform reviews of our income tax positions
on a quarterly basis and accrue for potential uncertain tax positions. We believe we have adequately provided for any reasonably foreseeable
outcome related to these matters.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Effective

        See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for more information regarding new accounting standards which are not yet
effective.

Forward-Looking Statements

        This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Forward-looking statements generally use words such as "expect," "foresee," "anticipate," "believe," "project," "should," "estimate," "will,"
"plans", "forecast" and similar expressions, and reflect our expectations concerning the future. Such statements are made based on known events
and circumstances at the time of publication, and as such, are subject in the future to unforeseen risks and uncertainties. It is possible that our
future performance may differ materially from current expectations expressed in these forward-looking statements, due to a variety of factors
such as: increasing price and product/service competition by foreign and domestic competitors, including new entrants; technological
developments and changes; the ability to continue to introduce competitive new products and services on a timely, cost-effective basis; our mix
of products/services; increases in raw material costs which cannot be recovered in product pricing; domestic and foreign governmental and
public policy changes including environmental and industry regulations; threats associated with and efforts to combat terrorism; protection and
validity of patent and other intellectual property rights; the successful integration and identification of our strategic acquisitions; the cyclical
nature of our businesses; and the outcome of pending and future litigation and governmental proceedings. In addition, such statements could be
affected by general industry and market conditions and growth rates, the condition of the financial and credit markets, and general domestic and
international economic conditions including interest rate and currency exchange rate fluctuations. Further, any conflict in the
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international arena may adversely affect general market conditions and our future performance. We undertake no duty to update forward-looking
statements.

 Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

        We are exposed to market risk in the form of changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, and commodity prices for raw
materials. We may, from time to time, enter into derivative financial instruments to manage these risks; however, we do not utilize such
instruments or contracts for speculative or trading purposes. In the event that we enter into a derivative financial instrument, it is possible that
such future dated contracts could no longer serve as a hedge if the projected cash flow does not occur as anticipated at the time of contract
initiation.

        We are exposed to interest rate risks as a result of our borrowing and investing activities, which principally includes long-term borrowings
used to maintain liquidity and to fund our business operations and capital requirements. From time to time, to manage our mix of fixed and
variable interest rate debt effectively, we may enter into interest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 there were no interest rate swaps
in place and, at both dates, all of our long-term debt (including the current portion) was fixed-rate and U.S. dollar denominated. We have a
$600 million revolving credit facility that allows for borrowings at a variable interest rate. We had no outstanding borrowings under this facility
as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

        The nature and amount of our long-term debt may vary from time to time as a result of business requirements, market conditions, and other
factors. We consider the risk to our results of operations from changes in market rates of interest to be minimal as such instruments are
fixed-rate. However, for purposes of calculating the market risks associated with the fair value of our long-term debt, we use a one hundred basis
point change in market interest rates. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the market risk associated with the fair value of our long-term debt,
assuming a one hundred basis point change in interest rates was approximately $35 million and $40 million, respectively.

        As a multi-national company, a portion of our operating cash flows are denominated in foreign currencies, and as such we are exposed to
market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. We are primarily exposed to the exchange rates of currencies including the
Canadian Dollar, Chinese Renminbi, Euro, British Pound, and Japanese Yen. We continually evaluate our foreign currency exposure based on
current market conditions and the locations in which we conduct our business. We manage most of our foreign currency exposure on a
consolidated basis, which allows us to net certain exposures and take advantage of natural offsets. In order to mitigate foreign currency risk, we
may, from time to time, enter into derivative financial instruments, generally foreign currency forward contracts, to hedge the cash flows related
to certain foreign currency denominated sales and purchase transactions expected within one year and the related recognized trade receivable or
payable. The gains and losses on these contracts offset changes in the value of the related exposures. It is our policy to enter into foreign
currency derivative financial instruments only to the extent considered necessary to meet the objectives set forth above. We generally do not
hedge the risk from translation of sales and earnings into U.S. dollars for financial reporting.

        We had foreign exchange forward contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $7.1 million outstanding as of December 31, 2015. The
fair value of these contracts for the reporting period is minimal as they were entered into at or near December 31, 2015. The near term sensitivity
of these contracts to changes in foreign currency exchange rates is also minimal as they are scheduled to mature in the first quarter of 2016.
Further, changes in the fair value of these contracts will be offset by changes in the cash flows of the underlying foreign currency denominated
assets and liabilities which the contracts are intended to mitigate.
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        We continually address the impact of changes in commodity prices on our results of operations and cash flow. Our exposure to changes in
commodity prices is principally indirect as we do not directly purchase exchange-traded commodities, but rather purchase raw materials that are
a result of further downstream processing (as noted in Item 1 of this Form 10-K), primarily those inputs resulting from processing crude oil,
natural gas, iron ore, gold, silver, and copper. We generally manage the risk of changes in commodity prices that impact our raw material costs
by seeking to (1) offset increased costs through increases in prices, (2) alter the nature and mix of raw materials used to manufacture our finished
goods or (3) enter into commodity-linked sales or purchase contracts, all to the extent possible based on competitive and other economic factors.
We may also from time to time enter into derivative financial instruments to mitigate such impact however, at December 31, 2015 and 2014 we
had no derivative financial instruments in place.
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 Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Carlisle Companies Incorporated

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Carlisle Companies Incorporated as of December 31, 2015 and 2014,
and the related consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2015. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

        In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Carlisle Companies Incorporated at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Carlisle
Companies Incorporated's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal
Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our
report dated February 8, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Charlotte, North Carolina
February 8, 2016
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 Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Carlisle Companies Incorporated

        We have audited Carlisle Companies Incorporated's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria
established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework) (the COSO criteria). Carlisle Companies Incorporated's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

        We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

        A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

        As indicated in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management's assessment of and
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of the Finishing Brands business
which was acquired on April 1, 2015 and is reported as new reporting segment named Carlisle Fluid Technologies ("CFT"). The results of CFT
are included in the 2015 consolidated financial statements of Carlisle Companies Incorporated and constitute $659.5 million and $620.8 million
of total and net assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2015 and $203.2 million and $20.8 million of net sales and earnings before interest and
income taxes, respectively, for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Carlisle Companies Incorporated
also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of CFT.

        In our opinion, Carlisle Companies Incorporated maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2015, based on the COSO criteria.
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        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Carlisle Companies Incorporated as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and the related consolidated statements of
earnings and comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015 of
Carlisle Companies Incorporated and our report dated February 8, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Charlotte, North Carolina
February 8, 2016
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Carlisle Companies Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in millions except share and per share amounts) 2015 2014 2013
Net sales $ 3,543.2 $ 3,204.0 $ 2,943.0

Cost of goods sold 2,536.5 2,384.5 2,197.4
Selling and administrative expenses 461.9 379.0 353.7
Research and development expenses 42.8 33.8 29.3
Other (income) expense, net 0.1 (1.6) (4.2)
        
Earnings before interest and income taxes 501.9 408.3 366.8

Interest expense, net 34.0 32.2 33.8
        
Earnings before income taxes from continuing operations 467.9 376.1 333.0

Income tax expense (Note 6) 148.3 124.4 97.8
        
Income from continuing operations 319.6 251.7 235.2

Discontinued operations (Note 4)
Income (loss) before income taxes 0.1 (2.1) (60.5)
Income tax benefit � (1.7) (35.0)
        
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.1 (0.4) (25.5)
        
Net income $ 319.7 $ 251.3 $ 209.7
        
     
      
Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to common shares(1)
Income from continuing operations $ 4.89 $ 3.89 $ 3.69
Loss from discontinued operations � � (0.40)
        
Basic earnings per share $ 4.89 $ 3.89 $ 3.29
        
     
      
Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to common shares(1)
Income from continuing operations $ 4.82 $ 3.83 $ 3.61
Loss from discontinued operations � (0.01) (0.39)
        
Diluted earnings per share $ 4.82 $ 3.82 $ 3.22
        
     
      
Comprehensive Income
Net income $ 319.7 $ 251.3 $ 209.7
Other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 18)
Change in foreign currency translation (29.6) (26.1) (1.6)
Change in accrued post-retirement benefit liability, net of tax 4.6 (3.8) 5.9
Loss on hedging activities, net of tax (0.3) (0.4) (0.3)
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Other comprehensive income (loss) (25.3) (30.3) 4.0
        
Comprehensive income $ 294.4 $ 221.0 $ 213.7
        
     
       

(1)
Earning per share calculated based on the two-class method. See Note 7 for detailed calculations.

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Carlisle Companies Incorporated

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in millions except share and per share amounts)
December 31,

2015
December 31,

2014
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 410.7 $ 730.8
Receivables, net of allowance of $4.7 in 2015 and $4.8 in 2014 502.5 439.2
Inventories (Note 8) 356.0 339.1
Deferred income taxes (Note 6) � 35.4
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 50.3 67.0
      
Total current assets 1,319.5 1,611.5
      
Property, plant, and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $568.7 in 2015 and $513.7 in
2014 (Note 9) 585.8 547.3

Other assets:
Goodwill, net (Note 10) 1,134.4 964.5
Other intangible assets, net (Note 10) 887.8 611.7
Other long-term assets 26.6 23.7
      
Total other assets 2,048.8 1,599.9
     
TOTAL ASSETS $ 3,954.1 $ 3,758.7
      
    
      
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt, including current maturities (Note 12) $ 149.9 $ �
Accounts payable 212.6 198.0
Accrued expenses 219.4 176.3
Deferred revenue (Note 14) 24.0 17.9
      
Total current liabilities 605.9 392.2
      
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt (Note 12) 598.7 749.8
Deferred revenue (Note 14) 159.7 151.1
Other long-term liabilities (Note 16) 242.4 260.6
     
Total long-term liabilities 1,000.8 1,161.5
      
Shareholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par value per share. Authorized and unissued 5,000,000 shares � �
Common stock, $1 par value per share. Authorized 200,000,000 shares; 78,661,248 shares issued;
64,051,600 outstanding in 2015 and 64,691,059 outstanding in 2014 78.7 78.7
Additional paid-in capital 293.4 247.8
Deferred compensation equity (Note 5) 8.0 6.0
Cost of shares in treasury�14,383,241 shares in 2015 and 13,723,201 shares in 2014 (327.4) (200.1)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 18) (87.1) (61.8)
Retained earnings 2,381.8 2,134.4
      
Total shareholders' equity 2,347.4 2,205.0
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TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 3,954.1 $ 3,758.7
     
    
      

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Carlisle Companies Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended
December 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Operating activities
Net income $ 319.7 $ 251.3 $ 209.7
Reconciliation of net income to cash flows provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 73.5 64.7 75.4
Amortization 55.8 39.3 38.5
Non-cash compensation, net of tax benefit 2.7 3.3 11.9
Gain on sale of businesses � � (6.2)
(Gain) loss on sale of property and equipment, net 1.0 (0.9) (1.3)
Impairment of assets � � 100.3
Deferred taxes (15.8) (9.9) (61.7)
Foreign exchange (gain) loss � (2.0) 0.1
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions and divestitures:
Receivables (11.8) (18.1) 8.4
Inventories 23.0 (27.7) 35.6
Prepaid expenses and other assets 6.7 (5.5) 11.1
Accounts payable (2.9) (5.1) (20.6)
Accrued expenses and deferred revenues 78.4 14.5 12.6
Long-term liabilities 1.2 (8.5) 0.9
Other operating activities (2.3) 0.5 �
        
Net cash provided by operating activities 529.2 295.9 414.7
        
Investing activities
Capital expenditures (72.1) (118.8) (110.8)
Acquisitions, net of cash (598.9) (194.0) �
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 0.2 5.3 11.9
Proceeds from sale of business � 9.7 369.0
        
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (670.8) (297.8) 270.1
        
Financing activities
Net change in short-term borrowings and revolving credit lines (1.4) � �
Repayments of long-term debt (1.5) (1.5) (1.5)
Debt issuance costs � � (0.6)
Acquistion date value of contingent consideration settled � � (5.2)
Dividends paid (72.3) (61.2) (53.7)
Proceeds from issuance of treasury shares and stock options 39.4 42.5 19.5
Repurchases of common stock (137.2) � �
      
Net cash used in financing activities (173.0) (20.2) (41.5)
        
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (5.5) (1.6) (1.3)
        
Change in cash and cash equivalents (320.1) (23.7) 642.0
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of period 730.8 754.5 112.5
        
End of period $ 410.7 $ 730.8 $ 754.5
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Carlisle Companies Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

(In millions, except share and per share amounts)

Common Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(loss)

Shares in TreasuryAdditional
Paid-In
Capital

Deferred
Compensation

Equity
Retained
Earnings

Total
Shareholders'

EquityShares Amount Shares Cost
Balance at December 31,
2012 63,127,299 $ 78.7 $ 171.4 $ 0.6 $ (35.5) $ 1,788.3 15,249,714 $ (215.4) $ 1,788.1
Net income � � � � 209.7 � 209.7
Other comprehensive
income, net of tax � � � 4.0 � � 4.0
Cash dividends�$0.84 per
share � � � � (53.7) � (53.7)
Stock based compensation
other(1) 531,478 � 29.7 2.4 � � (488,233) 5.9 38.0

                  
Balance at December 31,
2013 63,658,777 78.7 201.1 3.0 (31.5) 1,944.3 14,761,481 (209.5) 1,986.1
Net income � � � � 251.3 � 251.3
Other comprehensive loss,
net of tax � � � (30.3) � � (30.3)
Cash dividends�$0.94 per
share � � � � (61.2) � (61.2)
Stock based
compensation(1) 1,032,282 � 46.7 3.0 � � (1,038,280) 9.4 59.1

                
Balance at December 31,
2014 64,691,059 78.7 247.8 6.0 (61.8) 2,134.4 13,723,201 (200.1) 2,205.0
Net income � � � � 319.7 � 319.7
Other comprehensive loss,
net of tax � � � (25.3) � � (25.3)
Cash dividends�$1.10 per
share � � � � (72.3) � (72.3)
Common stock repurchase (1,496,411) � � � � � 1,496,411 (137.2) (137.2)
Stock based
compensation(1) 856,952 � 45.6 2.0 � � (836,371) 9.9 57.5

                  
Balance at December 31,
2015 64,051,600 $ 78.7 $ 293.4 $ 8.0 $ (87.1) $ 2,381.8 14,383,241 $ (327.4) $ 2,347.4
                
          
                  

(1)
Stock based compensation includes stock option activity, net of tax, and restricted share activity

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1�Summary of Accounting Policies

Nature of Business

        Carlisle Companies Incorporated, its wholly owned subsidiaries and their divisions or subsidiaries, referred to herein as the "Company" or
"Carlisle," is a global diversified company that designs, manufactures, and markets a wide range of products that serve a broad range of niche
markets including commercial roofing, energy, agriculture, mining, construction, aerospace and defense electronics, medical technology,
transportation, general industrial, protective coating, wood, auto refinishing, foodservice, and healthcare and sanitary maintenance. The
Company markets its products as a component supplier to original equipment manufacturers, distributors, as well as directly to end-users.

Basis of Consolidation

        The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All material intercompany transactions and
accounts have been eliminated. The Company's fiscal year-end is December 31.

Use of Estimates

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
("United States" or "U.S.") requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents

        Debt securities with a maturity of three months or less when acquired are considered cash equivalents.

Revenue Recognition

        Revenues are recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, goods have been shipped (or services have been rendered),
the customer takes ownership and assumes risk of loss, collection is probable, and the sales price is fixed or determinable.

        Provisions for rights of return, discounts, and rebates to customers and other adjustments are provided for at the time of sale as a deduction
to revenue. Costs related to standard warranties are estimated at the time of sale and recorded as a component of Cost of goods sold.

Shipping and Handling Costs

        Costs incurred to physically transfer product to customer locations are recorded as a component of cost of goods sold. Charges passed on to
customers are recorded into net sales.

Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

        Receivables are stated at net realizable value. The Company performs ongoing evaluations of its customers' current creditworthiness, as
determined by the review of their credit information to determine if events have occurred subsequent to the recognition of the revenue and
related receivable
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 1�Summary of Accounting Policies (Continued)

that provides evidence that such receivable will be realized at an amount less than that recognized at the time of sale. Estimates of net realizable
value are based on historical losses, adjusting for current economic conditions and, in some cases, evaluating specific customer accounts for risk
of loss. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $4.7 million at December 31, 2015, $4.8 million at December 31, 2014, and $3.3 million at
December 31, 2013. Changes in economic conditions in specific markets in which the Company operates could have an effect on reserve
balances required and on the ability to recognize revenue until cash is collected or collectability is probable. The following is activity in the
Company's allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31:

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Balance at January 1 $ 4.8 $ 3.3 $ 5.2
Provision charged to expense 0.3 1.2 0.1
Provision charged to other accounts 0.1 1.1 (1.4)
Amounts written off, net of recoveries (0.5) (0.8) (0.6)
        
Balance at December 31 $ 4.7 $ 4.8 $ 3.3
      
     
        
Inventories

        Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market with cost determined primarily on an average cost basis. Cost of inventories includes
direct as well as certain indirect costs associated with the acquisition and production process. These costs include raw materials, direct and
indirect labor, and manufacturing overhead. Manufacturing overhead includes materials, depreciation and amortization related to property, plant,
and equipment and other intangible assets used directly and indirectly in the acquisition and production of inventory, and costs related to the
Company's distribution network such as inbound freight charges, purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs, warehousing costs, internal
transfer costs, and other such costs associated with preparing the Company's products for sale.

Deferred Revenue and Extended Product Warranty

        The Company offers extended warranty contracts on sales of certain products; the most significant being those offered on its installed
roofing systems within the Construction Materials segment. The lives of these warranties range from five to thirty years. All revenue for the sale
of these contracts is deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the contracts. Current costs of services performed under these
contracts are expensed as incurred and included in Cost of good sold. The Company also records a reserve within Accrued expenses if the total
expected costs of providing services at a product line level exceed unearned revenues. Total expected costs of providing extended product
warranty services are actuarially determined using standard quantitative measures based on historical claims experience and management
judgment. See Note 14 for additional information regarding deferred revenue and extended product warranties.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

        Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost including interest costs associated with qualifying capital additions. Costs allocated to
property, plant, and equipment of acquired companies are based on estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. Depreciation is principally
computed on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Depreciation includes the amortization
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of capital leases. Asset lives are 20 to 40 years for buildings, five to 15 years for machinery and equipment, and three to ten years for leasehold
improvements.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

        Long-lived assets or asset groups, including amortizable intangible assets, are tested for impairment whenever events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset or asset group may not be recoverable. For purposes of testing for impairment, the Company
groups its long-lived assets classified as held and used at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash
flows from other assets and liabilities. The Company's asset groupings vary based on the related business in which the long-lived asset is
employed and the interrelationship between those long-lived assets in producing net cash flows; for example, multiple manufacturing facilities
may work in concert with one another or may work on a stand-alone basis to produce net cash flows. The Company utilizes its long-lived assets
in multiple industries and economic environments and its asset groupings reflect these various factors.

        The Company monitors the operating and cash flow results of its long-lived assets or asset groups classified as held and used to identify
whether events and circumstances indicate the remaining useful lives of those assets should be adjusted, or if the carrying value of those assets
or asset groups may not be recoverable. In the event indicators of impairment are identified, undiscounted estimated future cash flows are
compared to the carrying value of the long-lived asset or asset group. If the undiscounted estimated future cash flows are less than the carrying
amount, the Company determines the fair value of the asset or asset group and records an impairment charge in current earnings to the extent
carrying value exceeds fair value. Fair values may be determined based on estimated discounted cash flows, by prices for like or similar assets in
similar markets, or a combination of both.

        Long-lived assets or asset groups that are part of a disposal group that meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale are not assessed for
impairment but rather if fair value, less cost to sell, of the disposal group is less than its carrying value a loss is recorded against the disposal
group.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

        Intangible assets are recognized and recorded at their acquisition-date fair values. Intangible assets that are subject to amortization are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. Definite-lived intangible assets consist primarily of acquired customer relationships and
patents, non-compete agreements and intellectual property. The Company determines the useful life of its customer relationship intangible assets
based on multiple factors including the size and make-up of the acquired customer base, the expected dissipation of those customers over time,
the Company's own experience in the particular industry, the impact of known trends such as technological obsolescence, product demand, or
other factors, and the period over which expected cash flows are used to measure the fair value of the intangible asset at acquisition. The
Company periodically re-assesses the useful lives of its customer relationship intangible assets when events or circumstances indicate that useful
lives have significantly changed from the previous estimate.

        Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are tested annually, or more often if impairment indicators are present,
for impairment via a one-step process by comparing the fair value of the intangible asset with its carrying value. If the intangible asset's carrying
value exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge is recorded in current earnings for the difference. The Company estimates the fair value of its
indefinite-lived intangible assets based on the income approach utilizing
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the discounted cash flow method. The Company's annual testing date for indefinite-lived intangible assets is October 1. The Company
periodically re-assesses indefinite-lived intangible assets as to whether their useful lives can be determined and if so, begins amortizing any
applicable intangible asset.

        Goodwill is not amortized but is tested annually, or more often if impairment indicators are present, for impairment at a reporting unit level.
The Company's annual testing date for goodwill is October 1. The Company has determined that its operating segments are its reporting units.

        See Note 10 for additional information regarding goodwill and other intangible assets.

Lease Arrangements

        The Company is a party to various lease arrangements that include scheduled rent increases, rent holidays, or may provide for contingent
rentals or incentive payments to be made to the Company as part of the terms of the lease. Scheduled rent increases and rent holidays are
included in the determination of minimum lease payments when assessing lease classification and, along with any lease incentives, are included
in rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Scheduled rent increases that are dependent upon a change in an index or rate such as
the consumer price index or prime rate are included in the determination of rental expense at the time the rate or index changes. Contingent
rentals are excluded from the determination of minimum lease payments when assessing lease classification and are included in the
determination of rent expense when the event that will require additional rents is considered probable. See Note 11 for additional information
regarding rent expense.

Contingencies and Insurance Recoveries

        The Company is exposed to losses related to various potential claims related to its employee obligations and other matters in the normal
course of business, including litigation. The Company records a liability related to such potential claims, both those reported to the Company
and incurred but not yet reported, when probable and reasonably estimable and with respect to workers' compensation obligations. The Company
utilizes actuarial models to estimate the ultimate total cost of such claims, primarily based on historical loss experience and expectations about
future costs of providing workers compensation benefits.

        As part of its risk management strategy, the Company maintains occurrence-based insurance contracts related to certain contingent losses
primarily workers' compensation, medical and dental, general liability, property, and product liability claims up to applicable retention limits.
The Company records a recovery under these insurance contracts when such recovery is deemed probable. See Note 11 for additional
information regarding contingencies and insurance recoveries.

Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefits

        The Company maintains defined benefit pension plans for certain employees. Additionally, the Company has a limited number of
post-retirement benefit programs that provide certain retirees with life insurance, medical and prescription drug coverage. The annual net
periodic expense and benefit obligations related to these plans are determined on an actuarial basis annually on December 31, unless a
remeasurement event occurs in an interim period. This determination requires assumptions to be made concerning general economic conditions
(particularly interest rates), expected return on plan
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assets, increases to compensation levels, and health care cost trends. These assumptions are reviewed periodically by management in
consultation with its independent actuary. Changes in the assumptions to reflect actual experience can result in a change in the net periodic
expense and accrued benefit obligations.

        The defined benefit pension plans' assets are measured at fair value annually on December 31, unless a remeasurement event occurs in an
interim period. The Company uses the market related valuation method to determine the value of plan assets for purposes of determining the
expected return on plan assets component of net periodic benefit cost. The market related valuation method recognizes the change of the fair
value of the plan assets over five years. If actual experience differs from these long-term assumptions, the difference is recorded as an
unrecognized actuarial gain (loss) and then amortized into earnings over a period of time based on the average future service period, which may
cause the expense related to providing these benefits to increase or decrease. See Note 13 for additional information regarding these plans and
the associated plan assets.

Income Taxes

        Income taxes are recorded in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, which includes an estimate of taxes payable or refundable for the
current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company's financial
statements or tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. See Note 6 for additional information
regarding income taxes.

Stock-Based Compensation

        The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under the fair-value method. Accordingly, equity classified stock-based
compensation cost is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and is recognized as expense over the requisite service
period, which generally matches the stated vesting period of the award, but may also be shorter if the employee is retirement-eligible and under
the award's terms may fully-vest upon retirement from the Company. The Company recognizes expense for awards that have graded vesting
features under the graded vesting method, which considers each separately vesting tranche as though they were, in substance, multiple awards.
See Note 5 for additional information regarding stock-based compensation.

Foreign Currency Matters

        The functional currency of the Company's subsidiaries outside the United States is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the subsidiary operates. Assets and liabilities of these operations are translated at the exchange rate in effect at each balance sheet date.
Income statement accounts are translated at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the year. Translation adjustments arising from the use
of differing exchange rates from period to period are included as a component of shareholders' equity in Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss). Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary assets and liabilities and associated
income statement activity of foreign subsidiaries where the functional currency is the U.S. Dollar and the records are maintained in the local
currency are included in Other (income) expense, net.
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New Accounting Standards Adopted

        In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes
("ASU 2015-17"). ASU 2015-17 requires entities to present deferred tax assets and liabilities as noncurrent in a classified balance sheet instead
of separating into current and noncurrent amounts. ASU 2105-17 is effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods, on a prospective or retrospective basis. Early adoption is permitted for all
companies in any interim or annual period. ASU 2015-17 was early adopted as of December 31, 2015 on a prospective basis and prior periods
have not been restated. The adoption of ASU 2015-17 did not have an impact on the Company's consolidated results of operations, net assets, or
cash flows. See Note 6 for additional information regarding deferred tax assets and liabilities.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Effective

        In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2014-09 outlines a single, comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition
guidance issued by the FASB, including industry specific guidance. ASU 2014-09 provides accounting guidance for all revenue arising from
contracts with customers and affects all entities that enter into contracts with customers to provide goods and services. The guidance also
provides a model for the measurement and recognition of gains and losses on the sale of certain nonfinancial assets, such as property and
equipment, including real estate.

        ASU 2014-09 is effective for annual reporting periods, including interim reporting periods within those periods, beginning after
December 15, 2017. The new standard must be adopted using either a full retrospective approach for all periods presented in the period of
adoption or a modified retrospective approach.

        ASU 2014-09 also requires entities to disclose both quantitative and qualitative information to enable users of the financial statements to
understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

        We have not yet determined the impact of adopting the standard on our financial statements nor have we determined whether we will utilize
the full retrospective or the modified retrospective approach.

        In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs ("ASU 2015-03"). ASU 2015-03
requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying
amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. ASU 2015-03 is effective for annual reporting periods, including interim reporting
periods within those periods, beginning after December 15, 2015, and early adoption is permitted. The provisions of ASU 2015-03 are not
expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial condition.

        In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-15, Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with
Line-of-Credit Arrangements ("ASU 2015-15"). ASU 2015-15 expands guidance provided in ASU 2015-03 and states that presentation of costs
associated with securing a revolving line of credit as an asset is permitted, regardless of whether a balance is outstanding. ASU 2015-15 is
effective for annual reporting periods, including interim reporting periods within those
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periods, beginning after December 15, 2015, and early adoption is permitted. The provisions of ASU 2015-15 are not expected to have a
material effect on the Company's financial condition.

        In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-05, Customer's Accounting For Fees Paid In A Cloud Computing Arrangement
("ASU 2015-05"), which provides guidance for a customer's accounting for cloud computing costs. ASU 2015-05 is effective for annual
reporting periods, including interim reporting periods within those periods, beginning after December 15, 2015. The provisions of ASU 2015-05
are not expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

        In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory ("ASU 2015-11"), which applies to inventory
valued at first-in, first-out ("FIFO") or average cost. ASU 2015-11 requires inventory to be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable
value, rather than at the lower of cost or market. ASU 2015-11 is effective on a prospective basis for annual periods, including interim reporting
periods within those periods, beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted as of the beginning of an interim or annual
reporting period. The Company reports inventory on an average-cost basis and thus will be required to adopt the standard; however, the
provisions of ASU 2015-11 are not expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial condition or results of operations.

        In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Simplifying the Accounting for
Measurement-Period Adjustments ("ASU 2015-16"). ASU 2015-16 eliminates the requirement to restate prior period financial statements for
measurement period adjustments. The new guidance requires that the cumulative impact of a measurement period adjustment (including the
impact on prior periods) be recognized in the reporting period in which the adjustment is identified. In addition, separate presentation on the face
of the income statement or disclosure in the notes is required regarding the portion of the adjustment recorded in the current period earnings, by
line item, that would have been recorded in previous reporting periods if the adjustment to the provisional amounts had been recognized as of the
acquisition date. ASU 2015-16 is to be applied prospectively for measurement period adjustments that occur after the effective date.
ASU 2015-16 is effective for annual reporting periods, including interim reporting periods within those periods, beginning after December 15,
2015, and early adoption is permitted. Since it is prospective, the impact of ASU 2015-16 on the Company's financial condition and earnings
will depend upon the nature of any measurement period adjustments identified in future periods.

Note 2�Segment Information

        The Company's operations are reported in the following segments:

        Carlisle Construction Materials ("CCM" or the "Construction Materials segment")�the principal products of this segment are
insulation materials, rubber (EPDM), thermoplastic polyolefin (TPO), and polyvinyl chloride (PVC) roofing membranes used predominantly on
non-residential low-sloped roofs, related roofing accessories, including flashings, fasteners, sealing tapes, and coatings and waterproofing
products. The markets served include new construction, re-roofing and maintenance of low-sloped roofs, water containment, HVAC sealants,
and coatings and waterproofing.

        Carlisle Interconnect Technologies ("CIT" or the "Interconnect Technologies segment") �the principal products of this segment are
high-performance wire, cable, connectors, contacts, and cable
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assemblies for the transfer of power and data primarily for the aerospace, medical, defense electronics, test and measurement equipment, and
select industrial markets.

        Carlisle Fluid Technologies ("CFT" or the "Fluid Technologies segment")�the principal products of this segment are industrial finishing
equipment and integrated system solutions for spraying, pumping, mixing, metering, and curing of a variety of coatings used in the
transportation, general industrial, protective coating, wood, specialty, and auto refinishing markets.

        Carlisle Brake & Friction ("CBF" or the "Brake & Friction segment")�the principal products of this segment include high-performance
brakes and friction material, and clutch and transmission friction material for the construction, agriculture, mining, aerospace, and motor sports
markets.

        Carlisle FoodService Products ("CFSP" or the "FoodService Products segment")�the principal products of this segment include
commercial and institutional foodservice permanentware, table coverings, cookware, catering equipment, fiberglass and composite material trays
and dishes, industrial brooms, brushes, mops, and rotary brushes for commercial and non-commercial foodservice operators and sanitary
maintenance professionals.

        Corporate EBIT includes other unallocated costs, primarily general corporate expenses. Corporate assets consist primarily of cash and cash
equivalents, deferred taxes, corporate aircraft, and other invested assets.

        Geographic Area Information�Net sales are based on the country to which the product was delivered. Net sales by region for the years
ended December 31 are as follows (in millions):

Country 2015 2014 2013
United States $ 2,659.4 $ 2,441.7 $ 2,260.8
International:
Europe 384.4 357.4 330.4
Asia 225.5 136.0 126.3
Canada 114.9 117.1 90.1
Mexico and Latin America 81.6 82.0 69.7
Middle East and Africa 55.7 48.7 47.4
Other 21.7 21.1 18.3
       
Net sales $ 3,543.2 $ 3,204.0 $ 2,943.0
        
     
        
        Long-lived assets, comprised of net property, plant, and equipment, are as follows (in millions):

Country 2015 2014 2013
Long-lived assets held and used:
United States $ 461.3 $ 452.1 $ 420.7
Europe 47.9 48.4 48.1
Asia 29.0 22.5 19.8
United Kingdom 19.2 7.2 7.4
Mexico 27.8 17.0 1.0
Other 0.6 0.1 0.2
       
Total long-lived assets $ 585.8 $ 547.3 $ 497.2
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        Financial information for operations by reportable business segment is included in the following summary:

(in millions) Net Sales EBIT Assets

Depreciation
and

Amortization
Capital

Spending
2015
Carlisle Construction Materials $ 2,002.6 $ 351.1 $ 899.2 $ 37.3 $ 21.0
Carlisle Interconnect Technologies 784.6 141.6 1,264.0 44.3 31.6
Carlisle Fluid Technologies 203.2 20.8 659.5 15.0 1.9
Carlisle Brake & Friction 310.2 17.3 553.0 21.4 11.1
Carlisle FoodService Products 242.6 27.3 199.0 9.7 6.3
Corporate(1) � (56.2) 379.4 1.6 0.2
            
Total $ 3,543.2 $ 501.9 $ 3,954.1 $ 129.3 $ 72.1
            
       
            
2014
Carlisle Construction Materials $ 1,935.4 $ 268.8 $ 915.1 $ 34.6 $ 51.4
Carlisle Interconnect Technologies 669.1 132.2 1,296.3 37.6 32.2
Carlisle Fluid Technologies � � � � �
Carlisle Brake & Friction 355.3 26.8 591.3 21.9 11.2
Carlisle FoodService Products 244.2 29.6 198.4 8.8 17.5
Corporate(1) � (49.1) 757.6 1.1 6.5
            
Total $ 3,204.0 $ 408.3 $ 3,758.7 $ 104.0 $ 118.8
          
       
            
2013
Carlisle Construction Materials $ 1,776.5 $ 264.0 $ 886.9 $ 31.0 $ 64.5
Carlisle Interconnect Technologies 577.7 89.4 1,017.5 34.4 12.2
Carlisle Fluid Technologies � � � � �
Carlisle Brake & Friction 350.0 33.5 603.7 21.3 10.4
Carlisle FoodService Products 238.8 27.0 193.2 7.7 10.8
Corporate(1) � (47.1) 791.4 1.7 �
            
Total $ 2,943.0 $ 366.8 $ 3,492.7 $ 96.1 $ 97.9
          
       
            

(1)
EBIT includes general corporate expenses and Assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and other invested assets, and
includes assets of discontinued operations not classified as held for sale.

        A reconciliation of assets, depreciation and amortization, and capital spending reported above to the amounts presented on the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows is as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Depreciation and amortization per table above $ 129.3 $ 104.0 $ 96.1
Depreciation and amortization of discontinued operations � � 17.8
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Total depreciation and amortization $ 129.3 $ 104.0 $ 113.9
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(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Capital spending per table above $ 72.1 $ 118.8 $ 97.9
Capital spending of discontinued operations � � 12.9
       
Total capital spending $ 72.1 $ 118.8 $ 110.8
        
     
        
        Customer Information�Net sales to Beacon Roofing Supply, Inc. accounted for 10% of the Company's consolidated net sales during the
year ended December 31, 2015. Sales to this customer originate in the Construction segment. No other customer accounted for 10% or more of
the Company's total net sales.

Note 3�Acquisitions

2015 Acquisition

Finishing Brands

        On April 1, 2015, the Company acquired 100% of the Finishing Brands business from Graco Inc. ("Graco") for total cash consideration of
$598.9 million, net of $12.2 million cash acquired. The Company funded the acquisition with cash on hand. As of the acquisition date, the
Company recorded a payable to Graco for $20.6 million representing the estimated working capital settlement. In the third quarter of 2015, the
Company finalized the working capital settlement with Graco for $21.1 million in cash. The additional cash consideration paid has been
allocated to goodwill. The Company has reported the results of the acquired business as a new reportable segment named Carlisle Fluid
Technologies ("CFT"). CFT is a global manufacturer and supplier of finishing equipment and systems serving diverse end markets for paints and
coatings, including original equipment ("OE") automotive, automotive refinishing, aerospace, agriculture, construction, marine, rail, and other
industrial applications.

        CFT contributed net sales of $203.2 million and earnings before interest and taxes of $20.8 million for the period from April 1, 2015 to
December 31, 2015. Earnings before interest and taxes for the period from April 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015 includes $8.6 million of
non-recurring incremental cost of goods sold related to measuring inventory at fair value and $0.7 million of non-recurring acquisition-related
costs related primarily to professional fees, as well as $9.3 million and $3.9 million of amortization expense of customer relationships and
acquired technology, respectively.

        The Finishing Brands amounts included in the pro forma financial information below are based on the Finishing Brands' historical results
and, therefore, may not be indicative of the actual results if operated by Carlisle. The pro forma adjustments represent management's best
estimates based on information available at the time the pro forma information was prepared and may differ from the adjustments that may
actually have been required. Accordingly, pro forma information should not be relied upon as being indicative of the historical results that would
have been realized had the acquisition occurred as of the date indicated or that may be achieved in the future.
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        The unaudited combined pro forma financial information presented below includes Net sales and Income from continuing operations, net of
tax, of the Company as if the business combination had occurred on January 1, 2014 based on the preliminary purchase price allocation
presented below:

Pro Forma Twelve
Months Ended
December 31,

(in millions) 2015 2014
Net sales $ 3,604.4 $ 3,482.3
Income from continuing operations 332.2 271.4
        The pro forma financial information reflects adjustments to Finishing Brands' historical financial information to apply the Company's
accounting policies and to reflect the additional depreciation and amortization related to the preliminary fair value adjustments of the acquired
net assets, together with the associated tax effects. Also, the pro forma financial information reflects the non-recurring costs of goods sold
related to the fair valuation of inventory and acquisition-related costs described above as if they occurred in 2014.

        The following table summarizes the consideration transferred to acquire Finishing Brands and the preliminary allocation among the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC
805, Business
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Combinations, which requires that consideration be allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities based upon their acquisition date fair values
with the remainder allocated to goodwill.

Preliminary
Allocation

Measurement
Period

Adjustments
Preliminary
Allocation

(in millions)
As of

4/1/2015

Nine Months
Ended

12/31/2015
As of

12/31/2015
Total cash consideration transferred and payable $ 610.6 $ 0.5 $ 611.1
        
     
      
Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 12.2 $ � $ 12.2
Receivables 57.3 � 57.3
Inventories 40.9 3.0 43.9
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6.4 � 6.4
Property, plant, and equipment 41.0 (0.3) 40.7
Definite-lived intangible assets 216.0 � 216.0
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 125.0 � 125.0
Deferred income tax assets 1.9 (1.2) 0.7
Other long-term assets 3.8 (0.3) 3.5
Line of credit (1.4) � (1.4)
Accounts payable (16.3) � (16.3)
Income tax payable (1.9) (0.1) (2.0)
Accrued expenses (15.6) � (15.6)
Deferred income tax liabilities (28.8) 0.6 (28.2)
Other long-term liabilities (5.6) (0.7) (6.3)
        
Total identifiable net assets 434.9 1.0 435.9
       
Goodwill $ 175.7 $ (0.5) $ 175.2
      
     
        
        The goodwill recognized in the acquisition of Finishing Brands is attributable to its experienced workforce, the expected operational
improvements through implementation of the Carlisle Operating System, opportunities for geographic and product line expansions in addition to
supply chain efficiencies and other administrative opportunities, and the significant strategic value of the business to Carlisle. The Company
acquired $58.8 million of gross contractual accounts receivable, of which $1.5 million is not expected to be collected. Goodwill of
$132.9 million is tax deductible, primarily in the United States. All of the goodwill was assigned to the CFT reporting unit which aligns with the
reportable segment. Indefinite-lived intangible assets of $125.0 million represent acquired trade names. The $216.0 million value allocated to
definite-lived intangible assets consists of $186.0 million of customer relationships with a useful life of 15 years and various acquired
technologies of $30.0 million with useful lives ranging from five to eight years. The Company recorded an indemnification asset of $3.0 million
in Other non-current assets relating to the indemnification of Carlisle for a pre-acquisition tax liability in accordance with the purchase
agreement. The Company has also recorded deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets of approximately $28.2 million.
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        As additional information is obtained, adjustments may be made to the preliminary purchase price allocation. The Company is still
finalizing the fair value of certain tangible assets, tax liabilities, and accrued expenses.

2014 Acquisition

LHi Technology

        On October 1, 2014, the Company acquired 100% of the equity of LHi Technology ("LHi") for total cash consideration of $194.0 million,
net of $6.7 million cash acquired, inclusive of the working capital settlement. The Company funded the acquisition with cash on hand. LHi is a
leading designer, manufacturer and provider of cable assemblies and related interconnect components to the medical equipment and device
industry. The acquisition strengthens Carlisle's launch of its medical cable and cable assembly product line by adding new products, new
customers, and complementary technologies to better serve the global healthcare market. LHi operates within the Interconnect Technologies
segment.

        The following table summarizes the consideration transferred to acquire LHi and the final allocation among the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. The acquisition has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting which requires that consideration be
allocated to the acquired assets and liabilities based upon their acquisition date fair values with the remainder allocated to goodwill.

Final
Allocation

(in millions)
As of

10/1/2015
Total cash consideration transferred $ 200.7
    
   
    
Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6.7
Receivables 26.9
Inventories 17.1
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2.9
Property, plant, and equipment 4.5
Definite-lived intangible assets 74.5
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 6.0
Other long-term assets 8.8
Accounts payable (16.9)
Income tax payable (0.3)
Accrued expenses (6.0)
Net deferred tax liabilities (16.2)
Other long-term liabilities (20.1)
    
Total identifiable net assets 87.9
    
Goodwill $ 112.8
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Note 3�Acquisitions (Continued)

        The goodwill recognized in the acquisition of LHi is attributable to the workforce of LHi, the solid financial performance in the medical
cable market, and the significant strategic value of the business to Carlisle. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of LHi is not deductible for
income tax purposes. All of the goodwill was assigned to the Interconnect Technologies reporting unit. Indefinite-lived intangible assets of
$6.0 million represent acquired trade names. The $74.5 million value allocated to definite-lived intangible assets consists of $57.0 million of
customer relationships with a useful life of 15 years, $16.0 million of acquired technology with a useful life of six years, and a $1.5 million
non-compete agreement with a useful life of five years. The Company recorded an indemnification asset of $8.7 million in Other long-term
assets relating to the indemnification of Carlisle for certain pre-acquisition liabilities, in accordance with the purchase agreement. The Company
has also recorded deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets as of the closing date.

Note 4�Disposal of Long-lived Assets and Discontinued Operations

Sale of the Transportation Products Business

        On December 31, 2013, the Company sold its Transportation Products business for total cash consideration of $375 million, subject to the
working capital adjustment component of the sale agreement. The working capital adjustment was finalized during 2014 for $9.7 million and
resulted in a $1.0 million after-tax loss. The after-tax loss was reported in discontinued operations.

        After-tax (loss) income from Discontinued Operations of ($25.5) million for the year ended December 31, 2013 reflects the operations of
the Transportation Products business which included a $100.0 million pre-tax goodwill impairment charge recorded during 2013. The
Transportation Products business had net sales of $767.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Other Divestitures of Long-lived Assets and Long-lived Assets Held for Sale

        During 2014, the Company completed the sale of CBF's Akron, OH, facility for cash proceeds of $1.2 million, recognizing a pre-tax gain of
$0.4 million within Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

        The Company completed the sale of property located in the Netherlands during 2014 for cash proceeds of $1.4 million, recognizing a
$1.1 million pre-tax gain within Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

        During 2013, the Company completed the sale of CCM's Kent, WA, long-lived tangible assets for cash proceeds of $5.4 million,
recognizing a pre-tax gain of $1.6 million within Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

        During 2013, the Company completed the sale of Reno, NV, long-lived tangible assets for cash proceeds of $6.2 million, recognizing a
pre-tax gain of $1.0 million within Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations

        Discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 includes the results of the Transportation Products business, which was a
component of the Company and was classified as discontinued in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings for all periods presented.
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Note 4�Disposal of Long-lived Assets and Discontinued Operations (Continued)

        Income (loss) from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2013, includes a $30.4 million net loss from operations of the
Transportation Products business, inclusive of a pre-tax goodwill impairment charge of $100.0 million.

Note 5�Stock-Based Compensation

        Stock-based compensation cost is recognized over the requisite service period, which generally equals the stated vesting period, unless the
stated vesting period exceeds the date upon which an employee reaches retirement eligibility. Pre-tax stock-based compensation expense in
continuing operations was $17.4 million, $15.7 million and $17.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively.
Pre-tax stock-based compensation expense includes $0.9 million related to discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Incentive Compensation Program

        The Company maintains an Incentive Compensation Program (the "Program") for executives, certain other employees of the Company and
its operating segments and subsidiaries, and the Company's non-employee directors. Members of the Board of Directors that receive stock-based
compensation are treated as employees for accounting purposes. The Program was approved by shareholders on May 6, 2015. The Program
allows for awards to eligible employees of stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, performance shares and units or other
awards based on Company common stock. At December 31, 2015, 4,460,142 shares were available for grant under this plan, of which 1,604,716
shares were available for the issuance of stock awards.

Grants

        For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company awarded 316,345 stock options, 58,040 restricted stock awards, 58,040 performance
share awards and 12,157 restricted stock units with an aggregate grant-date fair value of approximately $19.7 million to be expensed over the
requisite service period for each award.

Stock Option Awards

        Options issued under the Program generally vest one-third on the first anniversary of grant, one-third on the second anniversary of grant,
and the remaining one-third on the third anniversary of grant. All options have a maximum term life of 10 years. Shares issued to cover options
under the Program may be issued from shares held in treasury, from new issuances of shares, or a combination of the two.

        For 2015, 2014 and 2013 share-based compensation expense related to stock options was as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
(in millions, except per share amounts) 2015 2014 2013
Pre-tax compensation expense $ 5.1 $ 4.5 $ 4.9
After-tax compensation expense $ 3.2 $ 2.8 $ 3.0
Impact on diluted EPS $ 0.05 $ 0.04 $ 0.05
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Note 5�Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

        Unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options of $3.7 million at December 31, 2015, is to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 1.95 years.

        Excess income tax benefits related to share-based compensation expense that must be recognized directly in equity are considered financing
cash flows. The amount of financing cash flows for these benefits was $15.9 million, $13.2 million, and $5.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively.

        The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes-Merton ("BSM") option pricing model to determine the fair value of its stock option awards. The
BSM relies on certain assumptions to estimate an option's fair value. The weighted average assumptions used in the determination of fair value
for stock option awards in 2015, 2014, and 2013 were as follows:

2015 2014 2013
Expected dividend yield 1.1% 1.2% 1.2%
Expected life in years 5.71 5.74 5.71
Expected volatility 27.3% 29.3% 32.2%
Risk-free interest rate 1.4% 1.7% 1.0%
Weighted-average fair value $ 21.19 $ 19.15 $ 17.58
        The expected life of options is based on the assumption that all outstanding options will be exercised at the midpoint of the valuation date
(if vested) or the vesting dates (if unvested) and the options' expiration date. The expected volatility is based on historical volatility as well as
implied volatility of the Company's options. The risk-free interest rate is based on rates of U.S. Treasury issues with a remaining life equal to the
expected life of the option. The expected dividend yield is based on the projected annual dividend payment per share, divided by the stock price
at the date of grant.

        Stock option activity under the Company's stock option awards for 2015, 2014, and 2013 was as follows:

Shares
Weighted-Average

Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 3,225,131 $ 35.88
      
Options granted 283,975 64.80
Options exercised (472,040) 33.81
Options forfeited (44,059) 48.47
      
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 2,993,007 $ 38.76
      
Options granted 259,035 73.08
Options exercised (925,520) 38.63
Options forfeited (49,885) 56.89
     
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 2,276,637 $ 42.32
      
Options granted 316,345 92.84
Options exercised (748,270) 38.44
Options forfeited (34,632) 81.68
      
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 1,810,080 $ 52.00
      
    
      

67

Edgar Filing: CARLISLE COMPANIES INC - Form 10-K

74



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 5�Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

        The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was
$6.7 million, $5.0 million, and $5.0 million, respectively.

        The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $42.7 million, $41.7 million,
and $15.5 million, respectively. The weighted-average contractual term of options outstanding at December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was 5.63,
5.71, and 5.72 years, respectively.

        At December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, 1,281,126, 1,666,647, and 2,378,543 options were exercisable, with a weighted-average exercise
price of $39.09, $34.24, and $34.87, respectively. The weighted-average contractual term of options exercisable at December 31, 2015 and 2014
was 4.43 and 4.72 years, respectively.

        The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2015, and 2014 was $63.5 million and $91.8 million,
respectively. The total grant date fair value of options vested during the year ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $4.6 million,
$4.0 million, and $8.0 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock Awards

        Restricted stock awarded under the Program is generally released to the recipient after a period of approximately three years. The number
and weighted-average grant-date fair value of restricted shares issued in each of the last three years was as follows: in 2015, 58,040 awards were
granted at a weighted-average fair value of $90.54; in 2014, 104,773 awards were granted at a weighted-average fair value of $76.70; and in
2013, 71,255 awards were granted at a weighted-average fair value of $64.80. Compensation expense related to restricted stock awards of
$5.9 million, $5.1 million, and $4.6 million was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively. Unrecognized
compensation cost related to restricted stock awards of $4.3 million at December 31, 2015 is to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
1.58 years.
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Note 5�Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

        The following represents activity related to restricted stock for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013:

Number of
Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 284,235 $ 25.99
      
Shares granted 71,255 64.80
Shares vested (109,445) 34.08
Shares forfeited (5,055) 47.85
      
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 240,990 $ 49.66
      
Shares granted 104,773 76.70
Shares vested (94,590) 38.57
Shares forfeited (4,185) 63.73
     
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 246,988 $ 65.14
      
Shares granted 58,040 90.54
Shares vested (75,740) 49.56
Shares forfeited (2,881) 81.32
      
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 226,407 $ 76.66
      
    
      
Performance Share Awards

        The Company granted 58,040, 67,970, and 71,255 performance share awards in the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013,
respectively. The performance shares vest based on the employee rendering three years of service to the Company, and the attainment of a
market condition over the performance period, which is based on the Company's relative total shareholder return versus the S&P Midcap 400
Index® over a pre-determined time period as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The grant date fair value of
the 2015, 2014, and 2013 performance shares of $112.39, $95.72, and $91.33, respectively, was estimated using a Monte-Carlo simulation
approach based on a three year measurement period. Such approach entails the use of assumptions regarding the future performance of the
Company's stock and those of the S&P Midcap 400 Index®. Those assumptions include expected volatility, risk-free interest rates, correlation
coefficients and dividend reinvestment. Dividends accrue on the performance shares during the performance period and are to be paid in cash
based upon the number of awards ultimately earned.

        The Company expenses the compensation cost associated with the performance awards on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of
approximately three years. In the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, the Company recognized approximately $6.3 million,
$6.0 million, and $6.5 million, respectively, of compensation cost related to the performance share awards. Unrecognized compensation cost
related to performance share awards of $3.7 million at December 31, 2015 is to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.67 years. For
purposes of determining diluted earnings per share, the performance share awards are considered contingently issuable shares and are included
in diluted earnings per share based upon the number of shares that would have been awarded had the conditions at the end of the reporting
period continued until the end of the performance period. See Note 7 for further information regarding earnings per share computations.
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Note 5�Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

        The following represents activity related to performance shares for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013:

Number of
Peformance

Units
2015

Awards
2014

Awards
2013

Awards
2012

Awards
2011

Awards
2010

Awards
Outstanding at
December 31, 2012 230,730 � � � 79,340 93,840 57,550
Units granted 71,255 � � 71,255 � � �
Units converted to shares 89,610 � � � � 89,610 �
Units vested and issued (45,544) � � � � � (45,544)
Units vested and deferred (12,006) � � � � � (12,006)
Units forfeited (5,055) � � (1,080) (1,745) (2,230) �
            
Outstanding at
December 31, 2013 328,990 � � 70,175 77,595 181,220 �
               
        
            
Units granted 67,970 � 67,970 � � � �
Units converted to shares 69,920 � � � 69,920 � �
Units vested and issued (135,008) � � � � (135,008) �
Units vested and deferred (46,212) � � � � (46,212) �
Units forfeited (4,185) � (1,465) (1,630) (1,090) � �
            
Outstanding at
December 31, 2014 281,475 � 66,505 68,545 146,425 � �
               
        
            
Units granted 58,040 58,040 � � � � �
Units converted to shares 37,496 � � 37,496 � � �
Units vested and issued (112,814) � � � (112,814) � �
Units vested and deferred (33,611) � � � (33,611) � �
Units forfeited (2,340) (1,220) (750) (370) � � �
            
Outstanding at
December 31, 2015 228,246 56,820 65,755 105,671 � � �
               
        
            

        The Company's relative total shareholder return versus companies in the S&P Midcap 400 Index® over the period covered by the 2013
awards, 2012 awards, and 2011 awards resulted in participants being awarded an additional 37,496 shares, 69,920 shares, and 89,610 shares,
respectively, under the plan. The awarding of these additional shares had no impact on stock-based compensation expense as the likelihood of
their issuance was included in the determination of grant date fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation approach.

Restricted Stock Units

        The restricted stock units awarded to eligible directors are fully vested and will be paid in shares of Company common stock after the
director ceases to serve as a member of the Board, or if earlier, upon a change in control of the Company. The $90.54 grant date fair value of the
2015 restricted stock units is based on the closing market price of the stock on February 4, 2015, the date of the grant.

Deferred Compensation�Equity
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        Certain employees are eligible to participate in the Company's Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan (the "Deferred Compensation
Plan"). Participants may elect to defer all or part of their stock-based compensation. Participants have elected to defer 253,520 shares of
Company common stock as of December 31, 2015, and 228,047 shares as of December 31, 2014. Company stock held for future issuance of
vested awards is classified as deferred compensation equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and is recorded at grant date fair value.
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Note 6�Income Taxes

        A summary of pre-tax income from U.S. and non U.S. operations is as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Continuing operations
U.S. domestic $ 393.8 $ 318.9 $ 291.9
Foreign 74.1 57.2 41.1
        
Total pre-tax income from continuing operations 467.9 376.1 333.0
        
Discontinued operations
U.S. domestic 0.1 (3.2) (132.4)
Foreign � 1.1 71.9
        
Total pre-tax income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.1 (2.1) (60.5)
        
Total pre-tax income $ 468.0 $ 374.0 $ 272.5
        
     
       
        The provision for income taxes from continuing operations is as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Current expense
Federal and State $ 140.1 $ 118.4 $ 97.2
Foreign 24.0 16.1 21.9
        
Total current expense 164.1 134.5 119.1
        
Deferred expense (benefit)
Federal and State (12.7) (8.5) (8.2)
Foreign (3.1) (1.6) (13.1)
        
Total deferred expense (benefit) (15.8) (10.1) (21.3)
       
Total tax expense $ 148.3 $ 124.4 $ 97.8
        
     
        
        A reconciliation of the tax provision for continuing operations computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate to the actual tax provision is as
follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Taxes at the 35% U.S. statutory rate $ 163.8 $ 131.6 $ 116.6
State and local taxes, net of federal income tax benefit 1.9 7.4 4.9
Benefit of foreign earnings taxed at lower rates (7.9) (5.2) (3.0)
Benefit for domestic manufacturing deduction (11.5) (8.7) (9.7)
Benefit associated with foreign reorganization � � (11.8)
Other, net 2.0 (0.7) 0.8
        
Tax expense $ 148.3 $ 124.4 $ 97.8
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Effective income tax rate on continuing operations 31.7% 33.1% 29.4%
        
        Cash payments for income taxes, net of refunds, were $123.0 million, $138.5 million, and $127.7 million, in 2015, 2014, and 2013,
respectively.
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Note 6�Income Taxes (Continued)

        Deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31 related to the following:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Deferred revenue $ 25.3 $ 25.7
Warranty reserves 5.6 4.3
Inventory reserves 10.9 9.0
Allowance for doubtful accounts 4.6 3.8
Employee benefits 41.5 41.4
Foreign loss carryforwards 1.9 3.7
Deferred state tax attributes 16.2 15.8
Other, net (1.4) 2.3
      
Gross deferred assets 104.6 106.0
      
Valuation allowances (4.3) (9.6)
      
Deferred tax assets after valuation allowances $ 100.3 $ 96.4
      
    
      
Depreciation (46.5) (43.8)
Amortization (55.1) (47.3)
Acquired identifiable intangibles (142.4) (136.2)
      
Gross deferred liabilities (244.0) (227.3)
      
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (143.7) $ (130.9)
      
    
      
        As of December 31, 2015, the Company had no deferred tax assets related to net operating loss ("NOL") carryforwards for U.S. federal tax
purposes but had a deferred tax asset for state NOL carryforwards and credits of approximately $11.9 million (expiring 2016-2035) and deferred
tax assets related to NOL carryforwards in foreign jurisdictions of approximately $1.9 million (expiring 2016-2023). The Company believes that
it is likely that certain of the state attributes will expire unused and therefore has established a valuation allowance of approximately $4.3 million
against the deferred tax assets associated with these attributes. The Company believes that substantially all of the foreign NOLs will be utilized
before expiration and therefore has not established a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets associated with these NOL
carryforwards. Approximately $2.9 million of the valuation allowance with respect to state attributes that was recorded on December 31, 2014
was released during the year due to management's change in judgement regarding the portion of the attributes that was likely to expire unused.
The change in judgment occurred as predictions of future taxable income in certain state jurisdictions were increased due to the Finishing Brands
acquisition and various restructuring actions that occurred during the year. Although realization is not assured for the remaining deferred tax
assets, the Company believes that the timing and amount of the reversal of taxable temporary differences, expected future taxable income and
tax planning strategies will generate sufficient income to be fully realized. However, deferred tax assets could be reduced in the future if our
estimates of the timing and amount of the reversal of taxable temporary differences, expected future taxable income during the carryforward
period are significantly reduced or tax planning strategies are no longer viable.

        Deferred tax assets and (liabilities) are classified as long-term consistent with the requirements of ASU 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic
740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes ("ASU 2015-17") which was adopted early in 2015 on a prospective basis. Foreign
deferred tax assets and (liabilities) are grouped separately from U.S. domestic assets and (liabilities) and are analyzed on a jurisdictional basis.
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Note 6�Income Taxes (Continued)

        Deferred tax assets and (liabilities) are included in the balance sheet as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Deferred income taxes $ � $ 35.4
Accrued expenses � (0.2)
Other long-term assets 0.3 1.4
Other long-term liabilities (144.0) (167.5)
     
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (143.7) $ (130.9)
     
    
      
        The Company is not required to provide income taxes on the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of investments
in foreign subsidiaries that are essentially permanent in duration. The Company's excess of financial reporting over the tax basis of investments
in foreign subsidiaries is approximately equal to the cumulative unremitted earnings and cumulative translation adjustments of its foreign
subsidiaries. The Company reconsiders this assertion quarterly.

        At December 31, 2015, the Company intends to permanently reinvest abroad substantially all of the earnings of its foreign subsidiaries. The
Company has identified appropriate long term uses for such earnings outside the United States, considers the unremitted earnings to be
indefinitely reinvested, and accordingly has made no significant provision for income or withholding taxes that would be due upon distribution
of such earnings. The calculation of the deferred tax liability on the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of investments
in foreign subsidiaries is not practicable due to the complexity of calculating earnings and profits and taxes through multiple tiers of entities, the
impact of local country withholding and income taxes, the impact of tax elections, the characterization of income for purposes of the foreign tax
credit and limitations, and foreign currency effects.

        The Company's cumulative unremitted earnings and cumulative translation adjustments at December 31, 2015 were approximately
$490 million.

        Unrecognized tax benefits reflect the difference between the tax benefits of positions taken or expected to be taken on income tax returns
and the tax benefits that meet the criteria for current recognition in the financial statements. The Company periodically assesses its unrecognized
tax benefits.

        A summary of the movement in gross unrecognized tax benefits (before estimated interest and penalties) is as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Balance at January 1 $ 23.8 $ 10.2 $ 9.3
Additions based on tax positions related to current year 0.9 1.8 1.3
Additions related to purchase accounting 3.0 13.6 �
Adjustments for tax positions of prior years 1.3 (0.1) 1.6
Reductions due to statute of limitations (1.2) (1.2) (2.0)
Reductions due to settlements � (0.4) �
Adjustments due to foreign exchange rates (0.1) (0.1) �
        
Balance at December 31 $ 27.7 $ 23.8 $ 10.2
        
     
       
        If the unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2015 were to be recognized, approximately $28.5 million would impact the Company's
effective tax rate. The amount impacting the Company's
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Note 6�Income Taxes (Continued)

effective rate is calculated by adding accrued interest and penalties to the gross unrecognized tax benefit and subtracting the tax benefit
associated with state taxes and interest.

        The Company classifies and reports interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits as a component of the income tax
provision on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income, and as a long-term liability on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The total amount of such interest and penalties accrued, but excluded from the table above, at the years ending 2015, 2014, and 2013
were $4.9 million, $3.8 million, and $1.2 million, respectively.

        The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax as well as income tax in multiple state and foreign jurisdictions. During the year the
Company has worked with the IRS to complete its compliance assurance process for the 2014 tax year. The Company is currently working with
the IRS to complete its compliance assurance audit for the 2015 tax year and expects conclusion of the process within the next twelve months.

        Generally, state income tax returns are subject to examination for a period of three to five years after filing. Substantially all material state
tax matters have been concluded for tax years through 2010. Various state income tax returns for subsequent years are in the process of
examination. At this stage the outcome is uncertain; however, the Company believes that contingencies have been adequately provided for.
Statutes of limitation vary among the foreign jurisdictions in which the Company operates. Substantially all foreign tax matters have been
concluded for tax years through 2009. The Company believes that foreign tax contingencies associated with income tax examinations underway
or open tax years have been provided for adequately.

        Based on the outcome of certain examinations or as a result of the expiration of statutes of limitations for certain jurisdictions, we believe
that within the next 12 months it is reasonably possible that our previously unrecognized tax benefits could decrease by approximately $4 to
$5 million. The previously unrecognized tax benefits relate to a variety of tax issues including tax matters relating to prior acquisitions and
various state matters.

Note 7�Earnings Per Share

        The Company's restricted shares and restricted stock units contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends and, therefore, are considered
participating securities for purposes of computing earnings per share pursuant to the two-class method. The computation below of earnings per
share excludes the income attributable to the unvested restricted shares and restricted stock units from the numerator and excludes the dilutive
impact of those underlying shares from the denominator. Stock options are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share utilizing the
treasury stock method and performance share awards are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share considering those are
contingently issuable. Neither is considered to be participating security as they do not contain non-forfeitable dividend rights.
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Note 7�Earnings Per Share (Continued)

        The following reflects the Income from continuing operations and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations
using the two-class method:

(in millions except share and per share amounts) 2015 2014 2013
Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 319.6 $ 251.7 $ 235.2
Less: dividends declared�common stock outstanding, restricted shares and restricted share units (72.3) (61.2) (53.7)
        
Undistributed earnings 247.3 190.5 181.5
Percent allocated to common shareholders(1) 99.3% 99.5% 99.5%
        

245.6 189.5 180.6
Add: dividends declared�common stock 71.4 60.4 53.4
        
Numerator for basic and diluted EPS $ 317.0 $ 249.9 $ 234.0
        
     
       
Denominator (in thousands):
Denominator for basic EPS: weighted-average common shares outstanding 64,844 64,170 63,471
Effect of dilutive securities:
Performance awards 253 362 416
Stock options 707 772 919
        
Denominator for diluted EPS: adjusted weighted-average common shares outstanding and assumed
conversion 65,804 65,304 64,806
        
     
       
Per share income from continuing operations:
Basic $ 4.89 $ 3.89 $ 3.69
        
     
      
Diluted $ 4.82 $ 3.83 $ 3.61
        
     
       

(1) Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 64,844 64,170 63,471
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding, unvested restricted shares expected to
vest and restricted share units 65,304 64,512 63,797

          
Percent allocated to common shareholders 99.3% 99.5% 99.5%
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Note 7�Earnings Per Share (Continued)

        To calculate earnings per share for the Loss from discontinued operations and for Net income, the denominator for both basic and diluted
earnings per share is the same as used in the above table. The Loss from discontinued operations and the Net income were as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Income (loss) from discontinued operations attributable to common shareholders for basic and diluted
earnings per share $ 0.1 $ (0.4) $ (25.4)
Net income attributable to common shareholders for basic and diluted earnings per share $ 317.1 $ 249.5 $ 208.6
Antidilutive stock options excluded from EPS calculation(1) 257.5 � �

(1)
Represents stock options excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as such options' assumed proceeds upon exercise
would result in the repurchase of shares generated than the underlying award.

Note 8�Inventories

        The components of Inventories at December 31 were as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Finished goods $ 205.1 $ 188.1
Work-in-process 48.8 45.3
Raw materials 133.9 132.2
Reserves (31.8) (26.5)
     
Inventories $ 356.0 $ 339.1
     
    
      
Note 9�Property, Plant, and Equipment

        The components of Property, plant, and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation at December 31 were as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Land $ 59.9 $ 37.1
Buildings and leasehold improvements 324.6 284.6
Machinery and equipment 735.4 690.7
Projects in progress 34.6 48.6
     

1,154.5 1,061.0
Accumulated depreciation (568.7) (513.7)
      
Property, plant, and equipment, net $ 585.8 $ 547.3
      
    
      
        During 2015, 2014, and 2013, the Company capitalized interest in the amount of $1.0 million, $2.2 million, and $1.7 million, respectively.
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Note 10�Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

        The changes in the carrying amount of Goodwill, net for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

(in millions)
Construction

Materials
Interconnect
Technologies

Fluid
Technologies

Brake and
Friction

FoodService
Products Total

Net balance at January 1,
2014 $ 129.1 $ 442.6 $ � $ 226.7 $ 60.3 $ 858.7
Goodwill acquired during
year(1) � 111.7 � � � 111.7
Currency translation (5.8) � � (0.1) � (5.9)
             
Net balance at December 31,
2014 $ 123.3 $ 554.3 $ � $ 226.6 $ 60.3 $ 964.5
             
       
             
Goodwill acquired during
year(1) � � 175.7 � � 175.7
Measurement period
adjustments � 1.1 (0.5) � � 0.6
Currency translation (4.6) � (1.8) � � (6.4)
             
Net balance at
December 31, 2015 $ 118.7 $ 555.4 $ 173.4 $ 226.6 $ 60.3 $ 1,134.4
             
       
             

(1)
See Note 3 for further information on goodwill resulting from recent acquisitions.

        On April 1, 2015, the Company acquired 100% of the Finishing Brands business from Graco for a total purchase price of $611.1 million,
gross and $598.9 million, net of cash acquired. The resulting goodwill recorded of $175.2 million, after preliminary measurement period
adjustments, was allocated to the CFT reporting unit which aligns with the reportable segment.

        On October 1, 2014, the Company acquired LHi for a total purchase price of $200.7 million, gross and $194.0 million, net of cash acquired.
The resulting goodwill recorded of $112.8 million, after measurement period adjustments, was allocated to the Interconnect Technologies
reporting unit.

        The Company's Other intangible assets, net at December 31, 2015, are as follows:

(in millions)
Acquired

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Assets subject to amortization:
Intellectual property $ 180.7 $ (55.0) $ 125.7
Customer relationships 673.9 (160.5) 513.4
Other 13.5 (10.6) 2.9
Assets not subject to amortization:
Trade names 245.8 � 245.8
      
Other intangible assets, net $ 1,113.9 $ (226.1) $ 887.8
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Note 10�Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (Continued)

        The Company's Other intangible assets, net at December 31, 2014, are as follows:

(in millions)
Acquired

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Assets subject to amortization:
Intellectual property $ 146.6 $ (37.8) $ 108.8
Customer relationships 494.6 (122.3) 372.3
Other 20.6 (12.1) 8.5
Assets not subject to amortization:
Trade names 122.1 � 122.1
      
Other intangible assets, net $ 783.9 $ (172.2) $ 611.7
      
     
        
        Estimated amortization expense over the next five years is as follows: $58.5 million in 2016, $57.7 million in 2017, $57.7 million in 2018,
$57.6 million in 2019, and $54.4 million in 2020.

        The net carrying values of the Company's Other intangible assets, net by reportable segment as of December 31 were as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Carlisle Construction Materials $ 60.9 $ 72.3
Carlisle Interconnect Technologies 357.3 386.6
Carlisle Fluid Technologies 325.3 �
Carlisle Brake & Friction 117.2 123.5
Carlisle FoodService Products 27.1 29.3
      
Total $ 887.8 $ 611.7
      
    
      
        Acquired patents and intellectual property will be amortized over a weighted-average period of 8.6 years. The acquired cost of the
Company's customer relationship intangible assets by estimated useful life is as follows (in millions):

Gross Balance as
of December 31,

Estimated Useful Life (Years) 2015 2014
5 - 9 $ 25.5 $ 27.1
10 - 14 $ 72.3 $ 72.3
15 - 19 $ 468.4 $ 287.5
20 - 24 $ 107.7 $ 107.7
      
Total $ 673.9 $ 494.6
      
    
      
        See Note 1 in these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding the valuation of goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets.
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Note 11�Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

        The Company currently leases a portion of its manufacturing facilities, distribution centers, and equipment, some of which include
scheduled rent increases stated in the lease agreement generally expressed as a stated percentage increase of the minimum lease payment over
the lease term. The Company currently has no leases that require rent to be paid based on contingent events nor has it received any lease
incentive payments. Rent expense was $25.9 million, $23.7 million, and $23.9 million in 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively, inclusive of rent
based on scheduled rent increases and rent holidays recognized on a straight-line basis. Future minimum payments under its various
non-cancelable operating leases in each of the next five years are approximately $18.3 million in 2016, $15.0 million in 2017, $13.2 million in
2018, $10.9 million in 2019, $7.1 million in 2020, and $11.7 million thereafter.

Workers' Compensation Claims and Related Losses

        The Company has accrued approximately $19.4 million and $23.5 million related to workers' compensation claims at December 31, 2015
and 2014, respectively. At December 31, 2015, $6.0 million and $13.4 million are included in Accrued expenses and Other long-term liabilities,
respectively, and at December 31, 2014, $7.8 million and $15.7 million were included in Accrued expenses and Other long-term liabilities,
respectively, in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Workers' compensation obligations related to former employees associated with the
Transportation Products business and arising prior to the sale of the Transportation Products business have been retained by the Company and
the Company is obligated to pay the related claims until they are extinguished or otherwise settled. The Company will not be held liable for any
workers' compensation claims related to the former Transportation Products business incurred after December 31, 2013. The liability related to
workers' compensation claims, both those reported to the Company and those incurred but not yet reported, is estimated based on actuarial
estimates and loss development factors and the Company's historical loss experience.

        The Company maintains occurrence-based insurance coverage with certain insurance carriers in accordance with its risk management
practices that provides for reimbursement of workers' compensation claims in excess of $0.5 million. The Company records a recovery
receivable from the insurance carriers when such recovery is deemed probable based on the nature of the claim and history of recoveries. At
December 31, 2015 and 2014 the Company did not have any recovery receivables recorded for workers' compensation claims.

Litigation

        Over the years, the Company has been named as a defendant, along with numerous other defendants, in lawsuits in various state courts in
which plaintiffs have alleged injury due to exposure to asbestos-containing brakes, which Carlisle manufactured in limited amounts between the
late-1940's and the mid-1980's. In addition to compensatory awards, these lawsuits may also seek punitive damages.

        Generally, the Company has obtained dismissals or settlements of its asbestos-related lawsuits with no material effect on its financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows. The Company maintains insurance coverage that applies to the Company's defense costs and
payments of settlements or judgments in connection with asbestos-related lawsuits.

        At this time, the amount of reasonably possible additional asbestos claims, if any, is not material to the Company's financial position,
results of operations, or operating cash flows although these matters
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Note 11�Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

could result in the Company being subject to monetary damages, costs or expenses, and charges against earnings in particular periods.

        The Company may occasionally be involved in various other legal actions arising in the normal course of business. In the opinion of
management, the ultimate outcome of such actions, either individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the
consolidated financial position, results of operations for a particular period, or annual operating cash flows of the Company.

Environmental Matters

        The Company is subject to increasingly stringent environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to air emissions, wastewater
discharges, and chemical and hazardous waste management and disposal. Some of these environmental laws hold owners or operators of land or
businesses liable for their own and for previous owners' or operators' releases of hazardous or toxic substances or wastes. Other environmental
laws and regulations require the obtainment of and compliance with environmental permits. To date, costs of complying with environmental,
health and safety requirements have not been material and we do not currently have any significant accruals related to potential future costs of
environmental remediation at December 31, 2015 and 2014, nor do we have any asset retirement obligations recorded at those dates. However,
the nature of the Company's operations and its long history of industrial activities at certain of its current or former facilities, as well as those
acquired, could potentially result in material environmental liabilities or asset retirement obligations.

        While the Company must comply with existing and pending climate change legislation, regulation, international treaties or accords, current
laws and regulations do not have a material impact on its business, capital expenditures, or financial position. Future events, including those
relating to climate change or greenhouse gas regulation, could require the Company to incur expenses related to the modification or curtailment
of operations, installation of pollution control equipment, or investigation and cleanup of contaminated sites.

Note 12�Borrowings

        As of December 31, 2015 and 2014 the Company's borrowings were as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014
3.75% notes due 2022, net of unamortized discount of ($0.8) and ($0.9), respectively $ 349.2 $ 349.1
5.125% notes due 2020, net of unamortized discount of ($0.6) and ($0.7), respectively 249.4 249.3
6.125% notes due 2016, net of unamortized discount of ($0.1) and ($0.2), respectively 149.9 149.8
Revolving credit facility � �
Industrial development and revenue bonds � 1.5
Other, including capital lease obligations 0.1 0.1
      
Total long-term debt 748.6 749.8
Less 6.125% notes due 2016 classified as current (149.9) �
      
Total long-term debt, net of current portion $ 598.7 $ 749.8
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Note 12�Borrowings (Continued)

3.75% Notes Due 2022

        On November 20, 2012, the Company completed a public offering of $350.0 million of notes with a stated interest rate of 3.75% due
November 15, 2022 (the "2022 Notes"). The 2022 Notes were issued at a discount of $1.1 million, resulting in proceeds to the Company of
$348.9 million. The 2022 Notes are presented net of the related discount in Long-term debt in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31,
2015 and 2014. Interest on the 2022 Notes will be paid each May 15 and November 15, commencing on May 15, 2013. The Company incurred
costs to issue the 2022 Notes of approximately $2.9 million, inclusive of underwriters', credit rating agencies' and attorneys' fees and other costs.
The issuance costs have been recorded in Other long-term assets in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2015 and 2014. Both the
discount and the issuance costs will be amortized to interest expense over the life of the 2022 Notes.

        The 2022 Notes, in whole or in part, may be redeemed at the Company's option, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at any time prior to
August 15, 2022 at a price equal to the greater of:

�
100% of the principal amount; or

�
The sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest discounted to the redemption
date on a semi-annual basis at the Treasury Rate plus 35 basis points.

        The 2022 Notes may also be redeemed at any time after August 15, 2022, in whole or in part, at the Company's option at 100% of the
principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest. Upon a change-in-control triggering event, the Company will be required to offer to
repurchase the 2022 Notes at 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

        The 2022 Notes are subject to the Company's existing indenture dated January 15, 1997 with Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee, and
accordingly are subject to the same restrictive covenants and limitations as the Company's existing indebtedness. The 2022 Notes are general
unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally with the Company's existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.
The 2022 Notes are subordinate to any existing or future debt or other liabilities of the Company's subsidiaries. At December 31, 2015, the
principal amount of the Company's subsidiaries indebtedness was $0.1 million.

5.125% Notes Due 2020

        On December 9, 2010, the Company completed a public offering of $250.0 million of notes with a stated interest rate of 5.125% due
December 15, 2020 (the "2020 Notes"). The 2020 Notes were issued at a discount of approximately $1.1 million, resulting in proceeds to the
Company of approximately $248.9 million. The 2020 Notes are presented net of the related discount in Long-term debt in the consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2015 and 2014. Interest on the 2020 Notes is paid each June 15 and December 15.

        The 2020 Notes, in whole or in part, may be redeemed at the Company's option, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at any time prior to
September 15, 2020 at a price equal to the greater of:

�
100% of the principal amounts; or
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Note 12�Borrowings (Continued)

�
The sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest discounted to the redemption
date on a semi-annual basis at the Treasury Rate plus 35 basis points.

        The 2020 Notes may also be redeemed at any time after September 15, 2020, in whole or in part, at the Company's option at 100% of the
principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest. Upon a change-in-control triggering event, the Company will be required to offer to
repurchase the 2020 Notes at 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

        The 2020 Notes are subject to the Company's existing indenture dated January 15, 1997 with Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee, and
accordingly are subject to the same restrictive covenants and limitations as the Company's existing indebtedness. The 2020 Notes are general
unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally with the Company's existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.
The 2020 Notes are subordinate to any existing or future debt or other liabilities of the Company's subsidiaries.

6.125% Notes Due 2016

        On August 18, 2006, the Company completed a public offering of $150.0 million of notes with a stated interest rate of 6.125% due
August 15, 2016 (the "2016 Notes"). The 2016 Notes were issued at a discount of approximately $1.1 million, resulting in proceeds to the
Company of approximately $148.9 million. The 2016 Notes are presented net of the related discount in Short-term debt in the consolidated
balance sheet at December 31, 2015 and in Long-term debt in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2014. Interest on the 2016 Notes
is paid each February 15 and August 15.

        The 2016 Notes, in whole or in part, may be redeemed at the Company's option, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at any time prior to
August 15, 2016 at a price equal to the greater of:

�
100% of the principal amounts; or

�
The sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest discounted to the redemption
date on a semi-annual basis at the Treasury Rate plus 20 basis points.

        Upon a change-in-control triggering event, the Company will be required to offer to repurchase all or any part of the 2016 Notes at 101% of
the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

        The 2016 Notes are subject to the Company's existing indenture dated January 15, 1997 with Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee, and
accordingly are subject to the same restrictive covenants and limitations as the Company's existing indebtedness. The 2016 Notes are general
unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally with the Company's existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness.
The 2016 Notes are subordinate to any existing or future debt or other liabilities of the Company's subsidiaries.

Revolving Credit Facilities

        On October 20, 2011, the Company entered into a Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement ("the Credit Agreement") administered
by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("JPMorgan Chase"). On December 12, 2013, the Company executed an amendment to the facility ("the
Amendment") to amend certain terms and extend the term of the facility to December 12, 2018. The Credit Agreement provides for a
$600 million revolving line of credit.
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Note 12�Borrowings (Continued)

        The new revolving credit facility provides for grid-based interest pricing based on the credit rating of the Company's senior unsecured bank
debt or other unsecured senior debt. The facility requires the Company to meet various restrictive covenants and limitations including certain
leverage ratios, interest coverage ratios and limits on outstanding debt balances held by certain subsidiaries.

        At December 31, 2015, the Company had $600.0 million available under its Amended Credit Agreement. There was no interest on
borrowings under the revolving credit facility in 2015 and 2014.

Uncommitted Lines of Credit

        The Company also maintains an uncommitted line of credit of which $45.0 million was available for borrowing as of December 31, 2015
and 2014. There were no borrowings under the uncommitted line of credit.

Letters of Credit

        As of December 31, 2015, the Company had outstanding issued letters of credit amounting to $30.2 million. Letters of credit are issued
primarily to provide security under insurance arrangements and certain borrowings and are issued under a continuing credit agreement with J.P.
Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.

Industrial Development and Revenue Bonds

        The industrial development and revenue bonds were collateralized by letters of credit, Company guarantees and/or by the facilities and
equipment acquired through the proceeds of the related bond issuances. In December 2014, the Company repaid $1.5 million of the outstanding
principal on the industrial development and revenue bonds. The Company repaid the remaining $1.5 million of the outstanding principal on the
industrial development and revenue bonds during the second quarter of 2015.

Covenants and Limitations

        Under the Company's debt and credit facilities, the Company is required to meet various restrictive covenants and limitations, including
limitations on certain leverage ratios, interest coverage and limits on outstanding debt balances held by certain subsidiaries. The Company was
in compliance with all covenants and limitations in 2015 and 2014.

Other Matters

        Cash payments for interest were $35.1 million in 2015, $35.2 million in 2014, and $35.0 million in 2013. Interest expense, net is presented
net of interest income of $0.7 million in 2015, $1.5 million in 2014, and $0.5 million in 2013.

        Regarding the Company's long-term debt, $150.0 million (excluding unamortized discount of $0.1 million) matures in 2016 and is
presented in short-term debt as of December 31, 2015, $250.0 million (excluding unamortized discount of $0.6 million) matures in 2020, and
$350.0 million (excluding unamortized discount of $0.8 million) matures in 2022.
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Note 12�Borrowings (Continued)

        At December 31, 2015, the fair value of the Company's par value $350.0 million, 3.75% senior notes due 2022, $250 million, 5.125%
senior notes due 2020, and par value $150 million, 6.125% senior notes due 2016, using the Level 2 inputs, is approximately $349.3 million,
$268.6 million, and $152.9 million, respectively. Fair value is estimated based on current yield rates plus the Company's estimated credit spread
available for financings with similar terms and maturities. The Company estimates that the fair value of amounts outstanding under the revolving
credit facility approximates their carrying value.

Note 13�Retirement Plans

Defined Benefit Plans

        The Company maintains defined benefit retirement plans for certain domestic employees. Benefits are based primarily on years of service
and earnings of the employee. The Company recognizes the funded status of its defined benefit plans in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
funded status is the difference between the retirement plans' projected benefit obligation and the fair value of the retirement plans' assets as of
the measurement date.

        Included in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax at December 31, 2015, are the following amounts that have not yet
been recognized in net periodic pension costs: unrecognized actuarial losses of $42.2 million ($26.4 million, net of tax) and unrecognized prior
service cost of $1.1 million ($0.7 million, net of tax). The prior service cost and actuarial loss included in Accumulated other comprehensive
income and expected to be recognized in net periodic pension cost during the year ended December 31, 2016, are $0.2 million cost ($0.1 million
cost, net of tax) and $2.1 million ($1.3 million, net of tax), respectively.
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Note 13�Retirement Plans (Continued)

        The reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the projected pension benefit obligation, the fair value of the plan assets and the
ending accumulated benefit obligation are as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Funded status
Projected benefit obligation
Beginning of year $ 192.3 $ 179.7
Change in benefit obligation:
Service cost 3.7 4.0
Interest cost 7.1 7.7
Plan amendments � 0.6
Actuarial (gain)/loss (16.7) 19.1
Benefits paid (12.1) (18.8)
      
End of year 174.3 192.3
      
Fair value of plan assets
Beginning of year 177.3 173.5
Change in plan assets:
Actual return on plan assets (3.5) 21.6
Company contributions 1.0 1.0
Benefits paid (12.1) (18.8)
     
End of year 162.7 177.3
     
(Unfunded) funded status end of year $ (11.6) $ (15.0)
      
    
     
Accumulated benefit obligation at end of year $ 173.5 $ 191.2
      
        The accumulated benefit obligation differs from the projected pension benefit obligation in that it includes no assumption about future
compensation levels. The Company's projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2015 includes approximately $21.3 million related to the
Company's executive supplemental and director defined benefit pension plans. The executive supplemental and director defined benefit plans
have no plan assets and the Company is not required to fund the obligations. The U.S. plans required to be funded by the Company were fully
funded at December 31, 2015.

        The fair value of the plans' assets at December 31, 2015 and 2014 by asset category are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2015

Asset Category (in millions)

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

Cash $ 0.6 $ � $ � $ 0.6
Mutual funds:
Equity mutual funds(1) $ 19.8 $ � $ � $ 19.8
Fixed income mutual funds(2) 142.3 � � 142.3
          
Total $ 162.7 $ � $ � $ 162.7
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Note 13�Retirement Plans (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2014

Asset Category (in millions)

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets

for Identical Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

Cash $ 0.6 $ � $ � $ 0.6
Mutual funds:
Equity mutual funds(1) $ 21.4 $ � $ � $ 21.4
Fixed income mutual funds(2) 155.3 � � 155.3
          
Total $ 177.3 $ � $ � $ 177.3
          
      
          

(1)
This category is comprised of investments in mutual funds that invest in equity securities such as large publicly traded companies
listed in the S&P 500 Index; small to medium sized companies with market capitalization in the range of the Russell 2500 Index; and
foreign issuers in emerging markets.

(2)
This category is comprised of investments in mutual funds that invest in U.S. corporate and government fixed income securities,
including asset-backed securities; high yield fixed income securities primarily rated BB, B, CCC, CC, C and D; and US dollar
denominated debt securities of government, government related and corporate issuers in emerging market countries.

        The Company employs a liability driven investment approach whereby plan assets are invested primarily in fixed income investments to
match the changes in the projected benefit obligation of funded plans that occur as a result of changes in the discount rate. Risk tolerance is
established through careful consideration of projected benefit obligations, plan funded status, and the Company's other obligations and strategic
investments. The established target allocation is 88% fixed income securities and 12% equity securities. Fixed income investments are
diversified across core fixed income, long duration, and high yield bonds. Equity investments are diversified across large capitalization U.S. and
international stocks. Investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through investment portfolio reviews, annual projected
benefit liability measurements and asset/liability studies.

        The net asset (liability) consists of the following amounts recorded on the Company's balance sheet at December 31, 2015 and 2014:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Noncurrent assets $ 9.7 $ 7.7
Current liabilities (1.0) (1.0)
Noncurrent liabilities (20.3) (21.7)
      
Asset (liability) at end of year $ (11.6) $ (15.0)
      
    
      
        The Company made contributions of $1.0 million to the pension plans during 2015, of which $1.0 million was contributed to the
Company's executive supplemental and director defined benefit pension plans to pay current participant benefits as these plans have no plan
assets. No minimum contributions to the pension plans were required in 2015. During 2016, the Company expects to pay approximately
$1.0 million in participant benefits under the executive supplemental and director plans. In light of the plans' funded status, the Company does
not expect to make discretionary contributions to its other pension plans in 2016.
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Note 13�Retirement Plans (Continued)

        Components of net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31 are as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Service cost $ 3.7 $ 4.0 $ 5.1
Interest cost 7.1 7.7 8.1
Expected return on plan assets (10.2) (10.8) (12.2)
Settlement cost � � 8.9
Amortization of unrecognized net loss 4.1 3.3 6.5
Amortization of unrecognized prior service credit 0.2 0.3 0.3
        
Net periodic benefit cost $ 4.9 $ 4.5 $ 16.7
        
     
       
        Settlement and curtailment costs totaling $8.1 million relate to the sale of the Transportation Products business on December 31, 2013 and
are included in income from discontinued operations for the year ended 2013. This total consists of $7.3 million in settlement costs, including
recognition of $6.1 million of previously unrecognized actuarial losses, and a $0.8 million curtailment charge, inclusive of prior service cost. See
Note 4 for further information related to the sale of the Transportation Products business.

        Weighted-average assumptions for benefit obligations at December 31 are as follows:

2015 2014
Discount rate 4.15% 3.84%
Rate of compensation increase 4.29% 4.29%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 6.20% 6.30%
        Weighted-average assumptions for net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

2015 2014 2013
Discount rate 3.87% 4.58% 3.77%
Rate of compensation increase 4.29% 4.29% 4.29%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 6.30% 6.48% 6.50%
        Beginning in 2016, the Company will move from utilizing a weighted-average discount rate, which was derived from the yield curve used
to measure the benefit obligation at the beginning of the period, to a spot yield rate curve to estimate the pension benefit obligation and net
periodic benefit costs. The change in estimate provides a more accurate measurement of service and interest costs by applying the spot rate that
could be used to settle each projected cash flow individually. This change in estimate is not expected to have a material effect on net periodic
benefit costs for 2016.

        The Company considers several factors in determining the long-term rate of return for plan assets. Asset-class return expectations are set
using a combination of empirical and forward-looking analyses. Capital market assumptions for the composition of the Company's asset
portfolio are intended to capture the behavior of asset classes observed over several market cycles. The Company also looks to historical returns
for reasonability and appropriateness.
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Note 13�Retirement Plans (Continued)

        The following is a summary of estimated future benefits to be paid for the Company's defined benefit pension plans at December 31, 2015.
Benefit payments are estimated based on the same assumptions used in the valuation of the projected benefit obligation.

(in millions)
Estimated Benefit

Payments
Year
2016 $ 14.9
2017 15.5
2018 15.1
2019 14.6
2020 14.4
2021 - 2025 64.3
Defined Contribution Plan

        Additionally, the Company maintains defined contribution plans covering a significant portion of its employees. Expenses for the plans
were approximately $12.2 million in 2015, $11.1 million in 2014, and $10.0 million in 2013.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan

        The Company also sponsors an employee stock ownership plan ("ESOP") as part of one of its existing savings plans. Costs for the ESOP
are included in the defined contribution plan noted above. The ESOP is available to eligible domestic employees and includes a match of
contributions made by plan participants to the savings plan up to a maximum of 4.00% of a participant's eligible compensation, divided between
cash and an employee-directed election of the Company's common stock, not to exceed 50% of the total match. Participants are not allowed to
direct their contributions to the savings plan to an investment in the Company's common stock. A breakdown of shares held by the ESOP at
December 31 is as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014 2013
Shares held by the ESOP 1.3 1.4 1.7
       
Note 14�Deferred Revenue and Extended Product Warranties

        Deferred revenue consists primarily of unearned revenue related to separately priced extended warranty contracts on sales of certain
products, the most significant being those offered on its installed roofing systems within the Construction Materials segment.

Roofing Systems Deferred Revenue

        The amount of revenue recognized related to extended product warranties covering roofing systems was $18.5 million and $17.9 million for
the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 14�Deferred Revenue and Extended Product Warranties (Continued)

respectively. Deferred revenue recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31 includes the following related to roofing
systems extended product warranty contracts:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Deferred revenue
Current $ 18.1 $ 17.5
Long-term 159.7 150.7
     
Deferred revenue liability $ 177.8 $ 168.2
     
    
      
        Expected costs of services to be performed under extended product warranty contracts are actuarially determined. Any expected costs in
excess of deferred revenue are recognized within Accrued expenses.

Other Deferred Revenue

        Other deferred revenue recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, primarily related to contracts within the Fluid
Technologies segment, was as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Deferred revenue
Current $ 5.9 $ 0.4
Long-term � 0.4
      
Deferred revenue liability $ 5.9 $ 0.8
      
    
      
Note 15�Standard Product Warranties

        The Company offers various warranty programs on its products included in the price of its products, primarily for certain installed roofing
systems, high-performance cables and assemblies, fluid technologies, braking products, and foodservice equipment. The Company's liability for
such warranty programs is included in Accrued expenses. The change in the Company's product warranty liabilities for the period ended
December 31 is as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Balance at January 1 $ 15.2 $ 14.3
Current year provision 30.2 21.1
Acquired warranty obligation 1.1 �
Current year claims (17.6) (20.2)
     
Balance at December 31 $ 28.9 $ 15.2
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 16�Other Long-Term Liabilities

        The components of Other long-term liabilities at December 31 were as follows:

(in millions) 2015 2014
Deferred taxes and other tax liabilities $ 176.5 $ 195.4
Pension and other post-retirement obligations 26.3 24.8
Long-term workers' compensation 13.4 15.7
Deferred compensation 16.8 14.0
Other 9.4 10.7
      
Other long-term liabilities $ 242.4 $ 260.6
      
    
      
Note 17�Shareholders' Rights

        The Company has a Shareholders' Rights Agreement that is designed to protect shareholder investment values. A dividend distribution of
one Preferred Stock Purchase Right (the "Rights") for each outstanding share of the Company's common stock was declared, payable to
shareholders of record on March 3, 1989. The Rights are attached to the issued and outstanding shares of the Company's common stock and will
become exercisable under certain circumstances, including the acquisition of 25% of the Company's common stock, or 40% of the voting power,
in which case all rights holders except the acquirer may purchase the Company's common stock at a 50% discount.

        If the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination, and the Rights have not been redeemed, rights holders may purchase
the acquirer's shares at a 50% discount. On May 26, 2006, the Company amended the Shareholders' Rights Agreement to, among other things,
extend the term of the Rights until May 25, 2016.

        Common shareholders of record on May 30, 1986 are entitled to five votes per share. Common stock acquired subsequent to that date
entitles the holder to one vote per share until held four years, after which time the holder is entitled to five votes per share.

Note 18�Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

        The changes in Accumulated other comprehensive loss by component, for the year ended December 31, 2015, was as follows:

(in millions)

Accrued
post-retirement

benefit liability(1)

Foreign
currency

translation
Hedging

activities(2) Total
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ (32.0) $ (30.4) $ 0.6 $ (61.8)
Other comprehensive gain (loss) before reclassifications 3.0 (29.6) � (26.6)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss 4.5 � (0.5) 4.0
Income tax benefit (expense) (2.9) � 0.2 (2.7)
          
Net other comprehensive income (loss) 4.6 (29.6) (0.3) (25.3)
          
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ (27.4) $ (60.0) $ 0.3 $ (87.1)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 18�Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Continued)

        The changes in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component, for the year ended December 31, 2014, was as follows:

(in millions)

Accrued
post-retirement

benefit liability(1)

Foreign
currency

translation
Hedging

activities(2) Total
Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (28.2) $ (4.3) $ 1.0 $ (31.5)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (8.9) (26.1) � (35.0)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss 3.7 � (0.6) 3.1
Income tax benefit (expense) 1.4 � 0.2 1.6
          
Net other comprehensive income (loss) (3.8) (26.1) (0.4) (30.3)
          
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ (32.0) $ (30.4) $ 0.6 $ (61.8)
         
      
          

(1)
Current period amounts related to accrued post-retirement benefit liability are related to amortization of unrecognized actuarial gains
and losses which is included in net periodic benefit cost for pension and other post-retirement welfare plans. See Note 13 for additional
pension discussion.

(2)
Current period amounts related to hedging activities are a reduction to interest expense. On June 15, 2005, the Company entered into
treasury lock contracts with a notional amount of $150.0 million to hedge the cash flow variability on forecasted debt interest
payments associated with changes in interest rates. These contracts were designated as cash flow hedges and were deemed effective at
the origination date. On August 15, 2006, the Company terminated the treasury lock contracts resulting in a gain of $5.6 million
($3.5 million, net of tax), which was deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income and is being amortized to reduce interest
expense until August 2016, the term of the interest payments related to the $150.0 million in notes issued on August 18, 2006. At
December 31, 2015, the Company had a remaining unamortized gain of $0.4 million ($0.3 million, net of tax) which is reflected in
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Note 19�Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

(in millions except per share data) First Second Third Fourth Year
2015
Net sales $ 709.3 $ 984.6 $ 973.1 $ 876.2 $ 3,543.2
Gross profit $ 173.0 $ 285.4 $ 295.5 $ 252.8 $ 1,006.7
Other expenses $ 106.6 $ 137.4 $ 133.7 $ 127.1 $ 504.8
Earnings before interest and income taxes $ 66.4 $ 148.0 $ 161.8 $ 125.7 $ 501.9
Income from continuing operations, net of tax $ 39.5 $ 94.8 $ 103.6 $ 81.7 $ 319.6
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.60 $ 1.45 $ 1.59 $ 1.25 $ 4.89
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.59 $ 1.43 $ 1.56 $ 1.24 $ 4.82
            
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax $ (0.1) $ 0.1 $ � $ 0.1 $ 0.1
Basic income per share from discontinued operations $ � $ � $ � $ � $ �
Diluted income per share from discontinued operations $ � $ � $ � $ � $ �
            
Net income $ 39.4 $ 94.9 $ 103.6 $ 81.8 $ 319.7
Basic earnings per share $ 0.60 $ 1.45 $ 1.59 $ 1.25 $ 4.89
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.59 $ 1.43 $ 1.56 $ 1.24 $ 4.82
            
Dividends per share $ 0.25 $ 0.25 $ 0.30 $ 0.30 $ 1.10
Stock price:
High $ 95.10 $ 102.26 $ 104.60 $ 92.70
Low $ 86.79 $ 91.87 $ 86.91 $ 84.11
         

(in millions except per share data) First Second Third Fourth Year
2014
Net sales $ 650.4 $ 859.5 $ 904.1 $ 790.0 $ 3,204.0
Gross profit $ 162.1 $ 224.6 $ 237.1 $ 195.7 $ 819.5
Other expenses $ 99.1 $ 102.3 $ 103.1 $ 106.7 $ 411.2
Earnings before interest and income taxes $ 63.0 $ 122.3 $ 134.0 $ 89.0 $ 408.3
Income from continuing operations, net of tax $ 36.5 $ 75.7 $ 86.3 $ 53.2 $ 251.7
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.57 $ 1.17 $ 1.34 $ 0.81 $ 3.89
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 0.56 $ 1.15 $ 1.31 $ 0.81 $ 3.83
          
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax $ (0.7) $ (0.5) $ 1.0 $ (0.2) $ (0.4)
Basic income per share from discontinued operations $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ �
Diluted income per share from discontinued operations $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ 0.01 $ � $ (0.01)
          
Net income $ 35.8 $ 75.2 $ 87.3 $ 53.0 $ 251.3
Basic earnings per share $ 0.56 $ 1.16 $ 1.35 $ 0.82 $ 3.89
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.55 $ 1.14 $ 1.32 $ 0.81 $ 3.82
          
Dividends per share $ 0.22 $ 0.22 $ 0.25 $ 0.25 $ 0.94
Stock price:
High $ 80.57 $ 88.19 $ 88.36 $ 92.06
Low $ 71.51 $ 75.28 $ 78.93 $ 74.69
           

NOTE:    The sum of the quarterly per share amounts may not agree to the respective annual amounts due to rounding.
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 Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

        None.

 Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures.

        (a)   Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's management, including the Company's chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, the Company carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure
controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Based upon that evaluation and as of December 31, 2015, the chief executive
officer and chief financial officer have concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

        Management has prepared a report on the Company's internal control over financial reporting in which management has determined that the
Company's controls are effective. A copy of management's report is set forth below.

        (b)   During the fourth quarter of 2015, there were no changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

        The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company's management, including the chief executive officer and chief financial officer, the
Company evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of its internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in
Internal Control�Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on
that evaluation, the Company's chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that the Company's internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2015.

        As discussed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, the Company acquired 100% of the Finishing Brands business
from Graco Inc. on April 1, 2015. The Company has reported the results of the acquired business as a new reporting segment named Carlisle
Fluid Technologies ("CFT"). Management's assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not
include the internal controls of CFT. As of December 31, 2015, CFT reported $659.5 million of total assets, $620.8 million of net assets, and
$203.2 million and $20.8 million of net sales and earnings before interest and income taxes, respectively, for the year then ended.

        The internal controls over financial reporting have been assessed by Ernst & Young LLP, whose report with respect to the effectiveness of
internal controls over financial reporting is included herein.

 Item 9B.    Other Information.

        None.

93

Edgar Filing: CARLISLE COMPANIES INC - Form 10-K

105



 Part III

 Item 10.    Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

        The following table sets forth certain information relating to each executive officer of the Company, as furnished to the Company by the
executive officers. Except as otherwise indicated each executive officer has had the same principal occupation or employment during the past
five years.

Name Age Position with Company Period of Service
David A. Roberts 68 Executive Chairman of the Board since January 2016;

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer from June
2007 to December 2015.

June 2007 to date

D. Christian Koch 51 President and Chief Executive Officer since January 2016;
President and Chief Operating Officer from May 2014 to
December 2015; Group President, Carlisle Diversified Products
from June 2012 to May 2014; President, Carlisle Brake &
Friction from January 2009 to June 2012; President, Carlisle
Asia-Pacific from February 2008 to January 2009.

February 2008 to date

John W. Altmeyer 56 President, Carlisle Construction Materials since July 1997. June 1989 to date
John E. Berlin 54 President, Carlisle Interconnect Technologies since February

1995.
January 1990 to date

Steven J. Ford 56 Vice President, Chief Financial Officer since November 2008
and Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel since July
1995.

July 1995 to date

Scott C. Selbach 60 Vice President, Corporate Development since April 2006. April 2006 to date
Kevin P. Zdimal 45 Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer since May 2010;

Treasurer from September 2008 to May 2010; Vice President
of Finance and Administration, Carlisle Interconnect
Technologies from July 2002 to August 2008.

September 1995 to date

        The officers have been elected to serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors of the Company. There are no family relationships between
any of the above officers, and there is no arrangement or understanding between any officer and any other person pursuant to which he was
selected an officer.

        Information required by Item 10 with respect to directors of the Company is incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy
statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission no later than 40 days before the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held
on May 18, 2016.

        The Company has adopted a Business Code of Ethics covering, among others, its principal executive officer and all management involved
in financial reporting. The Business Code of Ethics is published on the Company's website: www.carlisle.com. Any amendment to, or waiver of,
any provision
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of the Business Code of Ethics affecting such senior officers will be disclosed on the Company's website.

        In the Company's definitive proxy statement we describe the procedures under which shareholders can recommend nominees for the Board
of Directors. There have been no changes to those procedures since the Company's definitive proxy statement dated March 1, 2007.

 Item 11.    Executive Compensation.

        Information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission no later than 40 days before the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 18, 2016.

 Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

        Information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission no later than 40 days before the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 18, 2016.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

        The number of securities to be issued upon the exercise of stock options under the Company's equity compensation plans, the weighted
average exercise price of the options, and the number of securities remaining for future issuance as of December 31, 2015 are as follows:

Plan Category

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise

of outstanding
options

(a)

Weighted-average
price of outstanding

options, warrants
and rights

(b)

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation

plans (excluding
securities reflected in

column (a))
(c)

Equity compensation plans approved by equity security holders 1,810,080 $ 52.00 4,460,142(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by equity security
holders � n/a �
Total 1,810,080 $ 52.00 4,460,142

(1)
Includes 4,460,142 shares available for award under the Carlisle Companies Incorporated Incentive Compensation Program which was
approved on May 6, 2015 (1,604,716 of which may be issued as stock awards).

 Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

        Information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission no later than 40 days before the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 18, 2016.

 Item 14.    Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

        Information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission no later than 40 days before the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 18, 2016.
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 Part IV

 Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

Financial statements required by Item 8 are as follows:

Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income, years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 48
Consolidated Balance Sheets, December 31, 2015 and 2014 49
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 50
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity, years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 51
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 52
Financial Statement Schedules:

        None.

        Exhibits applicable to the filing of this report are as follows:

(2.1) Master Transaction Agreement, dated October 20, 2013, between the Company and CTP Transportation Products, LLC.(u)

(2.2) Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 20, 2013, between Carlisle Transportation Products, Inc., Carlisle Intangible Company
and CTP Transportation Products, LLC.(u)

(2.3) Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 20, 2013, between Carlisle Canada and CTP Transportation Products, LLC.(u)

(2.4) Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 20, 2013, between Carlisle International BV and CTP Transportation Products, LLC.(u)

(2.5) Equity Purchase Agreement, dated October 20, 2013, between Carlisle Asia Pacific Limited and CTP Transportation
Products, LLC.(u)

(2.6) Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 20, 2013, between Carlisle Asia Pacific Limited and CTP Transportation
Products, LLC.(u)

(2.7) Form of Trademark License Agreement between the Company, Carlisle Intangible Company and CTP Transportation
Products, LLC.(u)

(2.8) Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 7, 2014, between the Company, Carlisle Fluid Technologies, Inc., Graco Inc. and
Finishing Brands Holdings Inc.(y)

(2.9) Amendment No. 1 to Asset Purchase Agreement, dated March 6, 2015, between the Company, Carlisle Fluid Technologies, Inc.,
Graco Inc. and Finishing Brands Holdings Inc.(z)

(2.10) Form of Cross License Agreement (as amended by Amendment No. 1 to Asset Purchase Agreement), by and among the Company,
Carlisle Fluid Technologies, Inc., Finishing Brands Holdings Inc., Graco Inc. and Gema Switzerland GmbH.(z)

(3.1) Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.(bb)

(3.2) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company.(cc)

(4.1) Shareholders' Rights Agreement, February 8, 1989.(a)

(4.2) Amendment No. 1 to Shareholders' Rights Agreement, dated August 7, 1996, between the Company and Harris Trust and Savings
Bank, as rights agent.(c)
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(4.3) Amendment No. 2 to Shareholders' Rights Agreement, dated May 26, 2006, between the Company and Computershare Investor
Services, LLC (formerly Harris Trust and Savings Bank), as rights agent.(j)

(4.4) Form of Trust Indenture between the Company and Fleet National Bank.(d)

(4.5) First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 18, 2006, among the Company, U.S. Bank National Association (as successor to
State Street Bank and Trust Company, as successor to Fleet National Bank) and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.(k)

(4.6) Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 9, 2010, among the Company, U.S. Bank National Association (as successor
to State Street Bank and Trust Company, as successor to Fleet National Bank) and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A.(p)

(4.7) Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 20, 2012, among the Company, U.S. Bank National Association (as successor
to State Street Bank and Trust Company, as successor to Fleet National Bank) and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A.(t)

(10.1) Carlisle Companies Incorporated Amended and Restated Executive Incentive Program.(s)

(10.2) Form of Carlisle Companies Incorporated Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement.(f)

(10.3) Form of Carlisle Companies Incorporated Restricted Share Agreement with Non-Compete Covenant.(x)

(10.4) Form of Amended and Restated Executive Severance Agreement.(n)

(10.5) Summary Plan Description of Carlisle Companies Incorporated Director Retirement Plan, effective November 6, 1991.(b)

(10.6) Amendment to the Carlisle Companies Incorporated Director Retirement Plan.(e)

(10.7) Carlisle Companies Incorporated Amended and Restated Nonemployee Director Equity Plan.(h)

(10.8) Form of Carlisle Companies Incorporated Stock Option Agreement for Nonemployee Directors.(g)

(10.9) Form of Carlisle Companies Incorporated Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nonemployee Directors.(i)

(10.10) Form of Carlisle Companies Incorporated Restricted Share Agreement for Nonemployee Directors.(i)

(10.11) Form of Carlisle Companies Incorporated Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Nonemployee Directors.(n)

(10.12) Carlisle Companies Incorporated Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Nonemployee Directors.(n)

(10.13) Carlisle Companies Incorporated Amended and Restated Incentive Compensation Program, effective January 1, 2015.(aa)

(10.14) Letter Agreement, dated June 5, 2007, between David A. Roberts and the Company.(l)

(10.15) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, dated as of June 21, 2007, between the Company and David A. Roberts.(m)

(10.16) Restricted Share Agreement, dated as of June 21, 2007, between the Company and David A. Roberts.(m)
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(10.17) Letter Agreements, dated January 11, 2008 and December 31, 2008, between D. Christian Koch and the Company.(n)

(10.18) Letter Agreement, dated August 4, 2011, between Fred A. Sutter and the Company.(q)

(10.19) Carlisle Corporation Amended and Restated Supplemental Pension Plan.(r)

(10.20) Amendment No. 1 to the Carlisle Corporation Supplemental Pension Plan, adopted February 4, 2014.(w)

(10.21) Form of Carlisle Companies Incorporated Performance Share Agreement.(o)

(10.22) Carlisle Companies Incorporated Amended and Restated Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, dated January 1, 2012.(r)

(10.23) Carlisle Companies Incorporated Nonqualified Benefit Plan Trust, dated February 2, 2010, by and between the Company and
Wachovia Bank, National Association.(o)

(10.24) Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2011, among the Company, Carlisle Management
Company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto.(q)

(10.25) First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2013, by and among the Company,
Carlisle Corporation, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and the lenders party thereto.(v)

(12) Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

(21) Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

(23.1) Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm�Ernst & Young LLP.

(31.1) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications.

(31.2) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications.

(32) Section 1350 Certification.

(101) Interactive Data File.

(a)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1988 and incorporated
herein by reference.

(b)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1991 and incorporated
herein by reference.

(c)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's registration statement on Form 8-A12B/A (File No. 001-09278) filed August 9, 1996 and
incorporated herein by reference.

(d)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-16785) filed November 26, 1996 and
incorporated herein by reference.

(e)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-09278) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003
and incorporated herein by reference.

(f)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-09278) for the quarter ended September 30, 2004.

(g)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed February 7, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference.
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(h)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-09278) filed March 9, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference.

(i)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed May 10, 2005 and incorporated herein
by reference.

(j)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed June 1, 2006 and incorporated herein by
reference.

(k)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed August 18, 2006 and incorporated herein
by reference.

(l)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed June 12, 2007 and incorporated herein
by reference.

(m)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-09278) for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference.

(n)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-09278) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008
and incorporated herein by reference.

(o)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-09278) for the quarter ended March 31, 2010 and
incorporated herein by reference.

(p)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed December 10, 2010 and incorporated
herein by reference.

(q)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-09278) for the quarter ended September 30, 2011
and incorporated by reference.

(r)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-09278) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
and incorporated herein by reference.

(s)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-09278) filed March 20, 2012 and incorporated
herein by reference.

(t)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed November 20, 2012 and incorporated
herein by reference.

(u)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed October 22, 2013 and incorporated
herein by reference.

(v)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed December 17, 2013 and incorporated
herein by reference.

(w)
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Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-09278) for the quarter ended March 31, 2014 and
incorporated herein by reference.

(x)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-09278) for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 and
incorporated herein by reference.

(y)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed October 8, 2014 and incorporated herein
by reference.

(z)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed March 9, 2015 and incorporated herein
by reference.

(aa)
Filed as an Appendix to the Company's Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (File No. 001-09278) filed March 20, 2015 and
incorporated herein by reference.
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(bb)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-09278) for the quarter ended September 30, 2015
and incorporated herein by reference.

(cc)
Filed as an Exhibit to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-09278) filed December 14, 2015 and incorporated
herein by reference.

1

Filed Exhibits 10.1 through 10.22 constitute management contracts or compensatory plans.
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        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Carlisle Companies Incorporated

By: /s/ STEVEN J. FORD

Steven J. Ford, Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

/s/ D. CHRISTIAN KOCH

D. Christian Koch, President and
Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ DAVID A. ROBERTS

David A. Roberts, Executive Chairman
of the Board

/s/ STEVEN J. FORD

Steven J. Ford, Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ ROBIN J. ADAMS

Robin J. Adams, Director

/s/ KEVIN P. ZDIMAL

Kevin P. Zdimal, Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ ROBERT G. BOHN

Robert G. Bohn, Director

/s/ ROBIN S. CALLAHAN

Robin S. Callahan, Director

/s/ JAMES D. FRIAS

James D. Frias, Director

/s/ TERRY D. GROWCOCK

Terry D. Growcock, Director

/s/ GREGG A. OSTRANDER

Gregg A. Ostrander, Director
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/s/ LAWRENCE A. SALA

Lawrence A. Sala, Director

/s/ MAGALEN C. WEBERT

Magalen C. Webert, Director
February 8, 2016
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 CARLISLE COMPANIES INCORPORATED
COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 1-9278

FORM 10-K
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

 EXHIBIT LIST

(12) Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

(21) Subsidiaries of the Registrant

(23.1) Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm�Ernst & Young LLP

(31.1) Rule 13a-14a/15d-14(a) Certifications

(31.2) Rule 13a-14a/15d-14(a) Certifications

(32) Section 1350 Certification

(101) Interactive Data File
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QuickLinks

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Part I

Item 1. Business.
Overview

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
Item 2. Properties.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Carlisle Companies Incorporated Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive Income
Carlisle Companies Incorporated Consolidated Balance Sheets
Carlisle Companies Incorporated Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Carlisle Companies Incorporated Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity (In millions, except share and per share amounts)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Item 9B. Other Information.
Part III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
CARLISLE COMPANIES INCORPORATED COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 1-9278 FORM 10-K FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2015
EXHIBIT LIST
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